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THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

Action required: !

— If you have disposed of all your Sub Nigel ordinary shares, please forward this circular to the purchaser of such Sub Nigel ordinary shares
or to your CSDP, broker, banker or other agent through whom the disposal was effected.
~ Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are referred to page 7 of this circular, which sets out the action required to be taken by them.

e S =32 —

' WS ;;23

SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED~> ':

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) i T <

(Registration number 1984/006179/06) Voo

Share code: SBN  ISIN: ZAE 000017539 ST
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Circular to Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders

regarding:

the acquisition by Sub Nigel of all the issued ordinary shares of New Kleinfontein, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Aflease, and all amounts due by New Kleinfontein to Aflease on loan account and, in consideration therefor, the issue
by Sub Nigel of 339 011 680 new Sub Nigel ordinary shares to Aflease at 96 cents per Sub Nigel ordinary share;

a conversion of the authorised ordinary share capital and stated capital of Sub Nigel from ordinary shares with no
par value to ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each;

an increase in the authorised ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel from 200 000 000 ordinary shares of 57 cents each
to 475 000 000 ordinary shares of 57 cents each;

the specific authority to place 339 011 680 of the new authorised but unissued Sub Nigel ordinary shares under the
control of the Sub Nigel directors, to enable Sub Nigel to comply with its obligations in terms of the sale and

subscription agreement;
— a change of name for Sub Nigel to Aflease Gold; and

a proposed waiver of any mandatory offer to be made by Aflease in terms of the Code and as a result of the change
of control in Sub Nigel pursuant to the acquisition and the issue of the 339 011 680 new Sub Nigel ordinary shares

to Aflease;

and incorporating:
— revised listing particulars in accordance with the Listings Requirements;

-~ acompetent person's report;

- anotice of general meeting to Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders;

a form of proxy (pink) (for use by certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders and own-name dematerialised
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders only); and ‘

- a form of surrender (green) (for use by certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders only).
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SALIENT FEATURES

The definitions commencing on page 119 of the revised listing particulars, which are attached to this circular, apply
mutatis mutandis to this section.

1. INTRODUCTION

Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders were advised in an announcement released on SENS on 22 November 2005, that,
subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in paragraph 7 below, Sub Nigel had concluded an
agreement with Aflease in terms of which Sub Nigel would acquire the New Kleinfontein shares and the
New Kleinfontein loan and, in consideration therefor, Sub Nigel would issue the subscription shares to Aflease. This
will result in Aflease holding approximately 80% of the issued ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel, pursuant to the
acquisition. .

2. THE ACQUISITION

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Details and background of the acquisition

Sub Nigel will acquire the New Kleinfontein shares and the New Kleinfontein loan from Aflease and, in
consideration therefor, Sub Nigel will issue the subscription shares to Aflease with effect from the effective
date.

Nature and business of New Kleinfontein

New Kleinfontein is a company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with the objective of mining and
extracting gold from its properties on the East Rand in the Gauteng Province of South Africa. New
Kleinfontein is the holder of Old Order Rights for the areas comprising Modder East, UC Prospecting,
Turnbridge and New Kleinfontein and has applied for the New Order Rights in respect of these assets.

Rationale for the acquisition

The rationale for the acquisition is to create an enla;rged, more diversified gold mining company that will
incorporate the gold assets of New Kleinfontein referred to in paragraph 2.2 above, as well as those of
Sub Nigel in the East Rand and Free State.

In addition, Sub Nigel will benefit from the experience 'and proven track record of the management of Aflease,
as Sub Nigel's new controlling shareholder after the acquisition.

Financial effects

The table below sets out the unaudited pro forma financial effects of the acquisition on Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholders. These financial effects are prepared for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about
how the acquisition might have affected the financial information presented by Sub Nigel and, because of
their pro forma nature, may not fairly represent Sub Nigel's financial position and results of its operations.
These financial effects are the responsibility of the Sub Nigel directors.

Before the After the Percentage

acquisition acquisition change
Loss per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) (39.67) (7.06) 822
Headline loss per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) (39.67) (6.97) 82.4
Net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) 11.16 80.84 6244
Tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) 6.43 1.20 (81.3)
Number of Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue ('000) 73 753 412 765
Weighted average Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue ('000) 70 092 409 104

Notes:

1. The “Before the acquisition” column reflects the loss and headline loss as extracted, without adjustment from the published audited
results of Sub Nige! for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and the calculation of the net asset value and tangible net asset value
per Sub Nigel ordinary share based on the aforementioned audited results.



2. The “After the acquisition” column reflects:

- the loss and headline toss per Sub Nigel ordinary share that would have resulted had the operating loss per the reviewed interim
results of New Kleinfontein for the six months ended 30 June 2005 been annualised and combined with New Kleinfontein’s loss
cn the sale of investment and with the results of Sub Nigel'for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and on the assumption
that the acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the subscription shares on 1 July 2004;

— the net asset value and tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share at 30 June 2005 on the assumption that the
acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the subscription shares on that date.

In addition, the "After the acquisition” column assumes that all the intangible assets acquired as a result of the acquisition are
attributable to mining assets. On determination of the fair value of the assets acquired in accordance with AC 131 ("Business
Combinations"”), the loss, headline loss, net asset value and tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share may be subject to
adjustment.

3. No effect has been given in the pro forma financial effects above to:
— the general issues of shares for cash by Sub Nigel subsequent to 30 June 2005, comprising an issue of 2 000 000 Sub Nigel

ordinary shares on 18 August 2005 and a further issue of 9 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares as announced on SENS on
4 October 2005;

~ anissue of 400 000 Sub Nigel shares on 4 October 2005 to S T Ward in terms of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme; and
— any vesting of 8 000 000 Sub Nigel employee share options on the implementation of the acquisition.

The pro forma income statement and balance sheet, post the acquisition, are set out in Annexure 4,

The independent reporting accountants’ report on the pro forma income statement, balance sheet and
financial effects of the acquisition are set out in Annexure 5.

CONVERSION OF AUTHORISED ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND STATED CAPITAL

The Sub Nigel board proposes that the Company’s authorised ordinary share capital, comprising 200 000 000
Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value, be converted into 200 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par
value of 57 cents each, and that the Company’s stated capital, comprising 85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares
with no par value, be converted into 85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each. The
rationale for the conversion is to provide the Company with par value Sub Nigel ordinary shares for the purpose of
future issues of Sub Nigel ordinary shares. With regards to the procedure for the surrender of documents of title,
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are referred to paragraph 6.1 of the circular.

INCREASE IN AUTHORISED ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

In order to provide for a sufficient number of Sub Nigel ordinary shares to implement the acquisition, the Sub Nigel
board proposes that the Company's authorised ordinary share capital be increased from 200 000 000 Sub Nigel
ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each to 475 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par value of
57 cents each. :

CHANGE OF NAME

It is proposed to change the name of the Company to Aflease Gold. This name reflects the association of the
Company with its new assets and controlling Sub Nige! ordinary shareholder.

If approved by Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, the change of name will be effective from the commencement of
trading on the JSE on Monday, 23 January 2006, under the abbreviated name "Afgold” and share code “"AFO" in the
“Resources — Gold Mining” sector of the JSE list and the ISIN will be changed to ZAE 000075867.

WAIVER OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

In terms of the Code, the issue of the subscription shares will result in a change of control in Sub Nigel, as Aflease
will hold more than 35% of the issued ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel after the acquisition. Aflease would
accordingly be required to make a mandatory offer to all Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders.

The SRP has agreed to dispense with the requirement for a mandatory offer to all Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders
provided that, pursuant to the acquisition, a resolution is passed by a majority of independent votes at a general
meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders in terms of which this requirement is waived. Trinity, which holds both
Sub Nigel ordinary shares and Aflease ordinary shares, has been declared independent by the SRP after considering
all the facts pertaining to Trinity's shareholdings in these two companies, and is therefore eligible to vote.



Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are advised that a general meeting will be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 10 January
2006 at Room 8, Ground Floor, Nedbank, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown to, inter alia, approve the waiver of the
requirement for a mandatory offer to all Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, as required by the Code.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The acquisition, increase in authorised share capital, name change and waiver of requirement for a mandatory offer
are subject to the fulfilment of the following conditions precedent by no later than 31 January 2006:

— Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the execution of the sale and subscription agreement;
- Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the increase in the Company’s authorised share capital;

— Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders granting a specific authority to place 339 011 680 of the new authorised but
unissued Sub Nigel ordinary shares under the control of the Sub Nigel directors, to enable the Company to
comply with its obligations in terms of the sale and subscription agreement; and

- independent Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the waiver of a mandatory offer by Aflease to the
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders as a result of Aflease holding more than 35% of the Sub Nigel ordinary shares,
following the acquisition and the issue of the subscription shares.

FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION

Sub Nige! ordinary shareholders are referred to paragraph 10 of the circular, which sets out the opinions of the
independent professional expert and the Sub Nigel board and the recommendation of the Sub Nigel board in this
regard.

GENERAL MEETING AND SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

9.1 Notice of general meeting

The notice convening the general meeting is attached to this circular. In terms of the Listings Requirements,
Sub Nigel ordinary shares held by the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Trust may not be voted at the general
meeting. As at the last practicable date, there were no Sub Nigel ordinary shares held by the Sub Nigel Share
Incentive Trust. ‘

9.2 Certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders and own-name dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholders

You may attend and vote at the general meeting. If you are unable to attend the general meeting but wish
to be represented thereat, you must complete the attached form of proxy (pink) in accordance with the
instructions contained therein and lodge it with or post it to Computershare Investor Services 2004
(Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be
received by no later than at 10:00 on Monday, 9 January 2006.

9.3 Dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, other than own-name dematerialised Sub Nigel
ordinary shareholders '

- If you wish to attend and vote at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker accordingly,
and your CSDP or broker will issue you with the necessary letter of authority.

- If you wish to be represented at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker of your voting
instructions. If your CSDP or broker do not obtain voting instructions from you, they will be obliged to
vote in accordance with the instructions contained in the mandate concluded between you and your
CSDP or broker. ‘



SALIENT DATES AND TIMES

The definitions commencing on page 119 of the revised listing particulars, which are attached to this circular, have,
where necessary, been used in this section:

2005
Circular posted to Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders on Monday, 19 December
2006
Last day to lodge forms of proxy (pink) for the general meeting, by 10:00 on Monday, 9 January
General meeting at 10:00 on ‘ Tuesday, 10 January
Results of general meeting released on SENS on Tuesday, 10 January
Results of general meeting published in the press on Wednesday, 11 January
Last day to trade Sub Nigel ordinary shares under the old name “Sub Nigel Gold Mining
Company Limited” and with the old capital structure consisting of no par value
Sub Nigel ordinary shares on Friday, 20 January
Change of name and conversion to par value Sub Nigel ordinary shares effective from
commencement on trading on the JSE on Monday, 23 January
Trade under the new name, “Aflease Gold Limited”, and with the new capital structure,
consisting of par value Sub Nigel ordinary shares from commencement of trading
on the JSE on Monday, 23 January
Record date on ‘ Friday, 27 January
New share certificates reflecting the new name and par value of Sub Nigel ordinary shares
posted by, registered post to certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders who have
surrendered their documents of title on or before 12:00 on the record date (see note 2) on Monday, 30 January
Dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders’ safe custody accounts updated with
the new name and par value of Sub Nigel ordinary shares by their CSDP or broker on Monday, 30 January

Notes:

1. The dates and times provided for in this circular are subject to amendment. Any such amendment will be released on SENS and published in
the press.

2. Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders will not be able to dematerialise or rematerialise their Sub Nigel ordinary shares after Friday, 20 January 2006,
and may only dematerialise their new Aflease Cold ordinary shares from Monday, 23 January 2006.
3. Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders who surrender their existing documents of title after the record date, will have their new share certificates mailed

within five business days of receipt thereof by the transfer secretaries, by registered post in South Africa, at the risk of the Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholder concerned.

4. Copies of this circular, published in English, may be obtained during normal business hours from 19 December 2005 until 10 January 2006 from
the Company’ s registered office. :




ACTION REQUIRED BY SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
IN TERMS OF THE GENERAL MEETING

The definitions commencing on page 119 of the revised listing particulars, which are attached to this circular, apply
mutatis mutandis to this section.

Please take careful note of the following provisions regarding the action required by Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders:

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in relation to this circular, please consult your CSDP, broker,
attorney, banker or other professional expert immediately.

If you have disposed of all of your Sub Nigel ordinary shares, this circular should be handed to the purchaser of such
Sub Nigel ordinary shares or your CSDP, broker, attorney, banker, or other agent through whom the disposal was
effected.

The general meeting, convened in terms of the notice incorporated in this circular, will be held at Room 8, Ground Floor,
Nedbank, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown on Tuesday, 10 January 2006, commencing at 10:00.

1. IF YOU HOLD CERTIFICATED SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHARES OR OWN-NAME DEMATERIALISED SUB NIGEL
ORDINARY SHARES: ‘

You may attend and vote at the general meeting. If you are unable to attend the general meeting but wish to be
represented thereat, you must complete the attached form of proxy (pink) and send it to the transfer secretaries,
to be received by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 9 January. 2006.

2. IF YOU HAVE DEMATERIALISED YOUR SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHARES AND DO NOT HAVE "OWN NAME”
REGISTRATION:

2.1 If you wish to attend and vote at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker accordingly, and
your CSDP or broker will issue you with the necessary letter of authority.

2.2 If you wish to be represented at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker of your voting
instructions. If your CSDP or broker do not obtain voting instructions from you, they will be obliged to vote
in accordance with the instructions contained in the mandate concluded between you and your CSDP or
broker.




DEFINITIONS

The definitions commencing on page 119 of the revised listing particulars, which are attached to this circular, apply
mutatis mutandis to the circular and the annexures hereto.




SUB NIGEL

SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1984/006179/06)
Share code: SBN ISIN: ZAE 000017539

Directors

S Swana* (Chairman)

A C Reynolds (Chief Executive Officer)
P St G Glyn*

H G Veldsman

*non-executive

CIRCULAR TO SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

1. INTRODUCTION

Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders were advised in an announcement released on SENS on 22 November 2005, that,
subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in paragraph 8 below, Sub Nigel had concluded an
agreement with Aflease in terms of which Sub Nigel would acquire the New Kleinfontein shares and the New
Kleinfontein loan and, in consideration therefor, Sub Nigel would issue the subscription shares to Aflease. This will
result in Aflease holding approximately 80% of the issued ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel, pursuant to the
acquisition.

2. PURPOSE OF TH!S CIRCULAR

The purpose of this circular is:
- to provide shareholders with relevant information regarding:

the acquisition;
a conversion of the authorised ordinary share capital and stated capital of Sub Nigel from ordinary shares
with no par value to ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each;

an increase in the authorised ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel from 200 000 000 ordinary shares of
57 cents each to 475 000 000 ordinary shares of 57 cents each;

the specific authority to place 339 011 680 of the new authorised but unissued Sub Nigel ordinary shares
under the control of the Sub Nigel directors to enable Sub Nigel to comply with its obligations in terms of
the sale and subscription agreement;

a change of name for Sub Nigel to Aflease Gold; and

a proposed waiver of any mandatory offer to be made by Aflease in terms of the Code and as a result of the
change of control in Sub Nigel pursuant to the acquisition and the issue of the subscription shares to Aflease;

- to convene a general meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, in terms of the notice of general meeting
forming part of this circular, at which meeting Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are required to consider and, if
deemed fit, approve the resolutions required to give effect to the proposals set out above.

3. THE ACQUISITION

31

Details and background of the acquisition

Sub Nigel will acquire the New Kleinfontein shares and the New Kleinfontein loan from Aflease and,
in consideration therefor, Sub Nigel will issue the subscription shares to Aflease with effect from the
effective date.

Aflease acquired the New Kleinfontein shares on 22 February 2003 for a consideration of R101 400 Q00.




10

3.2

33

3.4

Nature and business of New Kleinfontein

New Kleinfontein is a company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa with the objective of mining and
extracting gold from its properties on the East Rand in the Gauteng Province of South Africa. New
Kleinfontein is the holder of Old Order Rights for the areas comprising Madder East, UC Prospecting,
Turnbridge and New Kleinfontein and has applied for the New Order Rights in respect of these assets.

Rationale for the acquisition

The rationale for the acquisition is to create an enlarged, more diversified gold mining company that will
incorporate the gold assets of New Kleinfontein referred to in paragraph 3.2 above, as well as those of
Sub Nigel in the East Rand and Free State.

In addition, Sub Nigel will benefit from the experience and proven track record of the management of Aflease,
as Sub Nigel's new controlling Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder after the acquisition.

Financial effects

The table below sets out the unaudited pro forma financial effects of the acquisition on Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholders. These financial effects are prepared for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about
how the acquisition might have affected the financial information presented by Sub Nigel and, because of
their pro forma nature, may not fairly represent Sub Nigel's financial position and results of its operations.
These financial effects are the responsibility of the Sub Nigel directors.

Before the After the Percentage

acquisition acquisition change
Loss per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) {39.67) {7.06) 82.2
Headline loss per Sub Nigel ordinary share {cents) (39.67) (6.97) 82.4
Net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share {cents) 11.16 80.84 624.4
Tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share (cents) 6.43 1.20 (81.3)
Number of Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue ('000) 73 753 412 765
Weighted average Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue ('000) 70 092 409 104

Notes:

1. The "Before the acquisition” column reflects the loss and headline loss as extracted, without adjustment from the published audited
results of Sub Nigel for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and the calculation of the net asset value and tangible net asset value
per Sub Nigel ordinary share based on the aforementioned audited results.

2. The “After the acquisition” column reflects:
~ the loss and headline loss per Sub Nigel ordinary share that would have resulted had the operating loss per the reviewed interim
results of New Kleinfontein for the six months ended 30 June 2005 been annualised and combined with New Kleinfontein’s loss

on the sale of the investment and with the results of Sub Nigel for the financial year ended 30 june 2005, and on the assumption
that the acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the subscription shares on 1 july 2004; and

- the net asset value and tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share at 30 June 2005 on the assumption that the
acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the subscription shares on that date.

In addition, the "After the acquisition” column assumes that all the intangible assets acquired as a result of the acquisition are
attributable to mining assets. On determination of the fair value of the assets acquired in accerdance with AC131 (“Business
Combinations”), the loss, headline loss, net asset value and tangible net asset value per Sub Nigel ordinary share may be subject to
adjustment. ‘

3. Npo effect has been given in the pro forma financial effects above to:

~ the general issues of shares for cash by Sub Nigel subsequent to 30 june 2005, comprising an issue of 2 000 000 Sub Nigel
ordinary shares on 18 August 2005 and a further issue of 9 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares as announced on SENS on
4 October 2005;

-~ theissue of 400 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares on 4 October 2005 to S T Ward in terms of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme;
and

~ any vesting of 8 000 000 Sub Nigel employee share options on the implementation of the acquisition.
The pro forma income statement and balance sheet post the acquisition are set out in Annexure 4.

The independent reporting accountants’ report on the pro forma income statement, balance sheet and
financial effects of the acquisition are set out in Annexure 5.




4. CONVERSION OF AUTHORISED ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND STATED CAPITAL

The Sub Nigel board proposes that the Company’s authorised ordinary share capital, comprising 200 000 000
Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value, be converted into 200 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par
value of 57 cents each and that the Company's stated capital, comprising 85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares
with no par value, be converted into 85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each. The
rationale for the conversion is to provide the Company with par value Sub Nigel ordinary shares for the purpose of
future issues of Sub Nigel ordinary shares, With regards to the procedure for the surrender of documents of title,
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are referred to paragraph 6.1 below.

The special resolution, approving the conversion of the authorised and issued Sub Nigel ordinary shares, is subject
to the approval of 75% of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders present, in person or by proxy, or represented, at the
general meeting.

5. INCREASE IN AUTHORISED ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

In order to provide for a sufficient number of new Sub Nigel ordinary shares to implement the acquisition, the
Sub Nigel board proposes that the Company’s authorised ordinary share capital be increased from 200 000 000
Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par value of 57 cents each to 475 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with a par
value of 57 cents each.

The special resolution, approving the proposed increase in the authorised ordinary share capital of the Company,
is subject to the approval of 75% of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders present, in person or by proxy, or represented,
at the general meeting,

6. CHANGE OF NAME

It is proposed to change the name of the Company to Aflease Gold. This name reflects the association of the
Company with its new assets and controlling Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder.

The special resolution, approving the proposed change of name for the Company, is subject to the approval of 75%
of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders present, in person or by proxy, or represented, at the general meeting,

If approved by shareholders, the change of name will be effective from the commencement of trading on the JSE
on Monday, 23 January 2006, under the abbreviated name "Afgold” and share code “AFO” in the "Resources — Gold
Mining” sector of the JSE list and the ISIN will be changed to ZAE 000075867.

The new name for the Company has been reserved with thé Registrar of Companies.

6.1 Procedure for the surrender of documents of title

6.1.1 Following the approval of the conversion of the authorised ordinary share capital and stated capital
of the Company and the change of name of the Company at the general meeting, certificated Sub
Nigel ordinary shareholders must complete the form of surrender (green), which is enclosed with this
circular, and lodge it with the transfer secretaries. Dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders do
not need to do anything with regard to the name change and the conversion of the authorised
ordinary share capital and stated capital as this will be automatically updated by their CSDP or broker.

6.1.2 Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates reflecting the new name of the Company and the par value of
the Sub Nigel ordinary shares will be posted on or about Monday, 30 January 2006 by registered mail
to certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, at their own risk, who have surrendered their
documents of title by the record date, or within five business days of receipt of the existing
documents of title, whichever is the later. Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders who wish to pre-empt the
approval of the conversion of the authorised ordinary share capital and stated capital and the name
change may surrender their documents of title earlier than the record date. If those resolutions are
not approved, their Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates will be returned by registered mail within five
business days of it becoming known that the changes will not be effected.

6.1.3 Certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders should be aware that Sub Nigel ordinary share
certificates are no longer accepted as tradeable instruments on the JSE. Certificated Sub Nigel
ordinary shareholders are therefore urged to take this opportunity to dematerialise their Sub Nigel
ordinary share certificates as per the requirements of STRATE. :
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6.1.4 If any existing documents of title have been lost or destroyed and the certificated Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholder provides evidence to this effect to the satisfaction of the Sub Nigel directors, then
Sub Nigel may dispense with the surrender of such documents of title against provision of an
acceptable indemnity.

6.1.5 Receipts will not be issued for the surrender of existing documents of title. Lodging agents who
require special transaction receipts are requested to prepare such receipts and submit them for
stamping together with the documents of title lodged.

6.2 Exchange Control Regulations

In the case of certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders whose registered addresses are outside the
common monetary area or where the Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates are restrictively endorsed in terms
of the South African Exchange Control Regulations, the following will apply:

6.2.1 Non-residents who are emigrants from the common monetary area

Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates bearing the new name of the Company and the par value of the
Sub Nigel ordinary shares will be restrictively endorsed “Non-Resident” in terms of the South African
Exchange Control Regulations and will be sent to the Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder's authorised
dealer in foreign exchange in South Africa controlling the Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder’s blocked
assets.

6.2.2 All other non-residents

Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates bearing the new name of the Company and the par value of the
Sub Nigel ordinary shares will be restrictively endorsed “Non-Resident” in terms of the South African
Exchange Control Regulations.

With regard to dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders whose registered addresses are
outside the common monetary area, their Sub Nigel ordinary shares will be annotated in the
Company's relevant sub-register as non-resident and statements will be restrictively endorsed in
terms of those regulations.

WAIVER OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

In terms of the Code, the issue of the subscription shares will result in a change of control in Sub Nigel, as Aflease
will hold more than 35% of the issued ordinary share capital of Sub Nigel after the acquisition. In accordance with
Rule 8 of the Code, Aflease would be required to make a mandatory offer to all Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders.

In terms of Rule 8.7 of the Code, the SRP has agreed to dispense with the requirement for a mandatory offer to all
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders provided that, pursuant to the acquisition, a resolution is passed by a majority of
independent votes at a general meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders in terms of which, this requirement is
waived. Trinity, which holds both Sub Nigel ordinary shares and Aflease ordinary shares, has been declared
independent by the SRP after considering all the facts pertaining to Trinity's shareholdings in these two companies,
and is therefore eligible to vote.

Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are advised that a general meeting will be held at 10:00 on Tuesday,
10 January 2006 at Room 8, Ground Floor, Nedbank, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown to, inter alia, approve the waiver
of the requirement for a mandatory offer to all Sub Nige! ordinary shareholders, as required by the Code.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The acquisition, increase in authorised share capital, name change and waiver of the mandatory offer are subject
to the fulfilment of the following conditions precedent by no later than 31 January 2006:

~ Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the execution of the sale and subscription agreement;
~ Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the increase in the Company's authorised share capital;

~ Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders granting a specific authority to place 339 011 680 of the new authorised but
unissued Sub Nigel ordinary shares under the control of the Sub Nigel directors, to enable the Company to
comply with its obligations in terms of the sale and subscription agreement; and
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~ independent Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders approving the waiver of a mandatory offer by Aflease to the Sub
Nigel ordinary shareholders as a result of Aflease holding more than 35% of the Sub Nigel ordinary shares,
following the acquisition and the issue of the subscription shares.

FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION

Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are referred to paragraph 10 below, which sets out the opinions and
recommendations of the independent professional expert and the Sub Nigel board and the recommendation of the
Sub Nigel board in this regard.

PROCESS FOLLOWED, OPINIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

10.1 The Sub Nigel board, in accordance with good corporate governance, appointed a sub-committee comprising
Sub Nigel directors to consider the terms of the acquisition and to make a recommendation to the Sub Nigel
board.

10.2 The sub-committee comprises Messrs S Swana, P St G Glyn and H G Veldsman. Of these Sub Nigel directors,
only Mr S Swana and Mr P St G Glyn are independent as H G Veldsman is an executive director.

10.3 The sub-committee appointed SRK as independent technical adviser to provide a competent person’s report
on the mining assets of New Kleinfontein and Sub Nigel. The report of SRK is set out in Annexure 8.

10.4 The sub-committee also appointed Sasfin as independent professional expert to the Sub Nigel board, to
furnish an opinion in relation to the terms and conditions of the acquisition.

10.5 Sasfin has advised the sub-committee that it is of the opinion that the terms and conditions of the
acquisition are fair and reasonable to Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders.

10.6 Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders are referred to the opinion of Sasfin included in Annexure 7 and are urged
to read it in its entirety.

10.7 The Sub Nigel board has considered the terms and conditions of the acquisition and, taking into account the
report of the independent technical adviser, the opinion of the independent professional expert and the
views of the sub-committee, the Sub Nigel board is of the opinion that the terms and conditions thereof are
fair and reasonable to Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders and recommends that Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders
vote in favour of the resolutions necessary to approve the acquisition. The Sub Nigel directors, holding
directly and indirectly 2 237 800 Sub Nigel ordinary shares (representing approximately 2.6% of the Sub
Nigel ordinary shares in issue on the last practicable date), intend to vote in favour of the resolutions
required to implement the acquisition, which resolutions will be proposed at the general meeting.

REVISED LISTING PARTICULARS
As the issue of the subscription shares will result in Aflease holding approximately 80% of the issued ordinary share
capital of Sub Nigel, thereby constituting a reverse take-over of the Company by Aflease, the Company is required

to issue revised listing particulars in terms of the Listings Requirements. The revised listing particulars are attached
to and form part of this circular.

WARRANTIES

Aflease and Sub Nigel have provided certain limited warranties that are normal for transactions of this nature.
Aflease has not guaranteed the book debts or other assets of New Kleinfontein.

IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKINGS
Sub Nigel has, at the last practicable date, received irrevocable undertakings to vote in favour of the acquisition

from the following Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders holding 48 212 241 Sub Nigel ordinary shares, equating to
56.6% of the Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue, which are eligible to vote at the general meeting:

13
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Number of

Sub Nigel
ordinary Percentage
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders shares held
Leslie Gordon Holmes 21212 241 249
GFL Mining Services Limited 12 500 000 14.7
Trinity Asset Management* 14 500 000 17.0
Total 48 212 241 56.6

* Trinity Asset Management holds shares on behalf of a large number of small shareholders who er which have given Trinity Asset Management

discretion to vote their shares.

SHARE CAPITAL AND INFORMATION RELATING TO THE SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHARES

Authorised and issued share capital of Sub Nigel:

Before the conversion (R'000)
Authorised ordinary share capital

200 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value

Stated capital

85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value 48 988
After the conversion

Authorised ordinary share capital

200 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 114 000
Issued ordinary share capital

85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 48 537
Non-distributable reserve (transferred in accordance with section 78(3) of the Companies Act) 451
After the conversion and increase in authorised share capital

Authorised ordinary share capital

475 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 270750
Issued ordinary share capital

85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 48 537
Non-distributable reserve 451
After the conversion, increase in authorised share capital and acquisition

Authorised ordinary share capital

475 000 000 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 270 750
Issued ordinary share capital

424 164 600 Sub Nigel ordinary shares of 57 cents each 241774
Share premium 132 215
Non-distributable reserve 451
Reconciliation of number of Sub Nigel ordinary shares between pro forma financial effects

note and share capital note

Closing number of Sub Nigel ordinary shares per pro forma financial effects in

paragraph 3.4 above 412 764 600
Sub Nigel ordinary shares issued for cash as announced on SENS on 18 August 2005 2 000 000
Sub Nigel ordinary shares issued for cash as announced on SENS on 4 October 2005 9 000 000
Issue of Sub Nigel ordinary shares on 4 October in terms of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme 400 000
Issued ordinary share capital 424 164 600




15. SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

As at the last practicable date the Company complied with the minimum shareholder spread requirements of the
JSE and would have complied with the shareholder spread requirements of the JSE had the acquisition been
implemented at that date. The Company will still comply with the requirements of the JSE after the
implementation of the acquisition.

16. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

As at the last practicable date, Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders, other than the Sub Nigel directors, directly or
indirectly beneficially holding 5% or more of the issued Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue were as follows:

Number of

Sub Nigel
ordinary Percentage
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders shares held
GFL Mining Services Limited 12 500 000 14.7
Board of Executors Noms No. 1 11167 161 13.1
Justpoint Nominees (Proprietary) Limited 8776 212 10.3
Falcon Investments (Proprietary) Limited ‘ 7 499 700 8.8
Total 39943 073 46.9

Leslie Gordon Holmes, who controls 21 212 241 shares holds these shares as stated in paragraph 13 above, under a number of nominees.

17. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Sub Nigel board will be reconstituted subsequent to the completion of the acquisition, as the Sub Nigel
directors, with the exception of S Swana, will resign with effect from 23 January 2006. Further details of this
reconstitution are set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 of the revised listing particulars.

18. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SUB NIGEL

The Sub Nigel directors’ interests in Sub Nigel as at the last practicable date were as follows:

Beneficial Percentage
Directors Direct ‘ Indirect Total held
A C Reynolds - 750 000 750 000 0.9
P St G Glyn 100 375 000 375 100 0.4
H G Veldsman 362 600 750 000 1112 600 1.3
S Swana - - - -
Total 362 700 1875 000 2 237 700 2.6

None of the Sub Nigel directors have any direct or indirect non-beneficial shareholdings in Sub Nigel.

Pursuant to the issue of the subscription shares, the interest of the Sub Nigel directors in the issued ordinary share
capital of Sub Nigel will be as follows:

Beneficial Percentage
Directors Direct Indirect Total held
A C Reynolds - 750 000 750 000 0.18
P St G Glyn 100 375 000 375 100 0.09
H G Veldsman 362 600 750 000 1112 600 0.26
S Swana - - - -
Total 362 700 1875 000 2237700 0.53

As at the last practicable date, none of the Sub Nigel directors had any interest in Aflease or New Kleinfontein and
none of the Aflease directors had any interest in Sub Nigel.
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As at the last practicable date, there had been no change to the Sub Nigel directors’ interests in Sub Nigel as
disclosed in the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 june 2005.

As at the last practicable date, share options had been granted to the Sub Nigel directors in terms of the Sub Nigel
Share Incentive Scheme as follows:

ST Ward 1250 000*
A C Reynolds 2 800 000
H G Veldsman 2 800 000

* ST Ward resigned as director on 19 August 2005 pursuant to which 3 150 000 of the 4 400 000 share options
that were granted to him were cancelled.

In the event of a takeover of Sub Nigel, the provisions of clause 22 of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme would
normally operate to accelerate the exercise of outstanding and unexercised share options (to enable the holders
of such share options to exercise those share options and participate in the offer to members). The acquisition,
although resulting in a change of control in Sub Nigel will not, if the mandatory offer is waived, entail any offer to
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 22 of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme
would not apply.

The Sub Nigel board may nevertheless direct, in accordance with the provisions of clause 19 of the Sub Nigel Share
Incentive Scheme {which deal with the rights of beneficiaries under the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme, on the
termination of their employment with the Company) and so as to ensure that such beneficiaries are not prejudiced
in circumstances where their employment will be terminated due to a change of control in Sub Nigel, that such
beneficiaries be entitled to accelerate the exercise of their unexercised share options in such circumstances.

The employment of A C Reynolds and H G Veldsman will be terminated pursuant to the re-constitution of the
Sub Nigel board subsequent to the completion of the acquisition. If, in these circumstances, the Sub Nigel board
resolves so to direct and if each of the above Sub Nigel directors exercises all of the above share options granted
to him, this would have the effect of vesting the Sub Nigel ordinary shares which are the subject of those Sub Niget
ordinary share options in those Sub Nigel directors,

In terms of a resolution passed by the disinterested directors of Sub Nigel on 12 December 2005, it was decided
that Matumi Corporate Advisers (Proprietary) Limited would be paid a cash amount of R1 800 000 exclusive of
Value Added Tax, in consideration for the services rendered by P St G Glyn during his tenure as non-executive
director of the Company over the last five years, and in respect of the implementation of the acquisition, and given
the fact that, being a non-executive director, he is precluded from participating in the Sub Nigel Share Incentive
Scheme. P St G Glyn is a director of Matumi Corporate Advisers (Proprietary) Limited and owns 50% of the issued
ordinary share capital of this company.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS

As at the last practicable date, other than as set out in paragraph 18 above, none of the Sub Nigel directors had
any interests in transactions effected by Sub Nigel during the current or preceding financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Sub Nigel directors for the year ended 30 June 2005 was as follows:

Other material Retirement
Directors Fees Salaries benefits benefits Total
A C Reynolds - 397 000 - - 397 000
ST Ward (resigned) - 295 000 - - 295 000
P St G Glyn - 120 333 - - 120 333
H G Veldsman - 288 000 - - 288 000

S Swana - - - - -
L G Holmes (resigned) - - - - -

1100333

Further details on directors’ remuneration are set out in paragraph 5.5 of the revised listing particulars.
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MATERIAL LOANS

Other than the New Kleinfontein loan, New Kleinfontein has no loans or borrowings as at the last practicable date.
The New Kleinfontein loan is unsecured, interest free and there are no fixed terms of repayment.

Details relating to material loans of Sub Nigel are set out in paragraph 7.5 of the revised listing particulars.

PROSPECTS

Details relating to prospects are set out in paragraph 2.3 of the revised listing particulars.

WORKING CAPITAL

Details relating to working capital are set out in paragraph 7.3 of the revised listing particulars.

MATERIAL CHANGES

As at the last practicable date, there were no material changes in the financial or trading position of New
Kleinfontein and its subsidiaries since the publication of the audited results for the year ended 31 December 2004,
other than as a result of the acquisition contemplated in this circular.

Details relating to material changes of Sub Nigel are set out in paragraph 7.2 of the revised listing particulars.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

New Kleinfontein has not entered into any material contracts, other than in the ordinary course of business, during
the two-year period preceding the date of issue of this circular.

Details relating to material contracts of Sub Nigel are set out in paragraph 8.4 of the revised listing particulars.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There have been no material acquisitions or disposals of businesses, companies and properties or proposed
acquisitions or disposals of businesses, companies and properties by New Kleinfontein during the three years
preceding the date of issue of this circular.

Details relating to acquisitions and disposals by Sub Nigel are set out in paragraph 8.2 of the revised listing
particulars.

COMPETENT PERSON'S REPORT

The detailed competent person’s report on the Sub Nigel and New Kleinfontein mining assets is set out as
Annexure 8 to this circular.

LITIGATION STATEMENT

At the last practicable date, there were no legal or arbitration proceedings, including proceedings which are pending
or threatened against New Kleinfontein and of which New Kleinfontein is aware, which may have, or have during
the 12 months preceding the date of this circular, had a material effect on the financial position of New
Kleinfontein or its subsidiaries.

Details relating to litigation in respect of Sub Nigel are set out in paragraph 8.5 of the revised listing particulars.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Details relating to the directors’ responsibility are set out in paragraph 8.6 of the revised listing particulars.
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EXPENSES

The estimated expenses of the acquisition, excluding Value-Added Tax, are set out in the table below:

Expense Payable to R'000
JSE documentation fees JSE 22
JSE listing fee (subscription shares only) JSE 98
SRP fees SRP 30
SAMREC fees for the Competent Person’s Report SAMREC 10
Printing, publication, distribution and advertising expenses Various 150
Technical adviser SRK 75
Legal fees Deneys Reitz Inc 400
Investment banking and transaction advisory fees Nedbank Capital 200
Transaction sponsor Ernst & Young Sponsors (Proprietary)

Limited 50
Independent reporting accountants Grant Thornton 75
Independent professional expert Sasfin 365
Independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 200
Stamp duties SARS 1099
Administrative expenses Various 10
Estimated total 2784

All expenses of the acquisition will be paid by Sub Nigel.

CONSENTS

Each of the investment bank and transaction adviser, transaction sponsor, legal adviser, independent reporting
accountants, independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein, independent professional expert and
independent technical adviser have consented in writing to act in the capacities stated and to their names
appearing in this circular and have not withdrawn their consent prior to the publication of this circular.

The independent reporting accountants and the independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein have
given and have not withdrawn their consent to the issue of this circular, with their reports in the form and context
in which they are included.

The independent professional expert has given and has not withdrawn its consent to the issue of this circular, with
its letter on the fair and reasonable opinion in the form and context in which it is included.

The independent technical adviser has given and has not withdrawn its consent to the issue of this circular, with
its report in the form and context in which it is included.

GENERAL MEETING AND SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

32.1 Notice of general meeting

The notice convening the general meeting is attached to this circular. In terms of the Listings Requirements,
Sub Nigel ordinary shares held by the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Trust may not be voted at the general
meeting. As at the last practicable date, there were no Sub Nigel ordinary shares held by the Sub Nigel Share
Incentive Trust.

32.2 Certificated Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders and own-name dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholders

You may attend and vote at the general meeting. If you are unable to attend the general meeting but wish
to be represented thereat, you must complete the attached form of proxy (pink) in accordance with the
instructions contained therein and lodge it with or post it to Computershare Investor Services 2004
(Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), to be
received by no later than at 10:00 on Monday, 9 January 2006.




32.3 Dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary other than own-name dematerialised Sub Nigel ordinary

shareholders

- If you wish to attend and vote at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker accordingly,
and your CSDP or broker will issue you with the necessary letter of authority.

— If you wish to be represented at the general meeting, you must advise your CSDP or broker of your voting
instructions. If your CSDP or broker do not obtain voting instructions from you, they will be obliged to
vote in accordance with the instructions contained in the mandate concluded between you and your
CSDP or broker.

33. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

The following documents, or copies thereof, will be available for inspection during normal business hours at the
registered office of Sub Nigel, from the date of this circular up to and including the date of the general meeting,
being Tuesday, 10 January 2006:

this circular incorporating the revised listing particulars, signed by and on behalf of the Sub Nige! directors;
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Sub Nigel;

the Memorandum and Articles of Association of New Kleinfontein;

a signed copy of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme;

a signed copy of the sale and subscription agreement;

a signed copy of the working capital statement referred to in paragraph 7.3 of the revised listings particulars;
signed copies of the irrevocable undertakings as set out in paragraph 13 above;

a signed copy of the SRP letter agreeing to dispense with the requirement for a mandatory offer, provided that
the requisite resolution is passed by the relevant Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders;

a copy of the reservation of the new name for Sub Nigel;

the letters of consent of the investment bank and transaction adviser, transaction sponsor, legal adviser,
independent reporting accountants, independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein, independent
professional expert and independent technical adviser;

Sub Nigel's annual report for the years ended 30 June 2005; 30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003;

the independent reporting accountants’ report on the pro forma income statement, balance sheet and financial
effects of the acquisition as reproduced in Annexure 5 hereto;

the independent reporting accountants’ report on the historical financial information of New Kleinfontein as
reproduced in Annexure 3 hereto;

the competent person’s report as reproduced in Annexure 8 hereto; and
the fair and reasonable letter from Sasfin as reproduced in Annexure 7 hereto.

For and behalf of the directors of

SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED

A C Reynolds
Chief Executive Officer

Johannesburg
19 December 2005
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Annexure 1

AUDITED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO SUB NIGEL

Sub Nigel annual audited financial statements

The following information has been extracted from the published audited annual financial statements of Sub Nigel
for the three years ended 30 June 2005, 30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003. The financial information was audited
by Moores Rowland registered Accountants and Auditors Chartered Accountants (SA) in respect of the financial years
ended 30 June 2003 and 30 June 2004 and by Grant Thornton registered Accountants and Auditors Chartered
Accountants (SA) for the year ended 30 June 2005. The financial statements were unqualified in respect of each of the
above periods.

1. CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Below are the audited Income statements of the Sub Nigel group for the years ended 30 June 2005, 30 June 2004
and 30 June 2003, ‘

Notes 2005 2004 2003
R'000 R'000 R'000
Turnover - - -
Expenditure (3 528) (2 833) (1 415)
Operating loss (3 528) (2 833) (1 415)
Investment income 30 57 31
Mine development costs written off (24 229) - -
Finance cost 12 (22) (226) (7)
Net Loss before taxation (27 749) (3 002) (1391)
Taxation 13 (54) - -
Net loss after taxation (27 803) {3002) (1391)
Sub Nigel ordinary shares in issue ('000) 73753 66 705 50 505
Weighted average number of shares in issue ('000) 70 082 59 324 47 672
Loss per share (cents) 1 (37.70) (4.50) (2.75)
Headline loss per share (cents) (37.70) (4.50) {(2.75)
Weighted average loss per share (cents) (39.67) (5.06) (2.92)
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2. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Below are the audited balance sheets of the Sub Nigel group at 30 june 2005, 30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003.

Notes 2005 2004 2003
R'000 R'000 R’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets 7074 30694 28 397
Mining assets 2 6 983 30678 28 386
Property, plant and equipment 3 91 16 1
Current assets 1786 1395 485
Inventories 4 53 - -
Trade and other receivables 5 558 346 325
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1175 1049 160
8 860 32089 28 882
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves 8 233 31129 27 156
Stated capital 7 35 148 30 428 23 453
Accumulated (loss)/profit ‘ (27 102) 701 3703
Option reserves 187 - -
Non-current liability 8 - - 1330
Current liability 627 960 396
Provision 9 150 150 -
Trade and other payables 10 296 529 107
Short-term loan 8 181 181 181
Bank overdraft - 100 108
8 860 32 089 28 882

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Below are the audited statements of changes in equity of the Sub Nigel group for the years ended 30 june 2005,
30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003. ‘

Stated Option  Accumulated
capital reserves profit/(loss) Total
R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000

Balance at 1 July 2002 22 250 - 351 22 601
Transfer to accumulated profit from ‘
non-distributable reserve - - 4743 4743
Net loss for the year - - (536) (536)
Change in accounting policy - - (855) (855)
Share issues 1203 - - 1203
Balance at 1 july 2003 23 453 - 3703 27 156
Net loss for the year - - (3 002) (3 002)
Share issues 6975 - - 6 975
Balance at 1 July 2004 30 428 - 701 31129
Net loss for the year - - (27 803) (27 803)
Share option issued - 187 - 187
Share issues 4720 - - 4720
Balance at 1 July 2005 35148 187 (27 102) 8 233
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Below are the audited cash flow statements of the Sub Nigel group for the years ended 30 june 2005, 30 June 2004
and 30 june 2003,

Note 2005 2004 2003
R'000 R'000 R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash utilised by operating activities (4 076) (2 276) (426)
Net financing income 12 8 (169) 24

' (4 068) (2 445) (402)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net capital expenditure (613) 322 (9)
Cash flows from financing activities 4907 3020 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 226 897 (411)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

22

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1

1.2

13

1.4

15

Basis of presentation

The annual financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the principle
accounting policies, set out below, which are consistent with those of the previous year. The policies comply
with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. The annual financial statements
are prepared on the going concern basis.

Mining assets

Expenditure incurred on mine development and on mining rights in advance of production cost is capitalised.
Mine development costs consist primarily of direct expenditure and direct borrowing costs necessary to
develop an ore body for economic exploitation. The depreciation of such mining assets is only to commence
after the mine has reached commercial production levels, at which stage the depreciation will be computed
over the life of the mine, based on the proven and probable reserves.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group and company have a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Exploration cost

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include those of the company, of its subsidiary company and of its
share incentive trust (collectively “the group”).

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated.



1.6

17

1.8

1.9

1.10

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates
considered appropriate to reduce carrying values to estimated residual value over their estimated useful
lives, which are as follows:

Computer equipment: 3 years
Office equipment: 6 years
Office furniture: 6 years
Impairment

The possible impairment of non-current assets is assessed whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Any impairment loss will be recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, being the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. To determine the
recoverable amount, management makes its best estimates of the future cash inflows that will be obtained
over the life of the mine and discounts the cash flows by a rate that is based on the time value of money
adjusted to the risk associated with the applicable project.

Management'’s best estimate includes only those projections that it believes are reliable. These estimates are
subject to risks and uncertainties including future metal prices and fluctuations in rates of exchange.
It is therefore reasonably possible that changes could occur which may affect the recoverability of the assets.

Inventory

inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value, and is valued on the first-in-first-out basis.

Taxation

The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences
arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit. In principle, deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
differences arise from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred taxation assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of:

- deductible temporary differences; and

— the carry forward of unused tax losses.

A deferred taxation liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, unless the deferred taxation
liability arises from:

- goodwill for which amortisation is not deductible for tax purposes; or

- theinitial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:

- is not a business combination; and ‘

- at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor tax loss.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the unused tax losses (and unused tax credits) can be utilised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with the bank.
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MINING ASSETS

2005 2004 2003
Group and company ‘ R'000 R'000 R'000
Spaarwater Project 4718 28414 28 386
Opening value 28 414 28 386 27 183
Additions 534 28 1203
Write-off (24 229) - -
Ventersburg Project 2 264 2 264 -
Opening value 2 264 - -
Mining right acquired - 2258 -
Additions - 6 -
Total mining assets 6 983 30678 28 386

An amount of R24 228 826, relating to mine development build up 20 years ago, has been written off. These costs
have ceased to bare any relation to the current value of the company's ore reserves and ability to mine these
reserves. The decision was therefore reached to write off these development costs.

Management has determined using assumptions and information contained in the scoping studies previously
completed by Metallurgical Design Management {Proprietary) Limited, that no impairment of the mining assets is
necessary at this point in time.

The following assumptions were used by management to determine whether the mining assets may be impaired:

Forecasted gold price Us$400
Forecasted ZAR/U$ exchange rate ZAR7
Discount rate © 15%

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group and company

2005 2004 2003
R'000 R‘000 R'000
Computer, office equipment and furniture
Opening net carrying value 16 M 6
Gross carrying value 29 18 9
Accumulated depreciation (13) (7) (3)
Additions 79 11 9
Depreciation ‘ (4) (6) (4)
Closing net carrying value 91 16 11
INVENTORY
Group
Spares and consumables 53 - -
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
Accounts receivables 393 - -
Value-Added Tax 140 315 325
Other receivables 25 31 -
558 346 325




2005 2004 2003
R'000 R'000 R’000

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 1175 1049 160
Bank overdraft - {100) (108)

1175 949 52

STATED CAPITAL
Group
Authorised

- 200 000 000 (2004: 200 000 000)
Sub Nigel ordinary shares of no par value

Issued
— 73752 970 {2004: 66 831 492)
Sub Nigel ordinary shares of no par value

- stated capital account 35 338 30618 23 643
Elimination of treasury shares (190) (190) {150)

35148 30428 23 453

The unissued shares in the company are under control of the
directors, subject to section 221 and 222 of the Companies Act,
1973 as amended, and to the rules and regulations of the JSE
Limited untit the next annual general meeting of the company.

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES AND SHORT-TERM LOAN

Long-term liability

Centracor Resources (SA) Proprietary) Limited - - 1330
Short-term loan

The Leslie Gordon Holmes Family Trust 181 181 181

During the 2004 financial year, a change in accounting policy
occurred whereby the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Trust was
consolidated as part of the group. The result of this was the
recognition of the above liability on consolidation. The liability
is interest free with no fixed repayment terms.

PROVISIONS

Group and company
Environmental rehabilitation 150 150 -

The company has provided the Department of Minerals and Energy with three bank guarantees, two of R150 000
each and one of R55 000, for environmental rehabilitation costs to be incurred. Only R150 000 was provided for
in the financial statements for rehabilitation of the Spaarwater Project. The other R150 000 in respect of the
Ventersburg Project and the R55 000 for Spaarwater exploration has not yet been provided for in the financial
statements as no disturbances to the environment have taken place at this stage.

25



10.

11.

12.

13.

26

2005 2004 2003
R'000 R’000 R’000
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
Trade payables 76 466 107
Accruals 109 42 -
Other payables 111 21 -
296 529 107
EXPENDITURE
Group and company
Included in the net loss is the following:
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services
— Group 133 36 13
- = Company 127 36 13
Depreciation 4 6 4
Staff cost 276 32 -
Directors’ remuneration 1100 376 142
Executive directors:
H G Veldsman 288 144 70
A C Reynolds 397 169 72
ST Ward (resigned) 295 59 -
Non-executive directors:
S Swana - - -
P St Glyn 120 4 -
L G Holmes (resigned) - - -
The Company had 6 employees during the year, excluding
directors (2004: 3, 2003; nil).
FINANCE COSTS
Borrowings - 191 -
Bank overdrafts 22 35 7
22 226 7
TAXATION
No provision was made for taxation as a result of losses
incurred in the current and prior years.
The estimated tax loss available to set off against future
taxable income amounts to
Group 4 642 1596 1205
Company 4610 1596 1205
In addition, unredeemed capital expenditure available for
set off against future taxable income derived from mining
operations amounts to 33 553 33015 30553

The taxation amount of R54 000 relates to an
underprovision in taxation from prior years.
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2005 2004 2003
R’'000 R’000 R’'000
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group and company
Three guarantees totalling R350 000 for environmental
rehabilitation of land at the Spaarwater and Ventersburg
projects have been provided by Nedbank Limited.
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
15.1 Cash utilised by operations
Group
Loss before taxation (27 803) (3002) (1391)
Net finance costs (8) 169 (24)
Non-cash items:
— Depreciation 4 6 4
- Mine development costs written off 24 229 - -
(3578) (2 827) (1411)
15.2 Working capital changes
Group
Increase in inventory (53) - -
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables and prepayments (210) 86 (300)
{Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables {235) 465 1285
(498) 551 985
RISK MANAGEMENT

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt and equity
market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The group’s overall risk management program
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the group. The group does not hedge its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.

Risk management carried out by the group is approved by the board of directors.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising predominantly from foreign currency denominated sales.
The group, however, does not hedge its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.

(i} Interest rate risk

The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The group has no set policy on maintenance
of a set proportion of borrowings in fixed rate instruments versus variable instruments. At the year end,

no debt was at fixed rates.
(iii) Credit risk
The group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

(iv) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out

market positions.
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COMMITMENTS

Within one year  Two to five years
Premises R70 000 -

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
No related party transactions were entered into during the current financial year.

During the 2003 financial year, administration fees to the value of R120 000 was paid to Centracor Resources
(SA) (Proprietary) Limited. In addition to this, the loan amounting to R1 330 000 payable to Centracor Resources
(SA) (Proprietary) Limited as well as interest thereon of R190 091 was paid in full. The interest was calculated using
market related interest rates.

Mr L G Holmes is the sole director as well as indirect shareholder of Centracor Resources (SA) (Proprietary) Limited.

Interest of directors in share capital

At the accounting date, the directors were directly or indirectly interested in 2 237 700 of the issued Sub Nigel
ordinary shares of the company.

Share options granted to directors

Share options were granted to directors as per the terms of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme (see Chairman’s
report).

The aggregate number of share options granted to the directors of the company during the year was 10 000 000.



Annexure 2

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO NEW KLEINFONTEIN

1. INTRODUCTION

The following information has been extracted from the audited annual financial statements of New Kleinfontein
for the three periods ended 31 December 2004, 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002 and the condensed
consolidated unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2005. The annual financial statements
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc and were not qualified.

2. COMMENTARY

2002

The income statement reflects that although revenue of R5.7 million was generated in the six months ended
31 December 2002, working costs of R8.8 million resulted in a gross loss of R3.7 million for the period. The loss
is largely a result of the strong rand that negatively affected revenue proceeds. No exploration was done during the
reported period. General and administrative expense reflects activity in the Company for the reported period.
In compliance with accounting practice, the Company carried out an impairment exercise on its property, plant and
equipment (“PPE"). An impairment amount of R3.9 million had to be recognised as a result thereof arising from the
net recoverable amount being lower than the carrying value of the assets.

No dividend was proposed or declared for the period reported.

In order to raise funds for capital and operational requirements, 110 million ordinary shares were issued in August
and October 2002 yielding an aggregate amount of R11 million. This was used to finance, inter alia, additional PPE.

2003

The strong rand in particular led to reduced turnover for the year as evidenced by a reduction of 22.4% compared
to the six months ended 31 December 2002. The slight reduction in working costs was insufficient to cushion the
gross loss of R4.6 million for the year. Exploration work in excess of R2 million was undertaken in the reported
period. This work was necessary to better define the Company's reserves and resources. As a result of the above
activity, the Group reported net loss of R8.99 million for the year.

No dividend was proposed or declared for the period reported.

Save for the disposal of property, plant and equipment for a value of R2.2 million in the year, there were no material
balance sheet movements except for those arising out of activity commented on above and working capital
movements,

2004

Although the Group derived no gold revenue, having suspended mining in 2003, royalty income of R3.5 million -
comprising over 99% of total revenue — was generated from Group assets mined by Petrex (Proprietary) Limited.
Royalty income was received until early 2004. Due to reduced activity, working costs dropped substantially to
R683 849 for the year resulting in a gross profit of R2.8 million. General and administrative expenditure also
reflected the reduction in activity as evidenced by a 95.9% decrease to R61 757. The Group continued with
exploration work, albeit not at the same level as that undertaken in the previous year.

No dividend was proposed or declared for the period.

In November 2004, New Kleinfontein Mining Company Limited purchased shares in Aflease Gold and Uranium
Resources Limited ("Aflease”) on the open market. The intention of this purchase was to facilitate the private
placement of the shares with an interested party. 4 000 000 Aflease shares were purchased at a cost of R1.83 per
share. The purchase was financed through a loan from Aflease.

2005 Interim

With no revenue received or any working costs, the Group only incurred those general and administration expenses
deemed necessary to continue as an operating entity. Additionally, exploration work continued to be done, aimed
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at preparing for gold production in 2006. A loss of R391 122 was incurred on the sale of Aflease Gold and Uranium
Resources Limited (“Aflease”) shares, These shares had been acquired in November 2004 at a cost of R1.83 per
share but were sold through a private placement at R1.75 per share, resulting in the reported loss.

No dividend had been proposed or declared for the period under review.

As a result of the sale of Aflease shares, a loan that the Group has with Aflease was reduced by the net proceeds,
and the investment in listed shares was reduced accordingly.

In order to build up sufficient assets for the Group’s rehabilitation and closure obligations, an amount of R412 822
was invested in the rehabilitation trust. This investment was financed by largely by the Group’s holding

company — Aflease.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Consolidated annual financial information

BALANCE SHEET
at 31 December
2004 2003 2002

Notes R R R
ASSETS |
Non-current assets 4961 352 5421 241 8 255 304
Property, plant and equipment 1 4 348 500 4852 713 7 749 551
Investment in unlisted subsidiaries 2 - - -
Other investments 3 612 852 568 528 505 753
Current assets | 8961140 850975 4 950 521
Receivables and prepayments 4 766 904 189 912 1973 965
Short-term investment in listed shares 5 7 357 893 - -
Amounts owing by Group companies 6 644 686 - 9617
Bank and cash balances 8 191 657 661 063 2 966 939
Total assets 13922 492 6272216 13 205 825
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves (3 783 557) (5 544 392) 3 444 533
Ordinary share capital 9 1880 281 1880 281 1880 281
Share premium 14 389 354 14 389 354 14 389 354
Accumulated losses (20053 192) (21814027) (12 825102)
Non-current liabilities 16 420 820 9293 304 4 488 608
Interest bearing borrowings 10 - 931909 2 685214
Rehabilitation and closure cost obligation 1 1027 500 1027 500 1027 500
Amounts owing to Group companies 6 15393 320 6 698 161 -
Amounts owing to related parties 7 - 635734 775 894
Current liabilities 1285 229 2 523 304 5272 684
Current portion of interest bearing borrowings 10 920 909 1377 699 1578613
Trade and other payables 12 97 320 633 166 2 749 855
Provisions 13 267 000 512 439 944 116
Total equity and liabilities 13922 492 6272 216 13 205 825




INCOME STATEMENT
for the period ended 31 December

12 months 12 months 6 months
Notes 2004 2003 2002
R R R
Revenue 14 3523700 3962 895 5113 403
Working cost 15 (683849)  (8590052) (8864 291)
Gross profit/(loss) 2 839 851 (4 627 157) (3 750 888)
General and administrative expenditure (61757) (1 507 622) (2 025 369)
Exploration expenditure (951 882) {2 703 053) -
(mpairment of long life assets 1 - - (3 936 489)
Operating loss 16 1826 212 (8837832) (9712 746)
Interest paid 17 (228 018) (699 593) (632 402)
Interest received 17 162 641 141834 80471
Loss before taxation ‘ 1760 835 (9395 591) (10 264 677)
Taxation 18 - 406 666 (15 181)
Net loss for the year 1760 835 (8988 925) (10279 858)
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the period ended 31 December
12 months 12 months 6 months
Notes 2004 2003 2002
R R R
Cash flows from operating activities 8957 244 (2 204 392) (4 491 500)
Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations 21 9022 621 (1 646 633) {3 939 569)
Net finance costs paid 21 (65 377) (557 759) (551931)
Cash flows from investing activities | (7 402 217) 1992 895 (2 377 000)
Proceeds from disposal of assets - 2 150 190 -
Additions to fixed assets - (94 520) (1891 369)
Increase in environmental trust (44 324) (62 775) (485 631)
Increase in short-term investment in listed shares (7 357 893) - -
Cash flows from financing activities (2 024 433) (2 094 379) 9290 135
Net proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares - - 11 000 000
Net increase in amounts owing by subsidiaries - - (218 438)
Net decrease in amounts owing to related parties (635 734) (140 160) (54 220)
Payment of finance leases (1 388 699) (1954 219) (1 437 207)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (469 406) {2 305 876) 2421635
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 661 063 2 966 939 545 304
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 191 657 661063 2 966 939
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the period ended 31 December

2004 2003 2002
R R R

Ordinary share capital
At the beginning of the year 1880 281 1 880 281 780 281
Issued during the year - - 1100 000
At the end of the year 1880 281 1880 281 1880 281
Share premium
At the beginning of the year 14 389 354 14 389 354 4 489 354
Issued during the year - - 9 900 000
At the end of the year 14 389 354 14 389 354 14 389 354
Accumulated losses
At the beginning of the year (21814027) (12 825102) (2 545 244)
Net profit/(loss) for the year ‘ 1760 835 (8988 925) (10279 858)
At the end of the year (20053 192) (21814027) (12825 102)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financia! information of New Kleinfontein Mining Company Limited and its subsidiaries has been
prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {SA GAAP).
The consolidated financial information has been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial information in conformity with SA GAAP requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies.

CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial information includes the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
(including mineral property interests) and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. ‘



REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised as follows:

~ Revenue
Revenue arising from gold sales is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the final refiner.

~ Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

~ Interest income

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective
rate over the period to maturity.

EXPLORATION COST

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred. Costs related to property and mineral right acquisitions are capitalised.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

— Gold claims

Gold claims are recognised at cost minus accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method over eight years to allocate the cost of the asset to the residual value.

- Development costs and mine plant facilities

Mine development costs and mine plant facilities are initially recorded at cost, whereafter they are measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Mine development costs and mine plant facilities costs
consist primarily direct expenditure, including direct borrowing costs, to develop an ore body for economic
exploitation and to expand the production capacity of existing operations. Development costs are capitalised
up until the commercial production phase begins.

— Non-mining fixed assets

Other non-mining fixed assets are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation.

~ Depreciation and amortisation

Long-lived assets include mining properties, mine development costs and mine plant facilities. Depreciation and
amortisation are therefore charged over the life of the mine based on proven and probable reserves. Short-lived
assets which include motor vehicles and office equipment, are depreciated on a straight line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

~ Impairment

The carrying amount of the long-lived assets of the Group are annually compared to the recoverable amount
of the assets, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book value may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and net selling price.

In assessing the value in use the expected future cash flows from the asset is determined by applying a discount
rate to the anticipated pre-tax future cash flows. The discount rate used is the Group’s weighted average cost
of capital. An impairment expense is recognised in the income statement to the extent that the carrying amount
exceeds the asset's recoverable amount. The revised carrying amounts are amortised in line with Group
accounting policies.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a reversal
of the conditions that originally resulted in the impairment. This reversal is recognised in the income statement
and is limited to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.

33



34

The estimates of future discounted cash flows are subject to risks and uncertainties including the future
gold price. It is therefore reasonably possible that changes could occur which may affect the recoverability of
mining assets.

FINANCE LEASES

Leases of plant and equipment where the Group assumes a significant portion of risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the estimated present value of the underlying lease
payments. Each [ease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance charges to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding. The interest portion of the finance payment is charged to the income
statement over the lease period. The plant and equipment acquired under the finance lease are depreciated over
the useful life of the assets.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value. Other financial
instruments are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these
instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, investments, other
receivables, trade and other payables, and borrowings.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and equivalents include deposits held at call with banks.

- Investments

Classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
The only investment is the following:

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category consists of the rehabilitation cash management account, that has been designated as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss. The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
valued at fair value. Movement in fair value are taken to the income statement.

-~ Other receivables

These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The movement in the provision is recognised in the income
statement.

~ Trade and other payables

Trade payables are stated at cost as cost approximates fair value, adjusted for payments made to reflect the
value of the anticipated economic outflow of resources.

~ Borrowings

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.



10.

- Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

REHABILITATION COSTS

Provision is made in full for the estimated future costs of pollution control and rehabilitation, in accordance with
statutory requirements. The net present value of estimated future rehabilitation cost estimates is recognised and
provided for in the financial statements and capitalised to mining assets on initial recognition. Initial recognition
is at the time of the disturbance occurring and thereafter as and when additional environmental disturbances are
created. The estimates are reviewed annually to take into account the effects of inflation and changes in estimates
and are discounted using rates that reflect the time value of money. The rehabilitation asset is amortised as noted
previously.

Annual increases in the provision are charged to income and consist of finance costs relating to the change
in present value of the provision and inflationary increases in the provision estimate. The present value of
additional environmental disturbances created are capitalised to mining assets against an increase in rehabilitation
provision. Environmental liabilities, other than rehabilitation costs, which relate to liabilities arising from specific
events, are expensed when they are known, probable and reasonably estimable.

Environmental liabilities, other than rehabilitation costs, which relate to liabilities arising from specific events, are
expensed when they are known, prabable and may be reasonably estimated.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events
where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

DEFERRED INCOME AND MINING TAXES

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, if
the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates {and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

35



Notes to the financial information:

1.

36

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment and

Gold Land and assets under Motor Office
claims buildings construction vehicles equipment TOTAL
R R R R R R
Carrying amount at
1 January 2003 5134 570 526 263 2030 167 30 290 28 261 7 749 551
~ Cost 5888329 3270708 4195377 139 294 84 825 13578533
-~ Accumulated
amortisation (753 759) (2 744 445) (2165 210) (109 004) (56 564) (5 828 982)
Additions - - 17 159 62 500 14 861 94 520
Disposals - (300 560) {1 752 506) (71 536) (29325) (2153 927)
-~ Cost - (313 951) (3 010 448) (201 794) (92 686) (3 625 879)
- Accumulated
amortisation - 13 391 1257 942 130 258 70 361 1471952
Amortisation charge {504 213) (3347) (294 820) (21 254) {13 797) (837 431)
Carrying amount at
31 December 2003 4 630 357 222 356 - - - 4852713
- Cost S 888 329 2 956 757 1202 088 - - 10047174
- Accumulated
amortisation (1257972) (2734 401) (1202 088) - - (5194 467)
Amortisation charge (504 213) - - (504 213)
Carrying amount at
31 December 2004 4126 144 222 356 - - - 4348 500
- Cost 5888 329 2 956 757 1202 088 - - 10047 174
- Accumulated
amortisation (1762 185) (2 734 401) (1202 088) - - (5698674)
2004 2003 2002
R R R
Owned assets 2 076 980 2 076 980 4 469 605
Leased assets 2271520 2775733 3279 946
Total net carrying amount as at end of the year 4 348 500 4852 713 7 749 551

- Precious metal claims consist of:

411 Precious Metal Claims situated on Farm Benoni 77 IR, Kleinfontein 67 IR and Rietfontein 115 IR in the
Magisterial District of Benoni, Gauteng Province purchased on 22 December 1998 at a cost of R1 000 000.

5612 Precious Metal Claims situated on the Farms Klipfontein 70 IR, Modder East 72 IR, Welgedacht 741 IR,
Cloverfield 751 IR, and Modderfontein 761 IR, measurlng approximately 3456,9718 hectares purchased on
30 June 2002 at a cost of R2 027 100.

895 Precious Metal Claims on the Farm Geduld 123 IR, measuring approximately 532,2531 hectares.

2037 Precious Metal Claims situated on the Farm Rietfontein 115 IR, measuring 1211,4597 hectares.

{The above two precious metal claims were purchased on 12 September 1998 for a cost of R1 006 605.)

Certain property, plant and equipment have been ceded as security to lending institutions. For details on the
security for the various loans, refer note 10.




INVESTMENT AND LISTED SUBSIDIARIES

The investment in the unlisted subsidiaries consists of:
- 100% holding of:
- New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited

-~ New Kleinfontein Gold Claims (Proprietary) Limited (100% held by New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary)

Limited)
—  New Kleinfontein Rehabilitation Trust
- Mali Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

- Morris Mining (Proprietary) Limited (100% held by Mali Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)

OTHER INVESTMENTS

2004
R

2003
R

2002
R

Rehabilitation Cash Management account 612 852

The Rehabilitation Cash Management account is a money
market fund investment. Interest is capitalised on a monthly
basis.

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade receivables 171 000
Value-Added Tax 7930
Income tax paid 70 462
Guarantees issued to the Department of Minerals and Energy

for the rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining 517 512
Other receivables -

568 528

173180
5 061

11671

505753

1 868 664
6 746

98 555

766 904

189912

1973 965

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT IN LISTED SHARES

Aflease shares 7 357 893

On 26 November 2004, the Company purchased 4 million
Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (“Aflease”)
shares in the open market at a cost of R1.83 per share.
This acquisition was specifically to enable the sale of the
same shares, through a private placement, to an
interested party.

AMOUNTS OWING BY/(TO) GROUP COMPANIES

Amount owing by/(to): ‘
Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (15 393 320)
Rietkuil Mining (Proprietary) Limited 34 686

(5362 151)
(1336 010)

9617

AFL Plant and Engineering (Proprietary) Limited 610 000

New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited
New Kleinfontein Gold Claims (Proprietary) Limited
New Kleinfontein Rehabilitation Trust

Morris Mining (Proprietary) Limited

Mali Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

(14 748 634)

(6 698 161)

9617
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2004 2003 2002

R R R
Split as follows:
Amounts owing by Group companies 644 686 - 9617
Amounts owing to Group companies (15 393 320) (6698 161) -
(14 748 634) (6 698 161) 9617
The above loans are unsecured, interest free and there
are no fixed terms of repayment.
AMOUNTS OWING TO RELATED PARTIES
Amount owing to K A Hart (Director of this Company) - (579 681) {775 894)
Amount owing to N ] Froneman (CEO — Aflease) - (56 053) -
Total amounts owing to related third parties ‘ - (635 734) (775 894)
The loans are unsecured and there are no fixed terms
of repayment. Interest on the loan from Hollandsche
Trust is paid monthly at prime interest rates.
The loan from Froneman is interest free.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances 191 657 661063 2 966 939
ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
200 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each
{2003: 200 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each) 2 000 000 2 000 000 2 000 000
Shares issued
188 028 100 (2003: 188 028 100) ordinary shares of
1 cent each ‘ 1880 281 7 880 281 1 880 281
. INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
Present value of finance lease obligations payable within 1 year 920 909 1377 699 1578613
Minimum lease payments : 920 909 1638 699 1578 613
Finance charges | - (261 000) -
Present value of finance lease obligations payable
within 2 to 5 years - 931 909 2685214
Minimum lease payments - 670 909 2685214
Finance charges - 261 000 -
Total borrowings 920 909 2 309 608 4 263 827
Short-term portion of finance leases (920 909) (1377 699) (1578 613)
Total long-term borrowings - 531909 2 685214

Finance lease liabilities consist of the following:

— Two secured loans from the Industrial Development Corporation of S.A. Limited, secured by a general notarial
bond over immovable property of New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited, bearing interest at prime
and repayable in monthly instalments of R55 560 on each loan.

— Secured loan in respect of land acquired from the City Council of Ekurhuleni (previously Springs), bearing
interest at 17% per annum and repayable in equal monthly instalments over a 60-month period.



12.

13.

14,

15.

2004 2003 2002
R R R
11. REHABILITATION AND CLOSURE COST OBLIGATION
East Rand operations 1027 500 1027 500 1027 500
1027 500 1027 500 1027 500
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 73 062 472 078 2 461 781
Accruals 24 258 161 088 288 174
97 320 633 166 2 749 955
PROVISIONS
Leave Workmen's Doubtful TOTAL
Taxation pay  compensation debts Other 2004
R R R R R R
At 1 July 2002 391 487 244 370 - - - 635 857
Additional provisions 15181 291 832 - - 1246 308 259
Utilised during the year - - - - - -
31 December 2002 406 668 536 202 - - 1246 944 116
Additional provisions - 27 023 266 416 1771 000 48 000 512 439
Utilised during the year {406 668) (536 202) - - (1246) (944 116)
31 December 2003 - 27 023 266 416 171 000 48 000 512 439
Additional provisions - - - - 48000 48 000
Utilised during the year - (27 023) {266 416) - - (293 439)
31 December 2004 - - - 171000 96 000 267 000
REVENUE
Group
2004 2003 2002
R R R
Gold - 3 962 895 4 993 590
Royalties 3 499 998 - -
Sundry 23702 - 119 813
3523700 3962 895 5113 403
Royalties were received from Petrex (Proprietary) Limited,
for mining on property owned by New Kleinfontein
Mining Company Limited
WORKING COSTS
Group
12 months 12 months 6 months
2004 2003 2002
R R R
Production costs 179 636 7 752 621 8 435 207
Amortisation and depreciation 504 213 837 431 429 084
683 849 8 590 052 8 864 291
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16.

17.

18.

19.

40

OPERATING LOSS

Group
12 months 12 months 6 months
2004 2003 2002
R . R R
Operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration 70 000 98 000 10 900
— Audit fees 70 000 96 000 10 900
— Expenses - 2000 -
Amortisation and depreciation 504 213 837 431 429 084
Exploration expenditure 951 882 2703053 -
Professional fees 13 000 611 291 -
- Consulting fees - 355 291 -
— Other professional fees 13 000 256 000 -
Loss on sale of assets - {3737) -
NET FINANCE COSTS
Interest paid 228018 699 593 632 402
Bank interest ‘ - 1557 475
Interest on finance leases 185 652 489 938 -
Interest on long-term facilities - - 157 582
Other interest 42 366 208 098 474 345
Interest received (162 641) (141 834) (80 471)
Bank interest ‘ - (72 293) (72 022)
Investments (78 093) (69 541) (8 449)
Other interest (84 548) - -
Net finance costs 65377 557 759 551 931
TAXATION
South African taxation — current - - -
Deferred taxation - 406 666 (15 181)

No taxation has been provided as the Company has an estimated loss as at 31 December 2004,

The deferred taxation in the current year is a write back of deferred taxation raised in New Kleinfontein Gold
Claims (Proprietary) Limited due to the liability arising on a permanent difference.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company repaid a loan of R56 053 to Mr N ] Froneman (Chief Executive Officer). In the prior
year, the Group sold assets with a carrying value of R2 153 927 to its Holding Company at the carrying value.
Included in trade and other payables in the prior year were balances owed to directors of the Company amounting
to R648 150. Included in other interest in the prior year was an amount of R102 451 paid on the balance with
Hollandsche Trust (refer notes 6 and 16)

19.1 Interest of directors in share capital

At the accounting date, the Directors were beneficially and non-beneficially directly or indirectly interested
in 2 546 363 (2003: 7 404 833; 2002: 28 653 733) of the issued ordinary shares of the ultimate holding
Company.



19.2 Directors’ interest in contracts

Other than the interest held by Mr N | Froneman (Chief Executive Officer) and M Steyn in the Neal Froneman
Consortium which sold its entire interest in the issued ordinary share capital of the New Kleinfontein Mining
Company Limited to Aflease, the directors had no direct or indirect interest in any transaction that the Group
effected during the current or immediately preceding year, or in an earlier financial year and which remain

in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

20.1 Financial risk factors

Risk management carried out by the Group is approved by the Board of Directors.

- Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no set policy on maintenance of a set proportion of borrowings in fixed rate
instruments versus variable instruments. At the year-end no debt was at fixed rates.

—~ Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. The Group has
policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution.

- Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close

out market positions.

21. CASH GENERATED FROM/(UTILISED BY) OPERATIONS

Group
12 months 12 months 6 months
2004 2003 2002
R R R
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 1760 835 (9395591) (10264 677)
Interest paid 228 018 699 593 632 402
Interest received (162 641) (141 834) (80 471)
Non-cash items:
- Depreciation and amortisation 504 213 837 431 429 084
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 3737 -
— Impairment of long-life assets - - 3936 489
- Deferred taxation reversed - 406 666 (438 783)
2330 425 (7 589 998) (5 785 956)
Movement in working capital:
Increase in inventories - - 124 890
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables and prepayments (576 992) 1784053 1329 484
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (781 285) (2 548 466) 392 013
Increase/(Decrease) in loans with Group companies 8 050 473 6 707 778 -
9022 621 (1 646 633) (3 939 569)
Net finance costs
Interest paid (228 018) (699 593) (632 402)
Interest received 162 641 141 834 80 471
(65 377) (557 759) (551 931)
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Condensed consolidated interim results

BALANCE SHEET
as at
30 June 30 June 31 December
Notes 2005 2004 2004
R R R
ASSETS
Non-current assets 4730 945 5191 062 4961 352
Property, plant and equipment 4 096 393 4 600 609 4 348 500
Rehabilitation cash management account 634 552 590 453 612 852
Current assets 1544 024 1461 981 8961 140
Other receivables 631 379 677 891 766 904
Short-term investment in listed shares - - 7 357 893
Amounts owing by Group companies 2 703 351 - 644 €86
Cash and cash equivalents 209 294 784 090 191 657
Total assets 6 274 969 6 653 043 13 922 492
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves (4 528 621) (3316 139) {3 783 557)
Ordinary share capital 1880 281 1880 281 1880 281
Share premium 14 389 354 14 389 354 14 389 354
Accumulated losses (20 798 256) (19585774) (20 053 192)
Non-current liabilities 10 407 825 8 213 509 16 420 820
Interest bearing borrowings - 408 245 -
Rehabilitation and closure cost obligation 1085902 1027 500 1027 500
Amounts owing to Group companies 2 9321923 6777 764 15 393 320
Current liabilities 395 765 1755673 1285229
Current portion of interest bearing borrowings 277 998 1333 440 920909
Trade and other payables 117 767 152 210 97 320
Provisions - 270 023 267 000
Total equity and liabilities 6274 969 6 653 043 13 922 492
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INCOME STATEMENT
for the period ended

6 months 6 months 12 months
30 June 30 June 31 December
Note 2005 2004 2004
R R R
Revenue - 3 499 998 3523700
Working cost - (30 454) (179 636)
Gross profit - 3 469 544 3344 064
General and administrative expenditure 85 798 (39 036) {61 757)
Exploration expenditure (129 885) (939 407) (951 882)
Depreciation and amortisation (252 107) (252 107) (504 213)
Finance cost (93 154) (124 382) (228 018)
Interest received 35 406 113 641 162 641
Loss on sale of investments 1 (391 122) - -
(Loss)/Profit before taxation (745 064) 2 228 253 1760 835
Taxation - - -
Net (loss)/profit for the year (745 064) 2228 253 1760 835
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the period ended
6 months 6 months 12 months
30 June 30 June 31 December
Notes 2005 2004 2004
R R R
Cash flows from operating activities (6 342 925) 1348 609 8 957 244
Cash generated from operations 3 (6 285 177) 1359 350 9022 621
Net finance costs paid 3 (57 748) (10 741) (65 377)
Cash flows from investing activities 6 945 071 (21 925) (7 402 217)
Increase in rehabilitation cash management account (21 700) (21 925) (44 324)
Proceeds on disposal of short-term investment
in listed shares 6966 771 - -
Increase in short-term investment in listed shares - - (7 357 893)
Cash flows from financing activities (584 509) (1203 657) (2 024 433)
Increase in rehabilitation and cost closure obligations 58 402 - -
Net decrease in amounts owing to related parties - (635 734) (635 734)
Payment of finance leases (642 911) (567 923) (1 388 699)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 17 637 123 027 (469 406)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 191 657 661 063 661 063
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 209 294 784090 191 657
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the period ended

6 months 6 months 12 months
30 June 30 june 31 December
2005 2004 2004
R R R

Ordinary share capital
At the beginning of the year 1880 281 1880 281 1880 281
Issued during the year - - -
At the end of the year 1880 281 1880 281 1880 281

Share premium

At the beginning of the year 14 389 354 14 389 354 14 389 354
Issued during the year - - -
At the end of the year 14 389 354 14 389 354 14 389 354

Accumulated losses

At the beginning of the year
Net profit/(loss) for the year

(20 053 192)
(745 064)

(21814 027)
2228 253

(21 814 027)
1760 835

At the end of the year

(20 798 256)

(19 585 774)

(20 053 192)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these condensed consolidated interim financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements of New Kleinfontein Mining Company Limited and its
subsidiaries are for the six months ended 30 June 2005.They have been prepared in accordance with |AS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, and are covered by International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 1, First-time Adoption
of IFRS, because they are part of the period covered by the Group's first IFRS financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2005. These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with those IFRS standards and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC")
interpretations issued and effective or issued and early adopted as at the time of preparing these statements
{August 2005). The IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations that will be applicable at 31 December 2005, including
those that will be applicable on an optional basis, are not known with certainty at the time of preparing these
condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements were prepared in accordance with South Africa’s
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (*SA GAAP") until 31 December 2004. SA GAAP differs in some areas
from IFRS. No restatement of figures in respect of 2004 were required to reflect these adjustments as a result
of the choices or exemptions. The condensed consolidated interim financial staterments have been prepared under
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets through profit and loss.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IAS 34 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. There were no areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

There were no significant changes to the Group's accounting policies as a result of the adoption of IFRS. Therefore
there was no reconciliation done between SA GAAP and IFRS for equity or profit and loss.
1.1 Transition to IFRS

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 will be the first annual financial
statements that comply with IFRS. These interim financial statements have been prepared as described in
Note 1.1.The Group has applied IFRS 1 in preparing these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.



The IFRS transition date is 1 January 2004. The Group prepared its opening IFRS balance sheet at that date.
The reporting date of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements is 30 June 2005.
The Group's IFRS adoption date is 1 January 2005.

In preparing these condensed consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Group
has applied the mandatory exceptions and certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective
application of IFRS.

1.2 Exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS- elected by the Group

The Group has elected to apply the following optional exemptions from full retrospective application.

- Business combinations exemption

The Group has applied the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1. it has not restated business
combinations that took place prior to the 1 January 2004 transition date.

- Exemption from restatement of comparatives for IAS 32 and |AS 39.

The Group elected to apply this exemption.

1.3 Exceptions from full retrospective application followed by the Group

The Group has applied the following mandatory exceptions from retrospective application.

— Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities exception

Financial assets and liabilities derecognised before 1 January 2004 are not re-recognised under IFRS.
The application of the exemption from restating comparatives for 1AS 32 and IAS 39 means that the
Group recognised from 1 January 2005 any financial assets and financial liabilities derecognised since
1 January 2004 that do not meet the |AS 39 derecognition criteria. Management did not choose to apply
the IAS 39 derecognition criteria to an earlier date.

- Estimates exception

Estimates under IFRS at 1 January 2004 should be consistent with estimates made for the same date
under previous GAAP, unless there is evidence that those estimates were in error.

- Assets held for sale and discontinued operations exception

Management applies IFRS 5 prospectively from 1 January 2005. Any assets held for sale or discontinued
operations are recognised in accordance with IFRS 5 only from 1 January 2005. Aflease did not have any
assets that met the held-for-sale criteria during the period presented. No adjustment was required.

CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial information includes the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are no longer consolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
(including mineral property interests) and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the
acquisition is less than the fair value of the Group's share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly to the income statement.
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inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred.

The 100% owned subsidiaries are the following:

— New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited

- New Kleinfontein Gold Claims (Proprietary) Limited (100% held by New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary)
Limited)

- New Kleinfontein Rehabilitation Trust

- Mali Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

- Morris Mining (Proprietary) Limited (100% held by Mali Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of royalty income, net of VAT,

- Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.
All mining production was suspended by the Group in 2003. Royalty income commenced thereafter and stopped
in early 2004.

- Interest income

Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective
rate over the period to maturity.

EXPLORATION COST

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

- Gold claims

Gold claims are recognised at cost minus accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method over 8 years to allocate the cost of the asset to the residual value.

-~ Land and buildings

Land is recorded at cost minus accumulated impairment. Buildings are recorded at cost minus accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over
20 years to allocate the cost of the asset to the residual value.

- Impairment

The carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment of the Group are annually compared to the recoverable
amount of the assets, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book value may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a reversal
of the conditions that originally resulted in the impairment. This reversal is recognised in the income statement
and is limited to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recagnised in prior years.

FINANCE LEASES

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group assumes a significant portion of risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between




the liability and the finance charges to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The interest
portion of the finance payment is charged to the income statement over the lease period. The property, plant and
equipment acquired under the finance lease are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or the
lease period.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value. Other financial
instruments are initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these
instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, investments, other
receivables, trade and other payables, and borrowings.
- Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statements, Cash and equivalents include deposits held at call with banks.

- Investments

Classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
The only investment is the following:

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category consists of the rehabilitation cash management account, that has been designated as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss. The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
valued at fair value. Movement in fair value are taken to the income statement.

— Other receivables

These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The movement in the provision is recognised in the income
statement. :

— Trade and other payables
Trade payables are stated at cost as cost approximates fair value, adjusted for payments made to reflect the
value of the anticipated economic outflow of resources.

~ Borrowings

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

- Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

REHABILITATION COSTS

Provision is made in full for the estimated future costs of pollution control and rehabilitation, in accordance with
statutory requirements. The net present value of estimated future rehabilitation cost estimates is recognised and
provided for in the financial statements and capitalised to mining assets on initial recognition. initial recognition
is at the time of the disturbance occurring and thereafter as and when additional environmental disturbances are

47



10.

created. The estimates are reviewed annually to take into account the effects of inflation and changes in estimates
and are discounted using rates that reflect the time value of money. The rehabilitation asset is amortised over the
life of the mine.

Annual increases in the provision are charged to income and consist of finance costs relating to the change
in present value of the provision and inflationary increases in the provision estimate, The present value of
additional environmental disturbances created are capitalised to mining assets against an increase in rehabilitation
provision. Environmental liabilities, other than rehabilitation costs, which relate to liabilities arising from specific
events, are expensed when they are known, probable and reasonably estimable.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events
where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

DEFERRED INCOME AND MINING TAXES

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
it is not accounted for, Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates {and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1.
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SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT IN LISTED SHARES

30 June 30 June 31 December

2005 2004 2004

R R R

Aflease shares | - - 7 357 893

On 26 November 2004, the Company purchased 4 million Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (“Aflease”)
shares in the open market at a cost of R1.83 per share. This acquisition was specifically to enable the sale of the
same shares, through a private placement, to an interested party. The loss of R391 122 on the sale of the
investments in 2005 represents the loss on the eventual sale of these shares, which were sold at R1.75 per share.

AMOUNTS OWING BY/(TO) GROUP COMPANIES

30 June 30 June 31 December
2005 2004 2004
R R R

Amount owing by/({to):
Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (9 321 923) (6 768 261} (15 393 320)
Rietkuil Mining (Proprietary) Limited 93 351 (9 503) 34 686
AFL Plant and Engineering (Proprietary) Limited 610 000 - 610 000

(8618572)  (6777764) (14 748 634)

Split as follows:

Amounts owing by Group companies 703 351 - 644 686
Amounts owing to Group companies (9321923) (6 777 764) (15393 320)

(8618572)  (6777764) (14 748 634)

The above loans are unsecured, interest free and there are no fixed terms of repayment.



30 June 30 June 31 December
2005 2004 2004
R R R
3. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
{Loss)/Profit before taxation (745 064) 2228 253 1760 835
Interest paid 93 154 124 382 228 018
Interest received (35 406) (113 647) (162 641)
Non-cash items:
— Depreciation and amortisation 252 107 252 107 504 213
— Loss on sale of investments 391 122 - -
(44 087) 2 491 101 2 330 425
Movement in working capital:
Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables 135 525 (487 982) (576 992)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (246 553) (723 372) (781 285)
{Decrease)/Increase in loans with Group companies (6 130 062) 79 603 8 050 473
(6 285 177) 1359 350 9022 621
Net finance costs
Finance cost (93 154) (124 382) (228 018)
Interest received 35 406 113 641 162 641
(57 748) (10 747) (65 377)

Post balance sheet events

Aflease announced on 23 August 2005 that it intended to acquire a controlling shareholding in Sub Nigel Gold
Mining Company Limited (“Sub Nigel”) in a deal which would involve the transfer of Aflease’s wholly-owned New
Kleinfontein Mining Company Limited, in which the Modder East project is housed, to Sub Nigel. The transaction
has the support of 62% of Sub Nigel's shareholders and is intended 1o crystallise the value of Modder East.
The new company will retain its JSE listing and will be named “Aflease Gold".
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Annexure 3

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS” REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF NEW KLEINFONTEIN

“The Directors

Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited

301 Satbel Centre

2 de Smidt Street

Cape Town

8005 13 December 2005

Dear Sirs

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS ON THE REPORT OF HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION OF NEW KLEINFONTEIN MINING COMPANY (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED (“NKMC")

INTRODUCTION

Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (“Aflease”) and Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited ("Sub Nigel")
have entered into an agreement in terms of which Sub Nigel will, subject to the fulfilment of conditions precedent,
acquire from Aflease all the issued shares in New Kleinfontein Mining Company (Proprietary) Limited (“New
Kleinfontein”) and all amounts due on loan account by New Kleinfontein to Aflease.

At your request and for the purpose of the circular to Aflease shareholders to be dated on or about 19 December 2005
("the Circular”), we present our report on the financial information presented in the Report of Historical Financial
Information of New Kleinfontein, included as Annexure 2 to the Circular, in compliance with the Listings Requirements
of the )SE Limited.

RESPONSIBILITY

The compilation, contents and presentation of the Circular and the Report of Historical Financial Information are the
responsibility of the directors of Sub Nigel.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial information presented in the Report of Historical Financial
Information, included as Annexure 2 to the Circular.

SCOPE

Audit - periods ended 31 june 2002, 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2004

We conducted our work in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing Standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financiat information is free of material
misstatements. Our audit includes:

- examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures of the above mentioned financial
information (including the evidence that was obtained by us relating to the audit of the financial statements
underlying the financial information);

— assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and

- evaluating the overall historical financial information presentation.

We believe that our audit provided a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Review — six months ended 30 June 2005

We conducted our review for the six-month period ended 30 June 2005 in accordance with the International Standard
on Review Engagements 2400. This Standard requires that we plan and perform our work to obtain moderate assurance
about whether the condensed consolidated interim financial information relating to the period ended 30 june 2005 is
free of material misstatement. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures
applied to financial data and thus provides less assurance than an audit. We have not performed an audit of the financial
information relating to the period ended 30 June 2005 and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion thereon.
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OPINION

Audit — periods ended 31 June 2002, 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2004

In our opinion, the financial information of New Kleinfontein for the periods ended 31 June 2002, 31 December 2003
and 31 December 2004, as set out in Annexure 2 to the Circular, fairly presents, in all material respects, and for the
purposes of the Circular, the financial position of New Kleinfontein at the respective dates, and the results of its
operations and cash flows for the periods then ended in accordance with South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice.

Review — six-months ended 30 June 2005

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the condensed consolidated
interim financial information of New Kleinfontein for the six month period ended 30 June 2005, as set out in
Annexure 2 to the Circular, has not been prepared, in all material respects, for the purposes of the Circular, in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”.

We draw attention to Note 1, which explains New Kleinfontein's transition to International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and that these condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with those IFRS Standards and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations as
adopted at the time of preparing these statements (August 2005). The Standards and Interpretations that will be
adopted and applicable at 31 December 2005, including those that will be applicable on an optional basis, are not
known with certainty at the time of preparing these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

Yours faithfully

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Accountants and Auditors

Sunninghill”
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Annexure 4

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The unaudited pro forma financial information set out below is provided for illustrative purposes only in order to
illustrate the effects of the acquisition on Sub Nigel’ results and financial position. Due to the nature of the pro forma
financial information, it may not give a fair reflection of Sub Nigel’ financial position or income going forward after the
acquisition. An independent reporting accountants’ report on the pro forma financial information of the acquisition is
included as Annexure 5. The pro forma financial information is the responsibility of the directors.

1. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005

New New
Kleinfontein  Kleinfontein
Half Year Annualised

Sub Nigel 30 june 30 June Sub Nigel Increase/
Before 2005 2005 After (Decrease)
R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 %
Revenue - - - -
Expenditure {3 528) (296) (592) (4 120)
Operating loss (3 528) {(296) (592) (4 120)
Mine development costs written off (24 229) ‘ (24 229)
Net finance income/(cost) 8 (58) (116) (108)
Loss before taxation (27 749) (354) (708) (28 457)
Taxation (54) (54)
Loss after taxation (27 803) (354) (708) (28 511)
Loss on sale of investment (397) (391)
Total (28 902)
Note:

The loss on sale of investment has not been annualised as it is non-recurring expenditure.

New New
Kleinfontein  Kleinfontein
Half Year Annualised

Sub Nigel 30 june 30 June Sub Nigel Increase/
Before 2005 2005 After (Decrease)
R'000 R'000 R'OCO R'000 %
Weighted average number
of shares in issue 70 092 409 104
Loss per share (cents) (39.67) {7.06) 82.2
Headline loss per share (cents) (39.67) (6.97) 82.4

Note:

The loss on sale of investment has not been annualised and has been excluded in the determination of the headline loss per share.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA BALANCE SHEET AT 30 JUNE 2005

New
Kleinfontein
Half Year
Sub Nigel 30 june Sub Nigel Increase/
Before 2005 Combined Adjustments After  (Decrease)
R'000 R'000 ~R'000 R'000 R'000 %
ASSETS
Non-current assets 7074 4731 11 805 321 361 333 166
Mining assets — existing 3492 3492 3492
fntangible mining assets
— existing 3 491 3874 7 365 7 365
Mining assets — acquired 321 361 321 361
Property, plant and
equipment 91 222 313 313
Investments 635 635 635
Current assets 1786 840 2 626 2 626
Inventory 53 53 53
Trade and other receivables 558 631 1189 - 1189
Bank balances and cash 1175 209 1384 - 1384
8 860 5571 14 431 321 361* 335792
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves 8 233 (4 529) 3704 329980 333 684
Share capital 35335 16 269 51 604 309 182 360 786
Reserves (27 102) (20 798) (47 900) 20 798 (27 102)
Non-current liabilities 1364 1364 1364
Interest bearing debt 278 278 278
Rehabilitation and closure
cost obligations 1086 1086 1086
Current liabilities 627 8736 9 363 (8619) 744
Trade and other payables 296 17 413 413
Provisions 150 150 150
Short-term loan 181 181 181
Armounts owing to Group
companies 8619 8619 (8619)
Bank overdraft
8 860 5571 14 431 321 361 335792
Ordinary shares in
issue ("000) 73 753 412 765
Net asset value per share
(cents) 11.16 80.84 624.4
Net tangible asset value
per share (cents) 6.43 1.20 (81.3)
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NOTES TO THE PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET

1.

The “Before the acquisition” column reflects the [oss and headline loss as extracted, without adjustment from the
published audited results of Sub Nigel for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and the calculation of the net
asset value and tangible net asset value per share based on the aforementioned audited results.

The “After the acquisition” column reflects:

~ the loss and headline loss per share that would have resulted had the operating loss per the reviewed interim
results of New Kleinfontein for the six months ended 30 June 2005 been annualised and combined with
New Kleinfontein's loss on the sale of investment and with the results of Sub Nigel for the financial year ended
30 June 2005, and on the assumption that the acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the
subscription shares on 1 July 2004; and

— the net asset value and tangible net asset value per share at 30 June 2005 on the assumption that the
acquisition was implemented and was settled by the issue of the subscription shares on that date.

In addition, the “After the acquisition” column assumes that all the intangible assets acquired as a result of the
acquisition are attributable to mining assets. On determination of the fair value of the assets acquired in
accordance with AC 131 ("Business Combinations”), the loss, headline loss, net asset value and tangible net asset
value per share may be subject to adjustment.

No effect has been given in the pro forma financial effects above to:

- the general issues of shares for cash by Sub Nigel subsequent to 30 June 2005, comprising an issue of 2 000 000
Sub Nigel shares on 18 August 2005 and a further issue of 9 000 000 Sub Nigel shares as announced on SENS
on 4 October 2005;

— the issue of 400 000 Sub Nigel shares on 4 October 2005 to S Ward in terms of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive
Scheme; and

- the vesting of 8 000 000 Sub Nigel employee share options on the implementation of the acquisition.

* This amount has been supported by the CPR prepared by SRK Consulting which was reproduced in the circular to
Aflease shareholders dated 5 September 2005 on page 175.
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Annexure 5

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE PRO FORMA
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

“The Directors

Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited
PO Box 262

Dunnotar

1496

13 December 2005

Dear Sirs

REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS REPORT ON THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION
OF THE ENTIRE ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF AND ALL LOAN ACCOUNT CLAIMS AGAINST NEW KLEINFONTEIN
MINING COMPANY (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED BY SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED (“SUB NIGEL")
(“THE ACQUISITION")

INTRODUCTION

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial effects and the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income
statement as set out in paragraph 3 of the circular to Sub Nigel shareholders, to be dated on or about 19 December
2005 (“the circular”). The abovementioned pro forma financial information has been prepared, for illustrative purposes
only, to provide information about how the acquisition might have affected Sub Nigel's financial information presented
for the year ended 30 June 2005 on the assumption that the acquisition had been implemented during that period.

Because of their nature, the unaudited pro forma financial effects and pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income
statement may not fairly present Sub Nigel's financial position after the acquisition.

At your request, and for purposes of the acquisition, we present our report on the unaudited pro forma financial effects
and the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income statement of Sub Nigel in compliance with the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited.

RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors of Sub Nigel are solely responsible for the preparation of the unaudited pro forma financial effects and
the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income statement of Sub Nigel to which this reporting accountants'
report relates, and for the financial statements and financial information from which it has been prepared. It is our
responsibility to express an opinion on the unaudited pro forma financial information and to report our opinion to you.
We do not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial information used in the
compilation of the unaudited pro forma financial information and pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income
statement of Sub Nigel beyond that owed to those to whom those reports were addressed at their dates of issue.

BASIS OF OPINION AND SCOPE OF WORK PERFORMED

Our work, which did not involve any independent examination of any of the underlying financial information, consisted
primarily of agreeing the unadjusted financial information to the reviewed consolidated financial statements of Sub
Nigel for the year ended 30 June 2005, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments, recalculating the amounts
based on the information obtained and discussing the unaudited pro forma financial information with the directors of
Sub Nigel. Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance with
Statements of South African Auditing Standards, we do not express any assurance on the fair presentation of the
unaudited pro forma financial information, other than the opinion set out below. Had we performed additional
procedures or had we performed an audit or review of the pro forma financial information in accordance with
Statements of South African Auditing Standards, other matters might have come to our attention that would have been
reported to you.
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OPINION

Based on our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:

- the unaudited pro forma financial effects and the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and income statement have
not been properly compiled on the basis stated;

— such basis is inconsistent with the accounting policies of Sub Nigel; and

— the adjustments are not appropriate for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma financial effects and the pro forma
consolidated balance sheet and income statement, as disclosed, in terms of section 830 of the JSE Listings
Requirements.

Yours faithfully

GRANT THORNTON
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (SA)

Johannesburg”
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Annexure 6

TRADING HISTORY OF SUB NIGEL ORDINARY SHARES ON THE JSE

The highest, lowest and closing share prices and volumes traded of Sub Nigel ordinary shares on the JSE, quarterly from
September 2003 to June 2005, monthly from September 2004 to August 2005 and daily from 1 November 2005 to
12 December 2005, being the last practicable date, are set out below.

The highest, lowest and closing prices of Sub Nigel ordinary shares on the JSE for each quarter commencing from
September 2003 to June 2005 and the aggregated quarterly volume are as follows:

High Low Closing
Sub Nigel Sub Nigel Sub Nigel
ordinary ordinary ordinary Volume
Quarter ended share price share price share price traded
(cents) (cents) (cents)
2003
September 50 22 34 4 426 208
December 41 25 26 1889673
2004
March 68 25 60 2 745608
June 182 60 98 5574 020
September 98 53 72 1171315
December 80 60 71 3 664 106
2005
March 75 55 75 3551490
June 100 70 95 28 371 274

The highest, lowest and closing price of Sub Nigel ordinary shares on the JSE for each month commencing from
1 September 2004 to 31 August 2005 and the aggregated monthly volume are as follows:

High Low Closing
Sub Nigel Sub Nigel Sub Nigel
ordinary - ordinary ordinary Volume
Month ended share price share price share price traded
(cents) (cents) (cents)
2004
September 90 71 72 223 784
October 76 67 70 633 945
November 80 65 70 1526 209
December 78 60 71 1503 952
2005
January 71 65 65 452 181
February 70 60 65 1017 815
March 75 55 75 2081494
April 90 70 78 7 954 386
May 88 70 86 18 410 468
June 100 80 95 2 006 420
July 115 88 93 7 441 901
August 145 88 136 3873722
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The highest, lowest and closing prices of Sub Nigel ordinary shares on the |SE for each trading day commencing from
1 November 2005 to 12 December 2005, being the last practicable date, and the aggregate daily volume traded are as
follows:

High Low Closing
Sub Nigel Sub Nigel Sub Nigel
ordinary ordinary ordinary Volume
Daily share price share price share price traded
(cents) {cents) (cents)
2005
November 1 150 145 146 259 272
2 145 142 142 52 828
3 146 : 140 146 263 400
4 155 146 150 142 500
7 160 147 147 19 850
8 164 154 155 287 500
9 160 156 156 138 137
10 164 142 150 136 280
11 160 155 155 7 400
14 158 145 145 30 080
15 154 148 148 80 100
16 155 140 155 51 000
17 159 150 158 71 450
18 170 ‘ 158 170 233 608
21 174 161 173 221785
22 185 174 175 79618
23 185 165 178 220 468
24 17 158 168 411708
25 168 164 164 16 127
28 170 164 170 213900
29 179 158 165 70 460
30 165 150 165 496 940
December 1 165 160 165 18 827
2 175 163 163 58 688
5 163 160 160 33 000
6 161 160 160 165 200
7 170 160 170 150915
8 175 170 175 89815
9 179 175 179 51 530
12 185 177 184 127 970
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Annexure 7

FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION FROM INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL
EXPERT

“Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited
PO Box 51004

Bakenveld

Witbank

1035

For Attention: The Board of Directors 12 December 2005
Dear Sirs

FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION REGARDING THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION BY SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING
COMPANY LIMITED OF THE ENTIRE ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF NEW KLEINFONTEIN MINING COMPANY
(PROPRIETARY) LIMITED, A WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF AFLEASE GOLD AND URANIUM RESOURCES LIMITED

Except where expressions are specifically defined in this letter, the definitions outlined in the Definitions section
included in the circular to Sub Nigel shareholders to be dated on or about 19 December 2005 and of which this letter
forms a part, have been used mutatis mutandis throughout this letter.

1. BACKGROUND

It was announced on SENS on Tuesday, 23 August 2005, that the Sub Nigel board had been approached by Aflease
with a view to Sub Nigel acquiring the entire issued share capital of New Kleinfontein, subject to certain conditions
precedent. As consideration for the acquisition, Sub Nige!l will issue new shares in the ordinary share capital of Sub
Nigel to Aflease, to the extent that, after the acquisition, existing Sub Nigel shareholders will hold 20% of the
merged entity and Aflease will hold the remaining 80% of the merged entity.

The rationale for the transaction is to create a new gold vehicle incorporating Aflease’s East Rand gold assets, which
includes the Modder East project housed in New Kleinfontein, as well as Sub Nigel's East Rand and Free State gold
assets. The new company will be renamed Aflease Gold.

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The transaction is deemed to be an affected transaction in terms of the Securities Regulation Code on Takeovers
and Mergers as its implementation will result in a change of control of Sub Nigel. At your request and for purposes
of the proposed transaction we present our report stating our opinion as to whether the terms and conditions of
the transaction, as set out in the circular, are fair and reasonable to the shareholders of Sub Nigel. Our opinion and
report have been prepared in accordance with Rule 3 of the Code.

3. DEFINITION OF "FAIR” AND "REASONABLE”

The term fairness can be understood to refer primarily to an assessment of quantitative issues. For illustrative
purposes, the proposed transaction would be considered to be fair to Sub Nigel shareholders if the dilution of their
existing holdings as a consequence of the implementation of the transaction is compensated for, or more than
compensated for, by the benefit obtained by existing shareholders after the transaction.

The term reasonableness can be understood to relate mainly to an assessment of the qualitative issues surrounding
the proposed transaction. Therefore, for illustrative purposes, a transaction that is unfair may still be reasonable, or
vice versa, after taking into consideration other significant factors of a qualitative nature such as Sub Nigel's access
to capital and possible alternative business opportunities.
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INFORMATION AND SOURCES OF INFORMATION

We have relied upon financial, operational and other information prepared by the management of Sub Nigel,
Aflease and New Kleinfontein and information from various public, financial and industry sources. In arriving at our
opinion we have, where applicable, considered, reviewed and analysed the said information. The principal sources
of information used in arriving at our opinion are as follows:

4.7 In respect of Sub Nigel:

the reviewed financial results of Sub Nigel for the year ended 30 June 2005 and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2004;

the current financial position of Sub Nigel on the basis of its latest available management accounts and
discussions with management;

management’s estimates of Sub Nigel's operating and exploration costs;
a review of the scoping study documentation with respect to the Sub Nigel assets completed in 2004;
the legal due diligence report on Sub Nigel prepared by Harrison Attorneys, dated 7 October 2005;

the historical share price performance and trading volumes of Sub Nigel shares on the JSE, with specific
reference to values and volumes before and after the announcement of the transaction;

all financial announcements issued by Sub Nigel during the last 12 months on SENS and in the press;

discussions with the directors and management of Sub Nigel on the rationale for and the terms and
conditions of the proposed transaction;

site visits to inspect the current Sub Nigel assets before the proposed transaction; and
the shareholding structure of Sub Nigel before and after the transaction.

4.2 Inrespect of New Kleinfontein:

audited financial statements of Aflease and New Kleinfontein for the years ended 31 December 2004 and
31 December 2003; ‘

reviewed interim financial statements of Aflease and New Kleinfontein for the period ended 30 June 2005;

the current financial position of Aflease and New Kleinfontein on the basis of their latest available
management accounts and discussions with management;

management’s estimates of New Kleinfontein's operating and exploration costs;

a review of the mine development study documentation on the Modder East property completed in March
2005;

the circular to Aflease shareholders, dated 5 September 2005, regarding the disposal of a 26% share of
certain Aflease assets to historically disadvantaged South Africans, incorporating a Competent Person’s
Report on the mining assets of Aflease;

the conclusions of the legal due diligence investigations conducted by Deneys Reitz Attorneys on New
Kleinfontein; and

site visits to inspect the assets forming the subject of the transaction.

4.3 In respect of the proposed transaction and the creation of Aflease Gold:

the legal agreements between Sub Nigel and Aflease governing the terms and conditions of the
transaction;

the Competent Person’s Report on the proposed share swap between Aflease and Sub Nigel, attached as
Annexure 8 to the circular, issued by SRK Consulting and incorporating the Competent Person’s
assessment of the most appropriate exchange ratio to apply in the transaction;

the envisaged operating structure and prospects of Aflease Gold as provided in paragraph 2 of the revised
listings particulars accompanying the circular and in paragraph 2.2 of the Competent Person’s Report; and
a review and assessment of the prevailing economic, legal and market conditions both generally and

specifically in the industry in which Sub Nigel operates (and Aflease Gold will be operating), as obtained
from industry and other public sources.



PROCEDURES PERFORMED AND MATERIAL FACTORS CONSIDERED

In considering the fairness and reasonableness of the transaction, we have performed the following procedures and
considered the following material factors:

5.1 General:

— we obtained an understanding of Sub Nigel's current mining assets before the transaction, management’s
current strategic plan, and the current Sub Nigel mine development plan;

- from the above, we considered the likelihood of the company's return to operating profitably given its
current mining assets and cost structure, and the risks and prospects of the current Sub Nigel assets as a
stand-alone operation;

— we considered possible alternative options and business opportunities available to improve Sub Nigel's
access to capital and viable resources and/or reserves, were the transaction not to proceed;

— we obtained an understanding of New Kleinfontein’s current mining assets, management’s current
strategic plan, the current Modder East mine development study, and the risks and prospects of the New
Kleinfontein assets as a stand-alone operation;

- we obtained an understanding of the proposed strategic and mine development plans for Aflease Gold
after the transaction, that is for the combined Sub Nigel assets and New Kleinfontein assets;

— we considered the implications of the proposed structure in terms of the value proposition offered to Sub
Nigel shareholders before and after the transaction, taking into account share price movements, our
assessment of the exchange ratio and the abovementioned procedures; and

- we confirmed our understanding of the above through discussions with management of both companies.

5.2 Exchange ratio:

- we considered the approach used by Sub Nigel and Aflease to determine the exchange ratio, on the basis
of which the number of new Sub Nigel shares to be issued for the acquisition has been quantified;

- we examined the underlying assumptions and methods used by SRK Consulting, the independent
consultant appointed by both parties, in determining the exchange ratio;

- we examined the conclusions reached by SRK Consulting as to its relative assessment of the Sub Nigel
assets and the New Kleinfontein assets on the basis of the total mineral resources of each, both with and
without allowing for the variation between the different classifications of mineral resources (using a
sensitivity analysis); and

- where necessary, we obtained qualified technical advice to verify the appropriateness of the assumptions
used, methods employed and conclusions reached by SRK Consulting.

Our investigations resulted in our opinion that:

- itis not feasible to perform a valuation of the respective mining and exploration assets because of the materiat
differences in quality and the insufficient detail of available information;

- the exchange ratio arrived at by SRK Consulting provides an acceptable basis for arriving at the agreement
between the parties; and

— the approach to determine the exchange ratio with reference to an evaluation by an independent consultant of
total mineral resources is appropriate given the circumstances.

LIMITING CONDITIONS

This letter and opinion herein contained is provided solely for the benefit of the board of directors and shareholders
of Sub Nigel in connection with the proposed transaction. This report is not addressed to and may not be relied
upon by any other third party for any purpose whatsoever.

Our opinion is necessarily based upon information provided to us by management, other industry information
available to us and the economic, financial, stock market, regulatory and other conditions and circumstances
existing and disclosed to us as at the date hereof. Accordingly, it should be understood that subsequent
developments may affect our opinion, which we are under no obligation to update, revise or re-affirm.
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We have critically evaluated the information provided to us and, where practically possible, have corroborated the
reasonableness of the information provided to us for the purposes of our opinion, including any publicly available
information, whether in writing or obtained in discussion with the directors and management of Sub Nigel and
Aflease. Nothing has come to our attention to lead us to believe the information is not reasonable. The terms of
our engagement and our procedures and enquiries neither constituted nor included an audit in terms of the
Statements of South African Auditing Standards in any way whatsoever. Accordingly, we assume no responsibility
and make no representations with respect to the accuracy of any information provided to us in respect of
Sub Nigel, Aflease, New Kleinfontein and the transaction.

Our opinion is intended for the general body of shareholders and does not constitute a recommendation to any
individual Sub Nigel shareholder as to how such shareholder should vote on the transaction. The decision of an
individual shareholder to vote in favour of or against the proposed transaction may be influenced by such
shareholder’s particular circumstances. Accordingly, shareholders are advised to consult an independent advisor if
they are in any doubt as to the merits or otherwise of the transaction.

7. OPINION
Based upon and subject to the aforegoing, we are of the opinion that the terms and conditions of the proposed
transaction are fair and reasonable to the shareholders of Sub Nigel.

8. INDEPENDENCE
Sasfin Capital is the sponsor to Sub Nigel but has no interest, direct or indirect, beneficial or non-beneficial, in the
shares of the Company, nor does it have any material interest either in the transaction or in the success or failure
thereof.

9. CONSENT
We consent to the inclusion of this letter and the reference to our opinion in the circular to be issued to Sub Nigel's
shareholders in the form and context in which it appears.

Yours faithfully

Sasfin Capital

(A division of Sasfin Bank Limited)
PO Box 95104

Grant Park

2051"
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Annexure 8

THE COMPETENT PERSON’'S REPORT FOR AFLEASE AND SUB NIGEL GOLD

AN INDEPENDENT COMPETENT PERSON'S REPORT
ON THE SHARE-SWAP RELATED ASSETS OF
AFLEASE GOLD & URANIUM RESOURCES LIMITED AND
SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Prepared for:

Aflease Gold & Uranium Resources Limited
&
Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited

Prepared by:

Steffen, Robertson and Kirsten
(South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited,
SRK House, 265 Oxford Road,
lllovo, Johannesburg,
Republic of South Africa.

Tel: +27-(0)11-441 1111
Fax: +27-(0)11-441 1139
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INTRODUCTION

1.1

1.2

1.3

Background

SRK Consulting (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited (“SRK”) has been commissioned by the directors of
Aflease Gold & Uranium Resources Limited (“Aflease”) and Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited
("SNGM") to prepare a Competent Person’s Report (“CPR”) on certain mining and exploration assets
belonging to Aflease and SNGM (collectively the “Share Swap Assets”) that have formed the basis for a
proposed share swap arrangement between Aflease and SNGM (jointly referred to as the "Companies”).

The Aflease eastern gold assets (the "Aflease Assets”) comprise:

+ A 100% interest in New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited (“NKGM”), which will be the
operator of the Modder East Gold Project ("Modder East”) situated on the East Rand. NKGM owns the
mineral rights to the Modder East, New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge Gold Projects;

+ Through its interest in NKGM, a 100% interest in New Kleinfontein Gold Claims (Proprietary) Limited
("NKGC"), which owns the mineral rights to the area known as UC Prospecting, which is adjacent to
Modder East and forms part of the Modder East Project.

The SNGM gold assets (the “SNGM Assets”) comprise:

+ A 100% interest in the Sub Nigel Mining area which includes the defunct Sub Nigel Mine (“Sub Nigel")
and Spaarwater Mine, and portions of the gold prospects known as West Vlakfontein and West Spaarwater,
situated on the East Rand (collectively the "Spaarwater Project”);

+ A 100% interest in the Ventersburg Project Area situated near the Free State Goldfields.

Rationale for Circular

Aflease has entered into an agreement with SNGM whereby the Aflease Assets will be reversed into SNGM
and merged with the SNGM Assets and the enlarged company will be renamed. The reverse listing of the
Aflease Assets will be effected by Aflease and SNGM exchanging shares at an agreed ratio, which is more fully
set out in the Circular and this CPR.

In accordance with the listing requirements of the JSE and the SAMREC Code, this CPR has been prepared
under the direction of the Competent Person (the “CP") who assumes overall professional responsibility for
the document. The CPR however is published by SRK, the commissioned entity, and accordingly SRK assumes
responsibility for the views expressed herein. Consequently with respect to all references to the CP and SRK:
‘all references to SRK mean the CP and vice-versa'.

Verification, Validation and Reliance
This CPR is dependent upon technical and legal input. SRK has reviewed the technical information as provided
by the Companies. SRK has:

+ Conducted a review and assessment of all material technical issues likely to influence the estimation
of Mineral Resources for the Share Swap Assets:

- Inspection visits to the Share Swap Assets sites between March and August 2005;

- A review of mine development study documentation on the Modder East property completed in
March 2005;

— Arreview of scoping study documentation with respect to the SNGM Assets completed in 2004;
~ A review of exploration work and revisions to Mineral Resource estimates up to August 2005;

- Discussion and enquiry following access to key personnel based at the Share Swap Assets and corporate
office;



- A review and, where considered appropriate by SRK, modification of the estimates and classification
of the Mineral Resources at the Share Swap Assets as at 31 December 2004;

— An examination of historical information and results made available by the Companies in respect
of the Share Swap Assets; and

+ Satisfied itself that such information is both appropriate and valid for the determination of a share swap
ratio as reported herein. SRK considers that with respect to all material technical matters, it has
undertaken sufficient investigations, both in terms of level of investigation and level of disclosure.

SRK has performed all necessary validation and verification of the information provided by the Companies
in order to place an appropriate level of reliance on such information.

1.3.1 Technical Reliance

SRK places reliance on the CPs of Aflease and SNGM that all technical information provided to SRK
at the time of writing is both valid and accurate for the purpose of compiling this CPR. SRK has examined
the processes used to estimate the mineral resources and comment on these is set out in CPR.

The information with respect to Mineral Resources for the Aflease Assets was prepared under
the direction of Mr C | Muller, PrSciNat (Modder East) and Mr P M Camden Smith, PrSciNat
(New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge).

The information with respect to Mineral Resources for the SNGM Assets was prepared by
Mr H G Veldsman (Spaarwater Project) and Mr A N Labuschagne {Ventersburg Project).

1.3.2 Legal Reliance

In consideration of all legal aspects relating to the Share Swap Assets, SRK has placed reliance on legal
due-diligence reports prepared under the direction of Mr Michael Harrison BCom. LLB, a Director
of Harrison Attorneys, and information provided by Aflease.

The reports by Mr Harrison provide “title opinion which is intended to comment only on Aflease’s
right to mine, and, as such, does not deal with aspects such as possible land claims, necessary surface
rights and environmental issues” and “identify the Sub Nigel Project Areas, and confirm whether
Sub Nigel has lodged compliant Prospecting and Mining Right Applications for the Sub Nigel Project
Areas, and comment on the likelihood of success of these applications”.

In respect of Sections 12.8(e) and 12.10(g) of the Listings Requirements, SRK notes that a detailed
statement of any legal proceedings that may have an influence on the rights to explore for minerals
has been included in the body of the circular.

1.4 Limitations and Reliance on Information

SRK's opinion is effective 1 October 2005 and is based on information provided by the Companies
throughout the course of SRK's investigations, which in turn reflect various technical conditions prevailing
at the time of writing. These conditions can change significantly over relatively short periods of time and
as such the information and opinions contained in this report may be subject to change.

At the time of writing no indication of the sensitivity of the Mineral Resources to commodity prices were
available.

This report includes technical information, which requires subsequent calculations to derive subtotals, totals
and weighted averages. Such calculations may involve a degree of rounding and consequently introduce
an error. Where such errors occur, SRK does not consider them to be material.

The sponsors for the Transaction obtained the following ruling from the Listings Division of the JSE Securities
Exchange (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited (“JSE”):

“| think it would be acceptable to only have the Mineral Resource estimates presented from Sub Nigel and
New Kleinfontein in order to demonstrate the share swap ratio. However, as suggested by Mr Demana, the
CPR should also demonstrate how the value of the Modder East Project {(which has been taken to a higher
level of feasibility) has been built into the share swap ratio.”

SRK has accordingly prepared this CPR in terms of disclosure for Exploration Companies as set out in

Chapter 12 of the JSE Listings Requirements. This CPR therefore does not cover any of the aspects related to
Mining Companies, viz. sections 12.12 to 12.15.
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1.5

Qualifications of Consultant

SRK is part of the SRK Group that comprises 500 staff, offering expertise in a wide range of resource
engineering disciplines. The SRK Group’s independence is ensured by the fact that it holds no equity in any
project. This permits the SRK Group to provide its clients with conflict-free and objective recommendations
on crucial judgement issues. The SRK Group has a demonstrated track record in undertaking independent
assessments of resources and reserves, project evaluations and audits, CPRs and independent feasibility
evaluations to bankable standards on behalf of exploration and mining companies and financial institutions
worldwide. The SRK Group has also worked with a large number of major international mining companies
and their projects, providing mining industry consultancy service inputs. SRK also has specific experience
in commissions of this nature.

This CPR has been prepared based on a technical review by a team of consultants sourced from the SRK's
offices in South Africa over a three-month period. These consultants are specialists in the fields of geology,
resource estimation and classification, underground and open-pit mining and mineral economics.

Neither SRK nor any of its employees and associates employed in the preparation of this report has any
significant beneficial interest in Aflease, SNGM or in the assets of Aflease or SNGM., SRK will be paid a fee for
this work in accordance with normal professional consulting practice.

The individuals who have provided input to this CPR, who are listed below, have extensive experience in the
mining industry and are members in good standing of appropriate professional institutions:

+ Michael Harley, PrSciNat, MSAIMM, MAusIMM, PhD;
+ Wally Waldeck, PrEng, FSAIMM, AMAMMSA, BSc(Eng), MBA;
+ Andrew McDonald, CEng, FSAIMM, MIMMM, MSc, MBL.

The Qualified Person with overall responsibility for reporting of Mineral Resources in this CPR is Dr M Harley
PrSciNat (SACNASP) MSAIMM, MAusIMM, PhD, who is.a partner of SRK. Dr Harley is a mining geologist with
15 years' experience in the mining industry and has been responsible for the reporting of Mineral Resources
on various properties in Southern Africa and internationally during the past five years.

The Qualified Person with overall responsibility for determination of the share swap ratio and the
compilation of this CPR is Mr H G (Wally) Waldeck, PrEng (ECSA), FSAIMM, BSc(Eng), MBA, who is a partner
of SRK. MrWaldeck is a mining engineer with 30 years’ experience in the mining industry and has supervised
numerous due-diligence reviews and various technical studies in Southern Africa and internationally during
the past five years.

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION AND HISTORY OF THE SHARE SWAP ASSETS

2.1

2.2

Introduction

This section gives a brief overview of the Companies and the Share Swap Assets including, the location,
historical company development, property description, and historical results.

Share Swap Assets and Envisaged Operating Structure

Aflease recently announced its intention to merge with Southern Cross Resources Inc., a Canadian mineral
exploration company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX"). The new entity will become Aflease’s
primary listing on the TSX, under the name SXR Uranium One. Aflease’s presence on the Resources — Gold
Mining sector of the JSE will become a secondary listing in the name of SXR Uranium One, subject to court
and shareholder approval of the scheme of arrangement. Aflease’s secondary listing on the NASDAQ
exchange in the USA will continue but in the name of SXR Uranium One.

Aflease proposes to reverse the Aflease Assets into SNGM. The larger listed entity will then be renamed
as Aflease Gold Limited.

SNGM is a public company listed on the JSE under the Resources — Gold Mining sector. SNGM proposes
to place the SNGM Assets into the new entity Aflease Gold Limited.

The Share Swap Assets and how they fit into the organisational structures of the Companies before and after
the proposed reverse takeover of SNGM by Aflease are shown in Figure 2.1.



The locality of the Share Swap Assets is shown in Figure 2.2.

Sub Nigel Gold Mining. . - Aflease Gold & Uranium
. Company Limited Resources Limited
Sub Nigel ‘M)o;dég"f East
Project Area & UCProject _ :
ity ! New
“Kleinfantein
Spaarwater. Kleirj‘figntlein‘] _ C'gld Mining
Project’Area Project Area’ " ompany
f _{Proprietary)
- Limited
Ventersburg: Tumbridge l ]
Project Area Project Area

Figure 2.1: Share Swap Assets and Organisational Structures of the Companies

2.3 Overview of the Share Swap Assets

2.3.1 Modder East Gold Project (including UC prospect)

The Modder East project area is situated at Latitude 26° 15'S, Longitude 28° 20'E on the East Rand
in the Gauteng Province of South Africa, approximately 30km to the east of Johannesburg and south
of the N12 highway to Witbank (see Figure 2.3). The Modder East Section covers an area of over
4 000 hectares of largely agricultural land, with the Daveyton township at the far northern end of the
property and Cowles Dam at the southern end. The UC Prospecting area is situated immediately
south west of the Modder East area (Figure 2.3).

An exploration programme conducted by Aflease between February 2003 and May 2005 identified
significant areas of gold mineralisation on the shallow Black Reef in the southern portion of Aflease’s
exploration area.

The Modder East project is the amalgamation of the old Modder East Mine and a portion of the old
Modder "B” mining title area which was initially registered in 1908 and ceased production in 1956.
The Modder East Mine was initially incorporated in July 1917 and production began in 1920. By 1933,
the milling rate reached 1 million tonnes per year, with mining occurring principally from the Main
Reef. In 1962 the mine was closed and most of the surface infrastructure was partly reclaimed.
No detail production statistics or records of underground work can be located.

During the 1980s a small reclamation mining operation was carried out at Modder East by Modder
“B" Gold Mines, a reorganised subsidiary of Modder "B” Gold Holding Limited.

The UC Prospect property, which is contiguous with the southern boundary of Modder East,
was initially registered in the name of Union Corporation (Prospecting) South Africa which was
subsequently amalgamated into Gencor South Africa Limited (“Gencor”). This property was
successively held by Grootvlei Proprietary Mines Limited, Harmony Gold Mines and Petmin before
being transferred to New Kleinfontein Gold Mining Co.

In 1993, Gencor (now Gold Fields Limited) drilled 10 diamond core holes on the UC Prospect and the
southern portion of the Modder East area to investigate the Kimberley Reefs and the Black Reef
to the NE of the Grootvlei Gold Mine. Seven of the boreholes intersected gold-bearing conglomerates
at relatively shallow depths {200 - 250m below surface) across the Black Reef with gold grades
varying between 1.4 and 31.2g/t gold over widths varying between 20 to 60 centimetres. Several
holes also intersected gold mineralisation in the underlying UK9A Reef of the Kimberley group.
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Old Gencor maps show that several other boreholes had been drilled in the area before the Gencor
period. Unfortunately, original drilling records have been lost and are not available. This includes three
boreholes drilled near the boundary between Modder East and UC Prospect by Harmony Gold Mine
in 1994 and which apparently did not intersect the Black Reef at the interpreted stratigraphic level.

in 2001, New Kleinfontein Gold Mining Co. drilled three boreholes (DD 1 - DD3) with two deflections
each to verify historical Gencor results on the Modder East project and investigate the Black Reef and
underlying Kimberley Reefs. The three boreholes essentially returned similar grades over similar
thicknesses and confirmed the potential of the Black Reef as an attractive shallow exploration target.
A further 18 core holes (DD4 - DD21) were drilled in 2002 — 2003 to investigate the lateral continuity
of the Black Reef away from the previous drilling. This drilling confirmed the lateral continuity of the
Black Reef, with several boreholes returning gold accumulations in excess of 1 500cmg/t gold.

In May 2003, a Competent Person's Report was issued by Camden Geoserve CC. on the New
Kleinfontein Gold Mining Company assets, including a Mineral Resource estimate prepared for the
Modder East property by Camden Geoserve CC. This Mineral Resource included a Measured Mineral
Resource component totalling 1.34Mt with an average grade of 7.7g/t Au and an Inferred Mineral
Resource component of 1.4Mt with an average grade of 7.0g/t Au. At the time, SRK did not consider
that the Measured Mineral Resource was appropriately classified and considered that this component
could only support an Indicated Mineral Resource classification.

During the second quarter of 2003, Aflease completed the acquisition of 100% of New Kleinfontein
Gold Mining Co {including Modder East, UC Prospect, New Kleinfontein Gold Mine and Turnbridge)
while exploration drilling continued to yield encouraging results on the Modder East project. In light
of these results all exploration efforts were focussed on the Modder East and the adjoining
UC Prospect properties. In December 2003 an initial resource model was reviewed by SRK and
engineering design studies were initiated.

In September 2004, Aflease resumed drilling at Modder East with the objective to infill and
expand the previously delineated gold zones along the Black Reef. By December 2004 when a new
resource model was commissioned, 7 additional boreholes (DD22 — DD28) had been completed.
Drilling continued in January through July 2005 and is ongoing. At the time SRK visited the project
on July 14 2005, two diamond drill rigs were active, drilling boreholes DD47 and DD48.

From information provided by Aflease, it appears that the only Black Reef ore mined on the Modder
East property is the 117 000 tonnes mined by Grootvlei in terms of the Tribute Agreement up to
October 2005.

A brief history of production and exploration in the Modder East area is set out in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: Modder East/Aflease - Historical development

Date Activity

1908 - 1956 Production within the Modder “B" mining title area.

1920 - 1962 Extensive mining of the Main Reef in the Modder East area.

1980's Small reclamation mining at Modder East.

1982 - 1991 Limited mining of Main Reef Leader by Subterranean Mining.

1991 General Mining acquires the mineral rights to the area.

1993 General Mining explores the Black Reef channel deposits, the Black Reef Buckshot
Pyrite Leader Zone (BPLZ) and Kimberley Reefs using aerial geophysical surveys and
diamond drilling.

1994 A number of holes drilled by Harmony Gold Mine.

2001-2004  NKGM conducted exploration drilling for Black Reef (BPLZ) and Kimberley Reef
horizons.

February 2003 NKGM acquired by the Afrikander Leases Limited, as a 100% subsidiary.

March 2004 Mine development study completed, to pre-feasibility study accuracy limits.

February 2005  Following further drilling, resource and reserve revised to include Channel Facies
ores.

February 2005  Aflease changed name to Aflease Gold & Uranium Resources Limited.




2.3.2 New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge Gold Projecis

2.3.3

The Kleinfontein and Turnbridge sections are situated some 10km west of Modder East near the town
of Boksburg (Figure 2.3).

Gold was first discovered at Kleinfontein during 1894. Gold mining began at the New Kleinfontein
Gold Mine, located on the northern flank of the East Rand goldfield, in 1897 and at the closure of the
mine in 1967, it is estimated that approximately 298 000kg {9.5Moz) of gold had been recovered
from 45.7Mt of ore, principally extracted from the Main Reef.

In 1999 an attempt was made to re-open the New Kleinfontein Gold Mine. Following rehabilitation
of the shaft infrastructure, small scale scattered underground mining and vamping began on the Main
Reef, with a production of approximately 2 500 tonnes per month from 5 shafts (No. 2, No. 4, No. 5,
No. 6 and May Shaft). This ore was initially treated via a toll agreement with Grootvlei Gold Mine,
an adjacent operational mine. In June 2002, a metallurgical plant was constructed at New
Kleinfontein Gold Mine, with a capacity of 2 500 tonnes per month. Due to various operational
problems and high unit costs of production arising from the low throughputs of ore in the plant, the
operation failed to achieve profitability and operations at New Kleinfontein and the Turnbridge
property were placed on care and maintenance in May 2003.

Gencor also optioned the Turnbridge project during the 1980s and conducted limited exploration
work before returning the project to New Kleinfontein Gold Mining Co.

At Turnbridge, several studies were completed to evaluate the potential of the closed mine which
is serviced by three shafts. The Glyn Shaft is an inclined shaft, whereas the No. 7 and South Shafts
are vertical shafts. Most work focused on evaluating the Glyn Shaft area.

One of the latest studies was conducted in 1996 by East Rand Proprietary Mines ("ERPM") and
considered the Glyn Shaft area. The documentation generated in this study included digitised plans
of sample data, representing channel sample data collected underground and recorded on statutory
plans submitted to the Inspector of Mines. This information was reviewed by Camden Geoserve,
on behalf of Aflease. In addition, some geostatistical studies have been completed to support
Mineral Resource estimates prepared for the Glyn Shaft area by staff of ERPM. ERPM also conducted
some resampling activities within the Turnbridge section and reconciliation data were examined by
Camden Geoserve.

A brief history of production and exploration in the Kleinfontein and Turnbridge area is set out
in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2: NKGM/Aflease - Brief History

Date Event

1894 Gold first discovered at Kleinfontein.
1897 - 1967 Gold mining operations on the Main Reef at the NKGM.
December 19271 Aflease incorporated as a company in South Africa.

April 1957 Aflease lists on the JSE.

1980’s Gencor conducted limited exploration work on Turnbridge.

1996 ERPM conducted some resampling exercises, data reconciliation and limited
geostatistical studies on the Glyn shaft, Turnbridge.

July 1998 The Klerksdorp assets are acquired from Anglo American Corporation.

1999 NKGM reopened ~ small scale underground mining and vamping.

2003 New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge placed on care and maintenance.

February 2003  NKGM acquired by the Afrikander Leases Limited, as a 100% subsidiary.
February 2005  Aflease changed name to Aflease Gold & Uranium Resources Limited.

Sub Nigel Gold Mine

Sub Nigel Gold Mine is situated at Latitude 26° 15'S, Longitude 28° 20'E on the East Rand in the
Gauteng Province of South Africa, approximately 1km northwest of Nigel and 10km northeast
of Heidelberg (Figure 2.4). The area for which a mining right application has been submitted covers
an area of some 3 020 hectares of largely agricultural land.
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Sub Nigel was originally established in 1895 on the farms Noycedale 191 IR and Droogebult 170 IR
and gradually acquired additional claims on Grootfontein.

Shafts A, B, C, B, CV, No 1 and Betty served the main producing levels, and most are still in usable
condition. No. 1 Shaft, about 900m deep, has now been recommissioned and licensed.

Sub Nigel mined the Main (Nigel) Reef, with very limited tonnages emanating from the Erosion
channel in the floor of the Main Reef.

A brief history of exploration, production and company development of Sub Nigel and SNGM
is shown in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3: SNGM - Brief History

Date Event

1895 Sub Nigel established.

1909 Commenced mining operations on the Nigel Reef.

1977 Operations stopped and mine closed.

1984 SNGM formed and acquired Sub Nigel Gold Mine from Gold Fields.
1986 SNGM listed on JSE.

1985 Mine refurbished.

1992 Placed on care and maintenance.

Records of the South African Chamber of Mines (Annual Report 1984) report that Sub Nigel milled
a total of 29.7Mt from which 466 tonnes of gold were recovered at an average head grade of 15.7g/t.
The first declaration of gold production was in December 1909 and the final declaration of gold
production was made in December 1971.

In 1984, the Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited was formed and acquired Sub Nigel from Gold
Fields. SNGM produced gold from 1987 till 1991. The production records within the SNGM Annual
reports list the historical production results for 1987 to 1991 presented in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4: Historical production from the Sub Nigel Gold Mine, 1987 - 1991

Year Tonnes milled Gold recovered Yield grade
(kt) (kg) (g/t)
1909 - 1971 29698.0 466 486 15.71
1987 80.7 315 3.90
1987 201.3 663 3.29
1989 202.4 667 3.30
1990 178.6 634 3.55
1991 289 91 3.16
Total 30 389.9 468 856 15.43

Spaarwater Mine (including West Spaarwater and West Vlakfontein)

Spaarwater Gold Mine is located immediately west of Sub Nigel on the East Rand in the Gauteng
Province of South Africa (Figure 2.4). Spaarwater comprises Mineral Areas 4 to 5 and Mineral Area 6
over which prospecting right applications of extent 2 643 hectares and 3 860 hectares, respectively,
have been submitted.

Spaarwater mine forms the western extension of the Sub Nigel Payzone with its characteristic
payshoot ore distribution pattern, and was exploited by means of Spaarwater No. 1 Shaft. Spaarwater
mined the Main (Nigel) Reef.

Spaarwater mine was operated between 1947 and 1969, during which 2.56Mt of ore was mined,
yielding 0.85Moz at an average head grade of 10.4g/t.

The only other known development at West Spaarwater is an inclined haulage from Spaarwater to the
southeastern corner of West Spaarwater where limited reef development was done.



2.3.5 Ventersburg Project Area

The Ventersburg Project Area is situated at Latitude 28° 05'S, Longitude 27° OO’E in the Free State
Province of South Africa, east and southeast of the main Free State Coldfields and approximately
25km southeast of Welkom (Figure 2.5). The Ventersburg Project lease area covers an area of some
11 000 hectares of largely agricultural land.

The area (located south of Hennenman), has been subjected to exploration core drilling by a number
of the S.A. Gold Mining Groups in the post World War 2 years. During the period 1948 — 1952 New
Consolidated Free State Co., Gold Fields Mining & Development and Free State Development drilled
some 17 holes in the Project Area.

After the commencement of the first gold production at St. Helena Mine in October 1951, exploration
drilling intensified, and since 1975 when Union Corporation and Harmony Gold joined the exploration
quest, an additional 60 holes were drilled, mainly in the period 1986 — 1991.

In 2004, Sub Nigel G.M. Co. drilled a successful hole WT1, which recorded an "A” Reef intersection
of 4.78g/t over 137.2cm, i.e. 656cmg/t at a vertical depth of 970m below surface.

In the northern area of interest, where a total of 49 of the grand total of 77 boreholes were drilled,
32 holes (65%) intersected the "A” Reef (Kimberley Horizon UKS), so that additional definitive
delineation drilling is considered justified.

A brief history of exploration, production and company development of the Ventersburg Project and
SNGM is shown in Table 2.5.

Table 2.5: Ventersburg Project — Brief History
Date Event

1948 - 1952 Drilling of 17 diamond drillholes by Consolidated Free State Co., Gold Fields Mining
& Development and Free State Development.
1986 — 1991 Drilling of 17 diamond drillholes by Union Corporation and Harmony Gold.

2004 SNGM drilled WT1 which gave prospective results.

2.4 Mining Authorisations and Mining Leases

SRK has relied on legal due-diligence reports compiled by Mr M Harrison of Harrison Attorneys on the Aflease
Assets and the SNGM Assets. To the extent that certain rights and authorisations for the Aflease Assets have
changed according to the requirements of The Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act, No. 28
of 2002 (“MPRDA"), SRK has relied on documentation provided by Aflease that the changes are valid and
correctly done.

In respect of the Share Swap Assets, SRK notes that the period for registration of land claims was closed
during 2000, and the process of Gazetting is dependent upon investigation and consideration by the
appropriate regulatory authority. SRK understands that the Companies have not received any information
to indicate that land claims have been gazetted against the Share Swap Assets.

2.4.1 South African Law: The Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development Act

The MPRDA was promulgated by the South African Parliament during July 2002 and came into
operation on 1 May 2004. The MPRDA sets out to “make provision for the equitable access and
sustainable development of the nation’s mineral and petroleum resources” by bringing the country’s
mining law up to internationally accepted standards. It is also expected to provide many
opportunities for recognised empowerment exploration and mining companies. The MPRDA contains
provisions that will preserve rights recognised or granted under the Minerals Act (Act No. 50 of 1981)
(the "Act”). This however is not automatic— in order to preserve its rights, the holder thereof will have
to convert its rights by following the process and complying with the requirements of the transitional
provisions to the MPRDA. When considering a mining right holder’s capacity to convert its rights
to rights in terms of the MPRDA it is important to establish that the prospective conversion applicant
held a right to prospect or mine under the Act regime immediately prior to the commencement
of the MPRDA. When establishing this, it is important to appreciate that, under the Act regime, the
holder of a mining right must also have obtained a prospecting permit or mining authorisation
in terms of sections 6 or 9 of the Act in order to have been able to exercise its mining right.
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This administratively-issued mining authorisation did not confer rights but was directed at regulating
aspects such as safety, environmental rehabilitation and optimal mining practice. The existence
of a prospecting permit or mining authorisation will perform an additional function when it comes
to the conversion of rights under the MPRDA because, as holder of the mineral right and a prospecting
permit or mining authorisation, such holder will be a competent applicant to convert the right
to prospect or mine that it held immediately prior to the MPRDA to a prospecting or mining right
as contemplated by the MPRDA. The conversion process is a far easier process than would be the case
for an entity that holds a mining right but holds neither a prospecting permit nor a mining
authorisation as such an entity would be required to apply afresh for a prospecting right or mining
right in terms of the MPRDA- in applying, however, such an entity would, for one year as from the
commencement of the MPRDA, be regarded as the exclusive competent applicant for the prospecting
or mining right.

The validity of a company's mining right immediately prior to the coming into effect of the MPRDA
is therefore important for two reasons:

» such right continues in force during the transitional provisions and therefore constitutes the
relevant company's right to prospect or mine during this period; and

+ such right qualifies the mining company as an applicant for the conversion of its rights to the new
form of right to be issued under the MPRDA. The MPRDA provides that these conversion
applications must be lodged within two years from 1 May 2004, in the case of a prospecting right,
and within five years from 1 May 2004, in the case of a mining right.

The legislation will enforce the “use it or lose it” principle of mineral exploration and development.
Government's view is that in order to redress the wrongs of the past, it needs to promote industry
to provide employment and to generate revenue for the country-wide Reconstruction and
Development Initiative.

The MPRDA seeks to address the issue of Historically Disadvantaged South Africans ("HDSA")
ownership. The South African government’s Mining Charter embodies the policy of facilitating the
transfer of ownership within the South African mining industry to HDSA within the next 10 years.
All stakeholders have agreed a target of 26% empowerment status to be achieved in a transparent
manner and at fair market value.

The Mining Charter also aspires to achieve employment equity and targets of at least 40% HDSA
participation in management within five-years, with 10% being participation by women.

South African Law: The Royalty Bill

On 10 March 2003, the Royalty Bill was released for public comment. The Royalty Bill is currently
being revised and the date of release of the revised version is unknown.

The Royalty Bill proposes to impose a 2%, 3%, 4% and 8% revenue-based royalty on the South
African base metals, gold, platinum and diamond sectors respectively, payable to the South African
Government. Under the terms of the Royalty Bill released for comment, the royalty is to take effect
when companies convert to New Order Mining Rights in accordance with the MPRDA, although the
Minister has indicated that the royalty is not expected to take effect until the transitional period for
the conversion of mining rights under the MPRDA expires. If adopted, the Royalty Bill may have
an impact on the operating results (technical) and will have a negative impact on the financial
performance and hence valuation of the Mining Assets.

Modder East Project (including UC prospect, Kleinfontein and Turnbridge): current status

SRK understands that NKGC, as the holder of precious claims, is allowed to utilise the surface of the
property for all activities necessary to prospect and mine for the precious metals in and on the
property. Nevertheless, Aflease informed SRK that it entered into negotiations with the Ekurhuleni
Council to lease or buy the surface needed for infrastructure and operations, but these were never
finalised. Aflease has the right to mine and extract gold from a number of properties that constitute
the Modder East project. The salient aspects from the legal due-diligence report are summarised
in Table 2.6.



Table 2.6 NKGM (Aflease) — Mining Right status

Property Name/No. Property Area (ha)  Mineral Rights Rights by Virtue of
Modder East Rights situated on farms: 5 930 unnumbered Licences 2775 and 2781; Plan
Klipfontein 70IR, Modder East 72IR, precious metal claims RMT No. M112/87 together
Cloverfield 75IR, Modderfontein 76IR with RMT No. M1/2001; and
and Welgedacht 74IR, Gauteng Region 3 989.2093 Deed of Transfer 29/2002

(1), (2).3) (4)

Mining Authorisation Mining Licence ML 15/2004
valid to 29/04/2008

UC Prospecting (Tribute) Rights
situated: Gedult 123IR, Gauteng Region Includedin 895 unnumbered Licence 2737; Plan RMT No.

ModderEast  precious metal claims M25/82 together with RMT
No. M1/2001, and Deed of
Transfer 29/2002 (@ ®.C)
Mining Authorisation Mining Licence ML 15/2004
valid to 29/04/09

Turnbridge Section Rights situated:
Rietfontein 115IR, Brakpan District 12359252 2 037 unnumbered Licence 2696; Plan RMT

precious metal claims M7/76, M34/82, 9202, 9204
and 9206 together with RMT
No. M1/2001;
Deed of Transfer 29/2002.
(1).(2). (4). (6).47)

Mining Authorisation Mining Authorisation
ML25/2002 in favour of
NKGM & &)

Kleinfontein Section Rights situated:
Benoni 77IR RE; Kleinfontein 67IR 79.5628 15 precious metal claims
Portions 252, 1 RE and 82 RE.

Mining Authorisation Mining Authorisation
ML 12/99 valid to 12/04/2009.
Mining Authorisation
ML25/2002 in favour of
NKGM & ®)

Total rights area 5304.6973

0
@

3
(4)
{5)
(6)

7

G

(o)

Does not contain any significant adverse or unusual conditions that may have a bearing on NKGC's mining right.

The Rights are subject to Mortgage Bond 8/2003 in favour of Nedbank for R75 million. The bond is held collectivety over
the Modder East, UC Prospecting and Turnbridge Rights.

Aflease advised that to the best of its knowledge, the State is not the common law mineral rights holder and accordingly
the State royalty is not payable {section 47(1) of the Act).

Aflease advised that there are no surface right permits granted over the Modder East Rights that may affect Aflease’s right
to mine.

Grootvlei Proprietary Mines Limited has the right to mine for a period of 21 months from 27 January 2004 a specific
section ("Grootvlei contract area”) of the UC Prospecting Tribute area.

While NKGC is obliged in terms of the Deed of Transfer to pay Gencor SA Limited 1% of the full proceeds accruing
to NKGC from any exploitation or disposal of all production derived from the working of the Turnbridge Section Rights for
the LoM, it is likely this obligation wilt fall away when NKGC obtains a mining right in terms of the MPRDA.

The Deed of Transfer places various obligations on NKGC with regard to rehabilitation of the property and imposes
provisicns in terms of which NKGC indemnifies Gencor SA Limited against any claims which may be made against Gencor
and which may relate to the activities of NKGC. The legal due-diligence report did not provide any detail as to the possible
quantum of these obligations and provisions.

NKGM being the holder of the mining right (by virtue of NKGC's written consent to mine) and holder of mining
authorisation ML25/2002 qualifies as the holder of an old order mining right provided it was engaged in mining activities
on the property immediately before 1 May 2004. NKGM will accordingly be a competent applicant for the conversion
of its old order mining right to the new form of mining right as contemplated by the MPRDA,

As ML25/2002 also covers the New Kleinfontein Rights, and in the absence of the underlying documentation concerning
the mining/mineral rights, the legal due-diligence report assumed that the mining licence was correctly issued and the
underlying mineral and mining rights are valid.

Mining Right: Aflease is able to mine on the Modder East and UC Prospect properties in terms of the
existing mining licence ML15/2004, which is valid until 29 April 2009 (see Figure 2.3). Aflease has
advised SRK that it is compiling the application for a new order mining right in terms of the MPRDA
and will submit this prior to expiry of the mining licence. Once accepted by the Regional Manager
of the DME, Aflease will have 180 days to conduct an Environmental Impact Assessment ("EIA”) and
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compile an environmental management plan ("EMP"). The mining right comes into effect on the date
the EMP is approved in terms of Section 39(4) of the MPRDA. The mining right, when granted, will
be valid for the period specified in the right, which may not exceed 30 years.

Aflease is able to mine on the New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge properties in terms of the existing
mining licence ML25/2002 (see Figure 2.3), which is valid until expiry of the ore or mining is no longer
economic.

EMPR: Aflease has an approved EMPR in terms of Section 39(1) of the previous Minerals Act. An EMPR
amendment and water use licence ("WUL") will be required once a number of aspects have been
addressed as part of the Modder East bankable feasibility study. Existing budget provisions for this
work are considered adequate.

There are historical environmental liabilities associated with Aflease’s operations within its licence
area. Aflease has an environmental rehabilitation fund which has been set up to address identified
liabilities. Any shortfalls in the fund relative to the liabilities would be provided for from operating
cashflows from the Modder East project.

UC Prospect Area and Tribute Mining Arrangement

Aflease’s wholly-owned subsidiary, NKGC, owns the mineral rights to the area known as UC Prospect
("UCP"). This area is adjacent to Modder East to the west. The Grootvlei Mines (Proprietary) Limited
("Grootvlei”) has a mining authorisation over UCP and has historically mined the UCP area under
tribute from NKGC. On 13 February 2004, NKGC and Grootvlei entered into an agreement in terms
of which, inter alia:

+ the tribute arrangement was terminated;

+ NKGC granted Grootvlei approval in terms of the MPRDA to complete the mining of a certain
pre-developed area in UCP. Grootvlei was allowed to mine approximately 117 000 tonnes of Black
Reef gold bearing ore in terms of the agreement;

+ Upon completion of the mining of the agreed pre-developed area within UCP, Grootvlei would
abandon all mining activities in the UCP area; and

Grootvlei would abandon its mining authorisation over the UCP area and support any application
by NKGC in terms of its application for a mining authorisation over UCP.

Aflease advised SRK that Grootvlei has completed the mining of the 117 000 tonnes of Black reef ore
and is busy with vamping operations in the mined area.

SNGM: current status

The legal due-diligence report by Mr M Harrison of Harrison Attorneys on SNGM's prospecting and
mining interests (“SNGM Legal Report”) states that, as at 7 October 2005, SNGM "does not hold any
Prospecting or Mining rights, but is only an applicant for such rights”. Opinions expressed in the
SNGM Legal Report are based “solely on the anticipation that Sub Nigel acquiring Prospecting and/or
Mining Rights ... [which] ... Is in turn dependent on Sub Nigel having submitted compliant applications
that are free of competition from third parties”. All applications submitted by SNGM have been
formally accepted (but not yet granted) by the DME.

The SNGM Legal Report identified a number of technical deficiencies with the various applications,
as follows:

+ The applications have been supplemented by the submission of later information and/or
documentation. Technically the DME could reject or refuse the applications where supplementary
information has been submitted. The DME however appears amenable to accept the
supplementary information from SNGM;

+ SNGM applied for gold and minerals (precious metals). This latter term is not catered for in the
MPRDA and exposes the application to rejection of refusal. In practical terms, the reference
to precious metals is likely to be ignored and the right issued for gold only;

+ SNGM still has to demonstrate acceptable black economic empowerment ("BEE”) credentials
in terms of the provisions of the MPRDA. SNGM advised SRK that it was BEE compliant at the time
of its application, but subsequently lost its BEE partner;

+ The title deeds for the land areas have not been submitted. However, the DME has not taken issue
with this defect;



+ Information relating to prior submissions has been relied upon instead of re-submitting the
documentation with the new applications. This appears to have been accepted by the DME;

+ SNGCM does not have a clear record of what exactly it has submitted to the DME. This could place
SNGM in a vulnerable position should it need to challenge or defend any adverse decision by the
DME with regard to its applications. Once the rights are issued, however, only documentation
related to the new order rights will be relevant.

The salient aspects from the SNGM Legal Report are summarised in Table 2.7.
Table 2.7 SNGM - Mining Right status

Property Name/No. Property Area (ha)  Mineral Rights Rights by Virtue of
Spaarwater Project:
Spaarwater Mineral Area 1 - 3: Unnumbered precious RMT diagrams M147/87,
Spaarwater 171IR, metal claims M66/81, M36/81, 25, 26,
Droogebult 170IR ), 45, 65, 3002, M2/86 and 31
Deelkraal 203IR, Noycedale 191IR,
Varkensfontein 169IR,. 3019.5830
Grootfontein 165IR Mynpacht Brief No. 660

Mining Authorisation Mining Licence ML 8/2003

valid indefinitely (but now to
latest 30 April 2009)

Mining right application
submitted on 22 April 2005
{not yet approved)

Unnumbered precious RMT diagrams M147/87,
Spaarwater Mineral Area 4 - 5: metal claims M66/81, M36/81, 25, 26, 45,
Zonnestraal 163IR, Vlakfontein 161IR, 65, 3002, M2/86 and 31.
Spaarwater 171IR (Portions 4 - 12) 26433042 Mynpacht Brief No. 660 Prospecting right application
submitted on 28 April 2005
(not yet approved).
Mining Authorisation Mining Licence ML 8/2003
valid indefinitely (but now to
latest 30 April 2009)
Spaarwater Mineral Area 6:
Portions of farms Withok 131(R,
Vlakfontein 161IR, Tsakane 260IR, 3 860.5435 gold Prospecting right application
Spaarwater 1711R. submitted on 14 june 2005
(not yet approved)

Ventersburg Project:

Ventersburg Mineral Area: 11 488.0660 gold Prospecting right application
submitted in September
2004, accepted October
2004 (not yet approved)

Total rights area 21011.4967

1. There is @ 235Sha piece of ground within Droogebult where SNGM have rights only to the Nigel Reef. The rights to the
Kimberley Reefs are held by Grootvlei Gold Mining Limited.

Prospecting Right: SNGM currently does not have any valid prospecting rights in terms of the
MPRDA.

SNGM was the holder of an unused old order right to the Spaarwater Mineral Area 4 — 5.
The application for a Prospecting Right over this area (see Figure 2.4) was submitted to the DME
on 28 April 2005 and accepted in a DME letter dated 9 May 2005. As required in this letter, SNGM
submitted the results of consultation with interested and affected parties ("IAPs”) and an EMP.
The SNGM Legal Report indicates that all aspects of this application have been accepted by the DME,
except that SNGM must still submit an adjusted EMP and proof of BEE credentials. A letter from
Aflease with respect to this latter matter has been submitted to the DME. The SNGM Legal Report
concludes that “all indications ... are that this application will be granted”.

SNGM submitted an application for a Prospecting Right for Spaarwater Mineral Area 6 (see Figure 2.4)
on 14 June 2005, which was accepted by the DME on 21 June 2005. SNGM has submitted the results
of consultation with IAPs and an EMP, as requi‘red. It is recorded that a second round of consultation
with the IAPs may be necessary. This application is not as far advanced as the application for

81



82

Spaarwater Mineral Area 4 - 5. However, the SNGM Legal Report states that “there is ... nothing . ..
to suggest any reason as to why this application should not be successful”.

SNGM submitted an application for a Prospecting Right for the Ventersburg Project (see Figure 2.5)
in September 2004, which was accepted by the DME October 2004. SNGM submitted the results
of consultation with IAPs and an EMP. The SNGM Legal Report indicates that all aspects of this
application have been accepted by the DME, except that SNGM must still demonstrate acceptable
BEE credentials.

Mining Right: SNGM was the holder of an old order mining right in terms of the existing mining
licence ML8/2003, which was granted for an indefinite period. However, the maximum possible
validity in terms of the MPRDA will be to 30 April 2009. As SNGM was not conducting mining
operations at the date the MPRDA came into effect, SNGM in its capacity as a holder of an unused
old order right submitted a Mining Right application on 22 April 2005, which was accepted by the
DME in a letter dated 28 April 2005. SNGM submitted the required Scoping Study timeously, but still
has to complete and submit the EIA, EMP and the results of consultation with the |APs. According
to the SNGM Legal Report, Umhlaba Environmental Consulting CC (“Umbhlaba”), a company retained
by SNGM, is confident that it will meet the deadline for submission of the EIA, EMP and AP
consultation results to the DME.

Umhlaba assessed the ground water impacts identified by the Scoping Report and the results will
form part of the EIA study. In Umhlaba’s opinion, there is nothing in the Scoping Report that
will present any problems to the issuing of the Mining Right. A positive social effect identified in the
Scoping Report is that the proposed mine will employ about 189 people.

The revised mining work programme (“MWP") in support of the Mining Right Application replaced the
original plan of the existing tailings dam and new processing plant with ore transported to the nearby
Grootvlei Mine for processing. The SNGM Legal Report states that the format of the MWP complies
with the MPRDA Regulations and addresses the relevant issues. Therefore, providing that the technical
content is sound, there should be “no reason as to why the [revised MWP] will be acceptable to the
DME".

The SNGM Legal Report states that the DME has apparently accepted SNGM'’s submissions with
respect to its financial capacity and technical capability.

Although the SNGM application did not demonstrate 26% BEE participation on the date of
submission {and is therefore defective), it appears that the DME has allowed SNGM to supplement
its application by fulfilling the empowerment criteria after submission of the application.

EMPR: An EMPR was approved for the Spaarwater Mineral Areas 1 — 3 and 4 — 5 in terms of the
old minerals legislation. Umhlaba is dealing with any unresolved issues per the existing EMPR in the
EMP to be submitted for the Mining Right application. Umhlaba expects that the financial guarantee
(R160 000) lodged in terms of the existing EMPR will have to be increased (to R600 000) once the
EMP for the current application is approved.



Figure 2.2:

Share Swap Assets — Locality Plan
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Share Swap Assets — Locality and Mineral Holdings at Modder East, UC Prospect, New Kleinfontein and

Turnbridge Sections

Figure 2.3
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Share Swap Assets ~ Locality and Mineral Holdings for the Spaarwater Project

Figure 2.4
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Figure 2.5: Share Swap Assets — Locality and Mineral Holdings for the Ventersburg Project
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3. GEOLOGY

3.1

3.2

Introduction

This section describes the geology of the mining and exploration assets, the nature and geometry of the
orebodies, and their structural complexity, as well as the regional setting of the deposits.

Witwatersrand Basin Geology

Witwatersrand Basin operations are mostly deep-level underground mines exploiting gold bearing, shallow
dipping tabular bodies, which have collectively produced over 50kt (1 608Moz) of gold over a period of more
than 115 years.

The Witwatersrand Basin comprises a total of 6km vertical thickness of predominantly arenaceous and
rudaceous sedimentary rocks of the Central Rand Group, and predominantly argillaceous sedimentary rocks
of the underlying West Rand Group, situated within the Kaapvaal Craton. The preserved basin, within which
these sedimentary rocks are preserved, extends laterally for some 300km east-northeast and 150km south-
southeast. The sedimentary rocks generally dip at shallow angles towards the centre of the basin though
locally this may vary. The basin sedimentary rocks crop out south of Johannesburg but further to the west,
south and east these are overlain by up to 4km of Archaean, Proterozoic and Mesozoic volcanic and
sedimentary rocks. The Witwatersrand Basin sedimentary rocks themselves are considered to be of the order
of 2 700 to 3 100 million years old (see Figure 3.1 for the general geology of the Witwatersrand Basin).
Orebodies exploited within the basin consist, predominantly of narrow (0.1 - 2m thick) quartz-pebble
conglomerate units that frequently display significant lateral continuity within local gold mining districts.

3.2.1 Geology of the Modder East Area

The four properties Modder East, UC Prospect (Tribute), Kleinfontein Section and Turnbridge are
located in the East Rand Basin, which forms part of the north-east quadrant of the Witwatersrand
Basin. The geological structure of the basin is relatively uncomplicated, and has a much smaller
impact on mining operations than in other areas of the Witwatersrand Basin. The major economically
exploited horizons in the area are, in order from youngest to oldest, the Black Reef, the Kimberly
Reefs, and the Main Reef. The Kimberly Reefs consist of a number of discrete quartz-pebble
conglomerate units. The major conglomerates in this zone that have been exploited are the UK3,
UKSA or May Reef, UK9B, UK9C, MK2, and MK1. Other reefs have been mined in smaller quantities.
All these reefs, except the Black Reef, are part of the Central Rand Group, and the Main Reef, the oldest
in the sequence lies within the lowest formation of the Central Rand Group, immediately overlying
the West Rand Group. The Black Reef forms the base of the overlying Transvaal Supergroup, and
is much younger than the reefs in the Central Rand Group. Figure 3.2 shows the stratigraphic column
for the Modder East Project and surrounding formations in the East Rand Basin.

3.3 Modder East (and UC Prospect)

3.3.1 Geological Setting

The East Rand Basin is separated from the Central Rand by an anticline, known as the ‘Boksburg Gap'.
East of Boksburg north north-west to south south-east trending synclines and anticlines are
developed within the Witwatersrand stratigraphy. These structures have played an important role
in the depositional history and distribution of the gold bearing conglomerates in the area. The Vogels
Fault is a significant left lateral strike-slip fault with a horizontal displacement of approximately
1 000m. Payshoots within the displaced Witwatersrand gold-bearing reef units can be matched across
the fault. In comparison to other portions of the Witwatersrand Basin, the East Rand Basin has had
a relatively simple structural history. The Johannesburg Subgroup in the East Rand comprises
predominantly quartz arenite and conglomerates, which occur at the base and the top of sedimentary
successions. The Main Reef occurs at the interface of the Central Rand Group and the lower West Rand
Group. Overlying the Johannesburg Subgroup is the Turffontein Subgroup. The most significant
economic unit in this package is the UK9A reef of the Kimberly group, occurring in the upper, coarser
part of the succession.

The principal target at Modder East is the Black Reef. The Black Reef in the area dips relatively
shallowly to the south at between 2° and 15°. It unconformably overlies Kimberly Reef sedimentary
rocks that also dip to the south. Three distinct facies have been noted in the Black Reef at Modder
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3.4.1

East. The Channel Facies occurs in incised channels cut into the underlying Witwatersrand Supergroup
rocks, and is thought by some geologists to have derived most of its gold content from reworking
of eroded Kimberly and Main Reef conglomerates. The channels tend to be narrow, with steep channel
edges, and can be locally very deep. The channels are frequently developed on older dykes, faults
or more easily weathered formations. The channels can also have exceptionally high grades in places.
The Blanket Facies overlies the Channel Facies, or lies directly on Witwatersrand sediments where
the Channel Facies is not developed. The Buckshot Pyrite Leader Zone facies (“BPLZ") occurs above
the Blanket Facies, and consists of well-packed, generally porous buckshot pyrite, interlaminated with
clean quartzite, and locally containing graphite stringers. The Malmani Dolomite overlies the Black
Reef. Figure 3.3 displays north-south and east-west sections though the Modder East Project.

The Main Reef has historically been the most extensively exploited reef package in the East Rand
Basin. The conglomerate is typically well sorted, and comprised mainly vein quartz pebbles with
abundant pyrite within the conglomerate matrix. Kleinfontein is located in the proximal portion
of the major payshoot, while Turnbridge straddles the margin of the pay shoot, and is further south
in a more distal environment.

Structure

The geological structure of the Black Reef in the Modder East area is thought to be relatively simple,
with shallow dips to the west dominating, and there is little evidence for large scale faulting in the
exploration area. A fault with a 10m downthrow to the east has been interpreted from the drilling,
and trends north-west to south-east, following the regional fault pattern. A number of north-west
trending Pilanesburg age dykes intrude along the regional faults. The footprint of the Black Reef target
and drill hole locations is shown in Figure 3.3,

Mineralisation

Gold mineralisation in the BPLZ is thought to be hosted within the Buckshot layers, either contained
in the buckshots themselves or occurring in the matrix.

Gold mineralisation is erratic throughout the Blanket Facies, with no clear consistently mineralised
horizons. The economic potential of this facies is limited due to the erratic nature of the gold
distribution and the low grades returned from samples of this horizon.

Black Reef channels carry highly erratic gold mineralisation in deposits of varying width, depth and
extent. Gold mineralisation is nuggety, and locally concentrated.

Kleinfontein and Turnbridge

The Main Reef has well defined pay shoots oriented roughly north-west to south-east and these
features are interpreted to be a result of channelised flow within an alluvial depositional environment
of a braided fan system. The channel thickness varies from a single pebble layer to up to three metres.
The conglomerate is typically well sorted, and comprised mainly vein quartz pebbles. Kleinfontein
is located in the proximal portion of the major pay shoot (Figure 3.4), while Turnbridge straddles the
margin of the pay shoot, and extends further south into a more distal environment.

3.4 Sub Nigel

Geological Setting

The Sub Nigel Gold Mine is located in the East Rand Basin, approximately 12km due south of Modder
East. The southern and eastern limit of the East Rand Basin is defined by the outcrop and sub-outcrop
trace of the Nigel Reef, which is the main mineralised unit of the Central Rand Subgroup of the
Witwatersrand. Within the East Rand Basin, the upper members of the Kimberley Conglomerate
Formation become poorly mineralised towards the south and are practically absent within the
Sub Nigel and Heidelberg areas. The Nigel Reef is the considered to be the stratigraphic equivalent
of the South Reef of the Central Rand area (see Figure 3.2). Within ERPM, the South Reef transgresses
its footwall towards the east, progressively eliminating each of the underlying reef units within the
Main Reef group. In eastern ERPM, the South Reef is the only developed mineralised unit that extends
eastward into the East Rand Basin. Despite this, the Nigel Reef has also been referred to as the Main
Reef within the East Rand Basin. Within this report references to the Main Reef and the Nigel Reef
should be regarded as synonymous.
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Structure

The footwall beneath the Main Reef within the East Rand Basin consists of a gently folded succession,
comprising a set of north-northwesterly trending synclines and anticlines. The New Kleinfontein —
Sub Nigel payshoot appears to be broadly coincident with a centraily located synclinal axis running
through the East Rand Basin (Figure 3.4). Within Sub Nigel, the Main Reef is developed on a grey,
banded shale footwall that is overlain to the west on Spaarwater by argillceous quartzites.
The payable area of Main Reef within Spaarwater appears to be related to the quartzite footwall,
as opposed to shale footwalls elsewhere. Within the majority of Spaarwater, the Main Reef
is developed above a shale footwall, but is characterised by low grades. To the north of Sub Nigel, the
Footwall Reef subcrops against the Main Reef. The middling between the Footwall and Main Reefs
is a grey shale unit, locally arenaceous.

The Vogels Tear fault, a sinistral strike-slip fault runs in an easterly trend across the East Rand
Basin, transgressing through East Daggafontein, Vogelstruisbult and Vlakfontein, north of Sub Nigel.
Within Sub Nigel and Spaarwater, there are a number of smaller easterly trending faults.

Mineralisation

Extensive mining has taken place on the Main Reef within Sub Nigel. Mapping of the stoping and
development that has taken place on the Main Reef within the East Rand Basin reveals the presence
of a south-southeasterly trending shoot, with 'a total width exceeding 3 000m, extending from the
New Kleinfontein Gold Mine, on the northern flank of the East Rand Basin, through Vlakfontein and
into Sub Nigel (Figure 3.4). This shoot consists, or appears to consist of a large number of individual
channels or mineralised shoots, with a prominent south-southeasterly trend that are closely grouped
within this main payshoot. To the west, this payshoot is bounded by zone characterised by low
payability on the Main Reef. East of the New Kleinfontein-Sub Nigel payshoot, an extensive area
of the Main Reef has been mined, including the Van Ryn Deep, Modder Deep, Modder B, Geduld, East
Ceduld, Grootvlei, East Daggafontein, Daggafontein and Vogelstruisbult Gold Mines. West and
southwest of Sub Nigel, smaller subsidiary payshoot areas have been identified within the Spaarwater
and Wit Nigel areas. These latter shoots resemble individual channels or channel complexes that
collectively comprise the New Kleinfontein-Sub Nigel payshoot. Within the Wit Nigel areas, the Main
reef is best developed within either laterally restricted erosional channels that have incised the
quartzites that are present within the Main Reef footwall, or within areas where the footwall consists
of argillaceous quartzites.

Locally, erosion channel features are encountered within the footwall of the Main Reef. These features
are incised into the Jeppestown footwall beneath the Main Reef. These erosional features are filled
with pyritic quartzites, quartzites and conglomerates; mineralisation is frequently restricted to the
pyritic quartzite fill within these transgressive, laterally restricted bodies.

3.5 Ventersburg Project

3.5.1

3.5.2

Geological Setting

The Ventersburg Project is located within the southern Free State, approximately 10km east
of Virginia and a similar distance south of Henneman. The A Reef and the Leader Reef are present
within the project area. These two reefs lie within the Turffontein and Johannesburg Subgroups
respectively in the Central Rand Group, shown in the simplified stratigraphic column in Figure 3.5.
The project area is approximately 15km by 4km in area; economically significant gold grades on the
A Reef are, however, restricted to a small area (approximately 3km x 3km) within the northernmost
part of the project area. Approximately 33 diamond drill holes, drilled by Gold Fields are located
within this sector of the project area; drill hole spacing is of the order of 500m to in excess of 1 000m.

Structure

The western boundary of the project area straddles the north-northeasterly trending Virginia Fault,
with the project area located within the northerly trending graben, bounded to the west by the
Virginia Fault and east by the Ventersburg Fault (Figure 3.6). The project area is transected by several
large-scale easterly trending normal faults, with downthrows to the south. The A Reef dips shallowly
to the west, east of the Virginia fault.
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Mineralisation

A single intersection of the Leader Reef has economically significant grades (WDR-1 intersected
a channel of 61cm, with an average grade of 22.7g/t), but falls outside the area of interest. All other
intersections of the Leader Reef have failed to locate economically significant mineralisation.

The A Reef is located between several tens of metres to over 100m above the Leader Reef.
Intersections of the A Reef within the area of interest yielded a range of results, from 0.4g/t over
a 45.7cm channel (0.4g/t on 45.7cm), to 30.35g/t on 27cm, 1.31g/t on 95.9cm and 4.98g/t
on 165.3cm. Most of the intersections occurred at depths ranging from 529m to 856m, although the
western edge is shallower (300 to 400m) and the south-western corner deeper (below 1 000m).
The borehole locations within the area of interest and a schematic E/W section across the area are
shown in Figure 3.6.

3.6 Exploration Programmes

3.6.1

3.6.2

Modder East

The boundaries of the Mineral Resource defined for the Black Reef at Modder East consist of
a “Shoreline” to the north, northeast and northwest, interpreted from the observed relationship with
the subcrop of the Kimbertey reefs in other areas in the East Rand Basin. To the south, the resources
are limited by decreasing grades. The resource is a direct extension of the Black Reef currently being
mined by Petrex at Grootvlei mine, to the west of Modder East and the UC Prospect. Potential exists
for an extension of the orebody to the southeast of the currently defined position. Higher grades
to the south could lead to an extension of the orebody in that direction. Additionally, to the north
of the currently defined exploration target in the southern portion of Modder East, previous drilling
has indicated the presence of a Black Reef Channel Facies targets in the northern and central part
of the mine.

Adjacent to Modder East, the Kimberley Reef is being developed at Petmin approximately 700m
below surface and has a dip of 10° to 15° At Modder East the UK9a Reef has been drilled and
evaluated between 290m and 530m below surface. It is possible that in future close-spaced drilling
from UK9a stopes may result in the delineation of similar channels on other Kimberley horizons. The
UK9c Reef, for example, is 15m to 20m below the UK9a Reef and is a robust large pebbled
conglomerate band approximately 1.0m thick. The UKSb Reef contains poor grade values, but the
UK9c Reef has been stoped in scattered areas throughout the Modder East property. The proximity to
the Black Reef will reduce the cost of accessing the Kimberley Reefs. The UK9c unit could be a mining
proposition where it is in contact with the underlying MK1 Basal Reef. The MK1 Basal Reef normally
lies 5m — 10m below the UK9. It is usually poorly developed, but higher gold grades exist in
conglomerates and in heavy mineral stringers. These conditions exist in places at Modder East, but
irregularity both vertically and laterally makes prediction of payable areas difficult.

The Main Reef has been the most important gold producer in the East Rand Gold Field. It is proposed
that should future Main Reef mining be profitably exploited at Modder East, underground access
would be possible from the refurbishment of a number of existing adits and shafts. A development
schedule plan from the previous owners exists and is currently being evaluated. It is proposed that
in 2005/6 the Main Reef Mineral Resources of the Modder East property will be tabulated and
included in the resource inventory. The present resource declaration includes no Main Reef Mineral
Resources. As part of the routine on-mine exploration, 25 diamond drill holes have been planned for
the forthcoming year. Including deflection drilling it represents 7 625m of drilling. A supplementary
programme totalling some 171 850m of diamond drilling has been designed to explore the potential
eastern extension of the BPLZ and UK9a Reefs.

Aflease is busy compiling a feasibility study on the Modder East project, which it expects will
be finished in early 2006. This is aimed to advance the previously completed pre-feasibility study
to bankable feasibility study levels of accuracy, confirm the economic potential of the project and
provide a document which will be suitable for raising finance for project implementation should the
study result be positive.

New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge

Two diamond core drill exploration holes have been planned in each of these areas for the
forthcoming year (included above).
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A preliminary exploration programme for New Kleinfontein envisages the use of regional mapping,
3-dimensional seismic surveying, diamond drilling, bulk sampling and underground reconnaissance
to evaluate the Main Reef resources. This is spread over a three-year period.

Spaarwater Project

SNGM has compiled a rigorous exploration program for the Spaarwater Mineral Areas 1 — 3 that will
lead up to a bankable feasibility study. SNGM contends that the project can commence immediately
under the auspices of the existing unused old order mining right. The programme is scheduled
to extend over 4 years and involve, inter alia, the following steps:

+ Underground access and equipping;

+ Regional surface geological mapping;

+ Target generation;

+ Reconnaissance and valuation — underground mapping, sampling and drilling;
+ Mineral resource determination;

« Trial mining and bulk sample;

+ Metallurgical and process testwork;

+ Ore reserve conversion and independent audit;

+ Pre-feasibility and feasibility studies.

Exploration of Spaarwater Areas 4 — 5 and 6 will be put on hold initially, depending on the results from
Areas 1 -3.

Ventersburg Project

The exploration program is targeted at a 13.2 square kilometer area containing potentially 6.6 million
ounces of gold on the "A” Reef auriferous horizon. The expected potential is based on information
obtained from 70 boreholes drilled in the past. The exploration program is scheduled to extend over
five years and involve, inter alia, the following steps:

Desktop study and data search;
+ Regional geological mapping;
+ Target Generation;
+ Reconnaissance and Valuation;
+ Mineral resource determination;
+ Geophysical Survey: Air-born Magnetic Survey;
+ Target screening and selection;
+ Metallurgical and Process Testwork;
» Ore Reserve Conversion and Independent Audit;
» Pre-Feasibility Study;
+ Feasibility study.

Exploration Budgets

SRK has examined the exploration budgets compiled by the Companies and these are summarised
in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1: Summary of Exploration Budgets

Item Units 2005 2006 2007 2008
Modder East (feasibility study) " Rm 5.72

Modder East Phase 2 Exploration o Rm 2.21

Kleinfontein & Turnbridge Rm 0.83 3.64 1.63 0.61
Spaarwater Project (Areas 1~ 3) Rm 6.25 9.98 4,66 7.58
Spaarwater Project (Areas 4 - 5, 6) Rm 1.69 14.97 17.51 6.80
Ventersburg Project @ Rm 1.82 21.51 470 4.20
Total Rm 18.52 50.09 28.50 19.19

1. Represents the period from june 2005 to March 2006.
2. Taken to run from June 2005.

The exploration budgets set out in Table 3.1 for the various assets appear to be reasonable, based
on the planned activities incorporated into the programmes.
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Figure 3.2: Simplified Stratigraphy for the Modder East Project
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BPLZ footprint, Borehole positions and NS/EW Projection Sections

Figure 3.3
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Figure 3.4: East Rand Basin - Extent of Stoping on the Nigel Reef
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Figure 3.5: Stratigraphy of the OFS Goldfield
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Figure 3.6: Ventersburg Project — Plan showing borehole localities and “A” reef sub outcrop position
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4. MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATES

4.1

4.2

43

Introduction

This section summarises the methods used by Aflease to derive and classify its latest Mineral Resource
estimates. It also gives SRK's comments and opinions on the reasonableness of these estimates and presents
SRK's audited Mineral Resource statements as appropriate.

SRK Audit Procedures

SRK has not recalculated Mineral Resource estimates for Aflease’s Mining Assets. SRK however agreed with
Aflease the process to be used to generate the resource estimates and has undertaken sufficient checks
to be able to verify the process was correctly applied. SRK has not independently verified the underlying
sampling and assay data.

The Mineral Resource estimates use the terms and definitions as set out by the SAMREC’ Code.

Modder East — Mineral Resource Estimation Methodology

Mr C ] Muller, an independent resource geologist on contract to Aflease, compiled the latest Mineral Resource
estimate for Modder East. SRK has not re-estimated the resource but has reviewed the data and methods
used by Mr Muller.

4.3.1 Drilling

The Normal drilling procedure used by Aflease for the Modder East project is to use diamond core
drilling techniques, and for the “mother hole” to be drilled into the BPLZ and the underlying Kimberley
Reef zone. The core size that has been used is BQ. The drilling of two deflections is standard on the
BPLZ and if the UK9a is identified within the mother hole, two deflections are developed on the UK9a.
The deflections are drilled using TBW core barrels. A down hole multishot borehole survey is then
carried out at 10 metre intervals giving data on both the mother hole and the drillhole deflections.
The drill collar is initially laid out using hand-held GPS instrumentation; on finalisation of drilling, the
collar is surveyed by a professional surveyor on contract to Aflease, using a differential GPS
instrument.

4.3.2 Sampling Method and Approach

The sample handling protocol is that core recovery over the sampled economic horizon must be such
that the recovered core, when sampled, is ‘representative’ of the unit for grade evaluation. Should core
losses be judged to be unacceptable, additional deflections may be drilled from the mother hole
in order to recover acceptable sample materials. Three representative intersections for sampling were
normally required from each diamond drill hole.

A unique sample number is assigned to each sample. Dips of geological contacts are measured
relative to the core axis and these data are recorded to enable a true sample width to be estimated
for each sample. The sample is then split along its length using a diamond saw. Samples are cut from
one side of the split core, with sample intervals controlled primarily by the geology. Samples are
bagged within heavy-duty plastic bags that are used only once and sent to the assay laboratory.

4.3.3 Sample preparation, Analyses and Security

Borehole core samples were assayed at the SANAS-accredited Anglo American Research Laboratories
(“AARL") using a 50g aliquot fire assay and an instrumental finish using ICP-MS technology.
For quality control purposes blanks and quality control standards are submitted in each sample batch
by the laboratory. Review of the analytical quality control data provided as part of the assay
certificate for all drill holes drilled between February 2004 and July 2005 shows that the data are
suitably accurate (monitored with SARM 54 and SARM 53 certified reference materials) and precise
(pulp splits done on 10% of data) to be used as the basis of a Mineral Resource estimate.

4.3.4 Data Verification

External to the AARL analyses, there is a small data set (66 samples) consisting of pulps recovered
from AARL and submitted to the SANAS-accredited SGS Lakefield Laboratories (*SGS-L").
Examination of these results demonstrates good agreement between the two laboratories results.

1 The South African Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves, prepared by the South African Mineral Resource Committee
(SAMREC) under the auspices of the South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, March 2000.
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SRK recommends that sets of pulp rejects be routinely analysed at an umpire laboratory to provide
an independent verification of the sample grades.

Data Quality and Quantity

A number of drilling programs have been completed on Modder East, targeting the Black Reef and
to a lesser extent the UK9a Reef. Normal drilling procedure is for the “mother hole” to be drilled using
a BQ size into the BPLZ and the Kimberley Reef zone. The drilling of two deflections is standard
on the BPLZ and two to four deflections on the UK9a. Deflections are drilled TBW size. A down
the hole multishot borehole survey is then carried out at 6 metre intervals giving data on both the
mother hole and the drillhole deflections. Gencor completed 14 drill holes in the area before 1993,
while Harmony drilled three holes in 1994. The positions of these holes are shown in Figure 3.8.
Also shown are the positions of the latest drilling in the series DD1 to DD28 completed by New
Kleinfontein between 2001 and 2004 comprising 28 holes, performed in three phases:

+ Phase?: 3 boreholes DD1 to DD3 (June 2001 - August 2001);
+ Phase2: 18 boreholes, DD4 to DD21 {October 2002 — December 2003);
+ Phase3: 7 boreholes, DD22 to DD28 (September 2004 — July 2005).

The results of the phase 3 drilling, specifically on the BPLZ of the Black Reef, together with the
reinterpretation of all drilling completed to date, has increased the resource base substantially from
that included in the 2003 Mineral Resource estimate.

The Gencor drill holes (14 holes in the 2873 - 3111 series) were analysed at Gencor Springs
Laboratory. The Harmony holes (3 holes prefixed with GVP) intersected a waste on Black Reef Contact
representing a palaeo-high with no Black Reef developed. The New Kleinfontein samples (Boreholes
DD1 - DD28) were all sent to AARL and were fire assayed using a 50g aliquot and an atomic
absorption finish. Aflease has continued to make use of AARL for the analysis of drilling results
at Modder East. The insertion of blanks and quality control standards in each sample batch for quality
control purposes is part of the laboratories standard procedures and the mine staff did not submit
any independent quality-control samples. The database results from DD1 — DD22 have not been
reviewed to examine data transcription issues, all assay data are provided electronically, but these
data are entered by hand into the drill hole database. The staff entering the data does pay particular
attention to the link between sample grade and lithology; quartzites are generally low-grade
or barren, whilst samples in which the presence of pebbles is recorded typically display higher grades.
The quality control results of drill holes DD22 ~ DD42 have been examined in detail. In addition to
their own standard reference materials, quality control procedures at the laboratory include the
analyses of replicate samples, prepared within the laboratory and representing approximately 10% of
the samples received. In addition, AARL participates in a variety of inter laboratory cross checks. SRK
has obtained all AARL laboratory certificates for samples analysed between February 2004 and
present. These certificates contain all duplicate analysis data, as well as laboratory returns for
certified standard reference materials, SARM 53 and SARM 54, respectively. In addition a set of
internal quartz blanks are also recorded in the data. SRK has prepared standard charts to explore the
analytical quality for this subset of the total Modder East data. SARM 54 is a low grade standard
(certified value is 0.21g/t) and the lab returns {total of 134 assays) for this material range between
0.16 and 0.25g/t, with an average of 0.21g/t. Within the chart, values sorted on date of submission,
using the laboratory sequence numbers do not show any persistent trends of value with time. SARM
53 is a higher grade standard (certified value is 3.99 g/t). The laboratory returns for this standard
include two anomalously low values (both 1.87g/t). Exclusion of these two values vields a data set of
134 samples, with a range of 3.58g/t to 4.35g/t and an average of 3.86g/t. The implication of this is
that values around 4g/t may be understated by approximately 4%. A plot examining reproducibility
within the paired data (original assay and laboratory duplicate) shows that 90% of the pairs report
an absolute relative deviation of 14% or less. SRK is of the opinion that the data quality is sufficient
to support a Mineral Resource estimate.

A subset of samples assayed at the AARL was sent to SGS-L for check assay. A total of 66 duplicate
assay values were provided to SRK for analysis. A scatter plot of the values reveals that the Lakefield
values are on average higher than the AARL values. Samples with low grades show relatively good
agreement, and the scatter increases with grade. A plot of the Half Absolute Relative Difference
reveals that many of the samples with large grade differences are high-grade samples. This implicates
the presence of coarse gold in the reef, which when using small sample aliquots such as are typical
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for fire assay, can significantly affect the grade of a sample by their chance presence of absence.
A Quantile-quantile plot, which compares the ranked sample values from each laboratory, regardless
of pairing by sample, shows that the cumulative histograms of the 66 assays from the two
laboratories are very similar in shape. A notable exception is one sample from Lakefield with a grade
of 112g/t. This is far greater than the next highest sample in the dataset at 40g/t. The average value
of the Lakefield data is over a gram per tonne higher than the AARL data, however, if this sample with
grade of 112g/t sample is removed, and the original assay from AARL, the average values of the two
datasets differ by only 0.1g/t. The presence of coarse gold in the reef might introduce a high degree
of scatter in the duplicate sample values, especially if the sample aliquots submitted for assay are
relatively small. The presence of such extreme values suggests that an analysis of the data to
determine the effect of capping certain outlier values may be merited.

For the most recent Mineral Resource estimation study completed by Charles Muller, the data were
acquired from Aflease in the form of Excel spreadsheets. The data from the 14 holes drilled by Gencor
did not contain the original individual sample values, but were presented as full reef composite values.
These boreholes were used only for the evaluation of the BPLZ where the mineralised zone is on
average only 43cm thick. Only 5 of the 14 holes contained a compaosite sample value for this facies.
For the Channel and Blanket facies, individual drillhole samples were composited to a 1m length.
The BPLZ facies was evaluated as a full reef composite.

A total of 19 boreholes were used to calculate a resource estimate for the UKSa Unit. Ten of these
holes were newly drilled and have not previously been included in a resource estimate.

SRK is satisfied that the assay data are of sufficiently good quality for use in Mineral Resource
estimation.

Orebody Definition and Resource Estimation

Previously the orebody was modelled as two separate facies types that were later combined into one
single model. The facies used were the BPLZ and the Blanket Facies. For this resource estimation, three
distinct reef types have been identified and modelled: namely the Channel Facies, overlain by the
Blanket Formation, which is capped by the BPLZ. Samples from the Channel Facies and Blanket
Formation were composited to a 1m interval. Based on examination of histograms and probability
plots, no anomalous grade values were identified that were considered to require cutting or capping
of grades.

A triangulated surface model was constructed describing the upper and lower contact surfaces for
each of the facies units. For each facies unit, the pairs of surfaces (i.e. upper and lower contact) were
then filled with model blocks that have been clipped to the wireframe in order to represent the
volume of this reef facies. These seam models (one for each reef facies) were then regularised
to 200m x 200m x 1m before grade estimation. Each block within the 200m x 200m x 1m block
model records the proportion or volume of each reef facies contained within each block.

Experimental variograms for the gold grade were modelled for each reef horizon. In order to obtain
a better estimate of the nugget and range of the model variogram in relation to the population sill,
data was used from an adjacent property to the south of the area being modelled. Close-spaced
underground channel data were available from this operation.

The variograms were assumed to consist of a pair of nested spherical structures. The drill data spacing
at Modder East is too widespread to allow the short-range structure to be determined experimentally.
Variograms from Grootvlei Mine have been documented and reference to this information by
Mr Muller was included in the derivation of the variogram structure for the Black Reef facies units
in the Modder East project. All variograms (i.e. BPLZ, Channel Facies and Blanket Facies were assumed
to have a relative nugget effect of 55% and for the first structure sill to have a relative variance
of 25%. In addition, the first range structure was assumed to have a range of 30m.

Simple Kriging was selected by Mr Muller as being the most appropriate estimation technique for the
widely spaced data used in the estimation of the Black Reef facies units. Ordinary Kriging and
an inverse distance estimation technique were also used “for comparison purposes”. Within the
Simple Kriging estimates, the gold grade values {g/t) were interpolated into the 3D block model.
The search ranges were set slightly further than the modelled semi-variogram ranges, although these
parameters are not specifically listed in the report. A minimum of 4 and a maximum of 40 samples
were used to estimate each block. A density (specific gravity) of 2.8 was assigned to the BPLZ facies
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and 2.7 to both the Channel and Blanket facies. In general, within the narrow orebodies such as the
BPLZ, it is more common to estimate the metal accumulation in preference to the grade. This arises
because the grade is not strictly a linear additive variable, whereas the accumulation is additive.
The consequences of estimating grade in preference to accumulation are that some of the local
estimates may be biased, but the global estimate is unlikely to be materially flawed. Within the
Channel Facies, the estimate is a genuine three dimensional estimate of grade into 1m high blocks
using 1m sample composites, so no problems are anticipated in this estimate.

Classification

No specific numerical rules have been applied for the classification of the Mineral Resources.
ft is stated that the classification of a Mineral Resource is a function of the confidence of the
estimate, including confidence in drilling, sampling, geological understanding, geostatistical
relationships etc. Aflease has listed the following aspects or parameters as important factors for
consideration in resource classification:

+ Sampling: Quality assurance and quality control.

+ Geological confidence,

+ Number of samples used to estimate a specific block.

+ Kriged Variance.

+ Distance to nearest sample.

+ Lower Confidence Limit (blocks).

+ Kriging Efficiency.

+ Deviation from the lower 90% confidence limit (data distribution within resource area considered
for classification).

Using the criteria listed above, the entire Black Reef resource at Modder East has been classified
as an Indicated Mineral Resource. Based on the criteria above Inferred Mineral Resources could be
delineated adjacent to but beyond those classed as Indicated. However, resources tabled were
restricted to the areas close to sample (drilling) information. SRK is of the opinion that the
classification applied is valid, especially when the adjacent mining areas are included within the
consideration of the continuity of the mineralisation within the diamond drill hotes.

The UK9a Mineral Resource has been classified as an Inferred Mineral Resource and is reported over
a minimum mining width of 1m.

Selective Mining Units

Initial grade interpolation was done on a 200m x 200m x 1m block size because the average spacing
of data was approximately 300m. It has been proposed that when mining takes place information will
be available on @ much smaller grid. In order to take this into effect, the interpolated results were
post-processed using an indirect change of support process that is based on a two parameter
log-normal sample distribution and uses the Simple Kriged block estimate as the local mean
of a distribution of selective mining units. The distribution of the SMUs is derived from the
distributional model and consideration of the dispersion variance; once available, this distribution can
be interrogated at a specific cut-off to predict the proportion of the block above the cut-off and the
grade of this proportion of the block. The resources compiled by Mr Muller were quoted above the
following grade cut-off values: Channel Facies 0.92g/t, Blanket Formation Og/t, BPLZ Facies 1.28g/t.
After grade interpolation was completed the structural block model and the grade model were
combined into one model with a block size of 25m x 25m x 1m.The tonnage proportions in the grade
model were recalculated for the smaller block size.

SRK is of the opinion that this resource estimate, estimated to represent resource blocks of
25m x 25m x 1m, will not be achievable in practice. This opinion is based on an assessment of the
anticipated mining practice and consideration of what information will be available and when, in the
mining cycle, this information is accessible. Using a larger block size for reporting grades and tonnages
above a cut-off will result in the reported tonnage increasing and the grade decreasing slightly.
SRK considers it likely that, as for the resource values calculated for the Bonanza Project, the selection
of blocks of approximately 90m x 90m will be more achievable, since this dimension more closely
replicates the raise spacing that might be applicable to the mining of this Mineral Resource. For the
Modder East Mineral Resource estimate, the estimates were presented as 20m x 20m blocks, derived
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from post-processing of original 200m x 200m block estimates. In order to recast the estimates
as 90m x 90m block estimates, SRK has increased the tonnages for each facies above their respective
cut-off grades by 6% and has decreased the grade by 5%, in a proportion similar to that calculated
for the Bonanza South resource estimates.

Grade Reconciliation

Descriptive sample statistics were presented for each facies within each domain. The resource
statement, however, has tabled a mean grade value for each facies, each at a slightly different cut-off
value.

4.3.70 UK9a Orebody Definition and Resource Estimation

4.4.1

A total of 19 holes were used to calculate the resource for the UK9a. Six of these are newly drilled
holes that have not participated in previous resource estimates. An attempt to delineate a branched
channel geometry was made using the drill hole data. Eight of the drill holes were determined to fall
within the channel(s), the remainder was located outside the channel features.

A composite gold grade and channel width was interpolated using an Inverse Distance Cubed
weighting process within the inferred UKSa channel feature. The block model was two dimensional
with a block size of 200m x 200m. The interpolated channel width and an SG of 2.7 were used for the
estimation of the in sitv tonnage within the channel features.

For the conversion of the in situ estimate to a mining resource, a 1m stope width was applied and
external dilution inctuded within this mining cut was added to the channel tonnes. In addition, a cut-
off of 2.42g/t cut-off was applied and it was assumed that only 70% of the channel material could
be identified or located.

SRK considers that the modelling methodology as described is reasonable, although it would probably
have been preferable to interpolate metal accumulation and channel width and recover the estimated
channel grades from the quotient of these two estimates. Additionally the channel location and
continuity cannot be reliably determined from the existing drill hole coverage. The classification
of an Inferred Mineral Resource adequately reflects the large uncertainty in this estimate.

4.4 UC Prospect, Kleinfontein and Turnbridge ~ Mineral Resource Estimation Methodology

Data Quality and Quantity

Over 19 000 underground sample sections exist for the Black Reef in the UC Prospect and 8 Shaft
areas in the same facies as the Modder East section. The sampling was done on a 6 x 6 m grid
by Petrex. The geostatistical characteristics of the reef are therefore well understood. SRK has not
audited the sampling practices and methodologies used in this area, however they were
independently audited by Mr P Camden-Smith, PrSciNat in 2003, and were found to be acceptable.

Kleinfontein is a mature operation in which operations comprised mining of remnants and pillars, and
vamping. There are no standard procedures for sampling and evaluation of the material mined,
although the 15 kg mono winch collection bags were sampled to calculate a delivered grade from
each shaft, and were also used as a guide to terminating mining in low-grade areas. Fifteen drill holes
were completed into remnant and unmined areas. There are insufficient drill hole data of sufficient
quality to calculate a robust in situ grade estimate using geostatistics or similar techniques.
The resource is based on the following factors:

+ Kleinfontein is a pillar mine, and has a wealth of historical production data surrounding the
mineable remnants. ‘

The geology of the area is well understood; the section is located in the proximal area of the
northwest southeast pay zone,

» Similar practice has been used in the area by many small operations and the grades achieved are
similar to those achieved when the mine was in full production.

Turnbridge similarly has a lack of verifiable sampling data, but lies adjacent to Kleinfontein, and
is considered an extension to that orebody. Historic values used in the estimation were derived
from 1:1 000 Government plans, and the correlation between historic and recent sampling is reported
to be good.



No additional work has been undertaken on the Turnbridge property since the original documentation
of this Mineral Resource. Given the long lead time that would be required to undertake any additional
verification work on the Mineral Resources, it is considered prudent to reclassify the Indicated
component of this Mineral Resource to Inferred.

4.4.2 Orebody Definition and Resource Estimation

No detailed audit of the resource generation process was undertaken for these projects, as neither
of them form part of any immediate mining plan. The Mineral Resource estimates for Kleinfontein are
based on a March 2000 report compiled by C L Engelbrecht (M.Sc, MSAIMM) and audited and
modified by Mr Camden Smith. The estimate is based on; production figures on the mine from 1864
till 1998, fifteen prospect drill holes, location of the claims relative to the Main and 60m Leader Reef
payshoots, and results of check samples taken underground.

4.5 Sub Nigel — Mineral Resource Estimation Methodology

Sub Nigel was operated by Gold Fields until its closure in 1971. The Sub Nigel Gold Mining company was
incorporated in 1984 and acquired the Sub Nigel Mine from Gold Fields. During the period 1985 till 1992,
the mine was refurbished and operated by Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited. The assets of SNGM
include Sub Nigel, the adjacent Spaarwater Gold Mine and the Ventersburg Exploration project, located in the
Southern Free State,

In 1994, a Mining Feasibility Study Report was issued that reported “reserves” for the Sub Nigel Mine.
These “reserves” are actually equivalent to the current definition of Mineral Resources, since they represent
in situ tonnages of material that is considered economically extractable. Resources have been quoted for the
Main Reef and for Erosion Channel mineralisation beneath the Main Reef. This 1994 report post-dates
a number of previous reports that were compiled by geologists including staff of Gold Fields as well
as geologists employed by SNGM. The resources reported in the 1994 study have been presented within the
“proven”, “probable” and “"possible” groupings. Clearly these are inconsistent with the current SAMREC
definitions and guidelines and it has been necessary to re-consider the appropriate classification for these
resources. in addition to the Resources on Sub Nigel, Mineral Resources have also been estimated for the
Spaarwater Mine, presented in a report by Campbelt (1989).

4.5.1 Drilling

Pyritic quartzites within erosion channel features in the footwall of the Main Reef have been
mined sporadically by Sub Nigel and in the late 1980's underground drilling identified three auriferous
units within a thick conglomeratic dominated erosion channel feature. SRK were unable to locate
details of the drilling methods and sampling and analytical techniques employed in this sampling
program. Neither are there any detailed records of quality control processes employed in the
laboratory responsible for anatysis. Gold Fields have made the drill logs of 39 surface diamond drill
holes available, covering the northern sector of the Ventersburg project. The drill hole logs are
of variable levels of detail and completeness and most present records of incomplete analytical data.
The available grade data show a range of grade values between 1g/t and 7g/t over stope widths
of at least 100cm.

4.5.2 Sampling Method and Approach

Conventional channel sampling was been employed within the stoping and on-reef development
environments to derive local grades. The Main Reef typically has a channel width that varies between
15cm and 65c¢m, with the mineralised units clearly identifiable. The footwall is a distinctive grey
banded shale unit.

4.5.3 Sample preparation, Analyses and Security

The entire sampling database, which forms the basis of the Resource estimates, consists of historic
information that include sampling data generated by SNGM, as well as some historic sample results
from Gold Fields mining results. It is assumed that the sample preparation methods, as well as the
analytical techniques and typical security procedures attendant on the sampling would have followed
industry norms of the day; these features of the data are very poorly documented. Typically the mine
would have a sampling department that would be responsible for all underground sampling activities
under the direction of the Mine Survey department. Samples collected underground would be carried
in either rucksacks or possibly rubber “elephant foot” bags by the samplers to the mine head and from
there delivered to the assay laboratory. Assay methods of the day almost exclusively consisted of fire-
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assay, with samples crushed in a jaw crusher and pulverised using disk pulverisers (e.g. Keegor vertical
spindle mills). Assay finish was gravimetric, resulting in a practical detection limit of approximately
0.7g/t. At this time, responsibility for analytical accuracy and precision was abdicated to the
Laboratory Manager and it was unusual for the geological department to send any quality control
samples to the laboratory.

Data Verification

No systematic program of data verification has been undertaken or planned. The Mineral Resource
estimates reported within the 1994 Feasibility Study have an average grade of 5.6g/t. This value
is similar to the head grades reported within the 1987 — 1988 SNGM annual reports.

Within the 1986 Prospectus issued by SNGM, Table 11l/9 lists 26 paired sample values assayed
by Sub Nigel and by Gold Fields, although the source of the sample materials are not described.
There is a fairly wide scatter between the two data sets; on average the Sub Nigel data are
approximately 13% higher than the Gold Fields data.

Data Quality and Quantity

The Erosion Channel resources on Sub Nigel are based on a development intersection within the
17"/ Level reef drive and three underground diamond drill holes. The quality of the assay data are
unknown since there are no quality control data relevant for this particular sampling campaign and
the quantity of information is inadequate to appropriately delineate a high-quality Mineral Resource
estimate.

Estimates of the Mineral Resources on the Main Reef include block estimates containing and
immediately adjacent to underground channel sampling data, both within stopes and within reef
drives. These estimates are reasonably well serviced with data, albeit of indeterminate quality.
One group of Mineral Resources has also been delineated in areas within 30m of sample localities;
these were represented by the term “probable reserves”. Finally, estimates based on extrapolation
of geological evidence were termed "possible reserves”. The quantity of data and in particular the
local quantity that services the Mineral Resource estimate, is variable and is the basis of the
subdivision of the “reserves” into confidence-related groupings. However the quality of these data
is, as stated previously, unknown.

Orebody Definition and Resource Estimation

The Main Reef is defined on its footwall by a sharp contact between the small-pebble conglomerate
that characterises the Main Reef and the shale footwall. The upper contact of the conglomerate with
the hangingwall quartzites is also a well defined, visible contact. The Erosion channel mineralisation
is less well defined, within these features, well developed conglomerate bodies may exist, yet
sampling reveals that they are poorly mineralised. Pyritic quartzite units within the erosion channel
fill, in contrast, may be highly mineralised. The erosion channel environment is inherently more
difficult and complicated from the perspective of defining the limits of the mineralisation. Details of
the estimation methods applied to derive the 1994 Mineral Resources are poorly recorded within the
document in which these results are reported. The estimates do not appear to have been derived
using geostatistical methods, instead it appears that local averaging of sample values (accumulation
and mineralised width) have been used to derive the grade estimates. A constant density value also
appears to be applied to convert mineralised volumes to in situ tonnage estimates.

Within the Spaarwater Mine, Mineral Resources have been estimated around underground
development and reported by Campbell (1989). Resource blocks have been drawn around the
developments, with block margins placed on projected payshoot boundaries. This may result
in a strike projection beyond the development end of as much as 85m. Blocks have been projected
parallel to the payshoot directions, up to 35m from the developments. These blocks have been
classified as “measured” resources by Campbell. Blocks between the “measured” blocks have also been
estimated; these blocks are not informed by any sample grade data and are extrapolations of the
adjacent estimated block grades. A large "“inferred” mineral resource was estimated between the two
known payshoots based on an assumed payability of 20%. De Jager (1986) has indicated that
extensive development between the payshoots failed to locate payable reef, accordingly it was
decided to exclude these inferred Mineral resources from subsequent studies. Minor resources on the
erosion channel beneath the Main Reef have been included within the resource estimates, as have
minor tonnages on the Kimberley and Footwall Reef (FWR). in all cases effort has been taken
to ensure that Mineral Resources within Sub Nigel and Spaarwater are only reported above 21 Level,
which coincides with the estimated water table.



4.5.7 Classification

The 1994 Mineral Resources have been described using terms that are inconsistent with the
definitions and guidelines of the SAMREC Code - these estimates predate the SAMREC Code.
From the perspective of the data available and in particular the lack of quality indicators attached
to sample data, the Sub Nigel Mineral Resources have many of the limitations that apply to the
Mineral Resources that have been presented for the Turnbridge and New Kleinfontein assets
of Aflease:

+ the basis of the estimates of Mineral Resources at Sub Nigel and Spaarwater Gold Mines is a set
of unverified historic data of unknown analytical quality;

+ the Resource estimates are not based on modern geostatistical approaches, but rely on older, more
traditional methods, including stretch averages and local mean estimates based on channel
samples;

+ the Resources represent, in the most part, pillars and remnant blocks on the Main Reef (this is the
same reef as the Main Reef at New Kleinfontein — Turnbridge), with some erosion channel
mineralisation present at Sub Nigel. A very minor component of the Resources within Spaarwater
Gold Mine consists of Kimberley Reef and Footwall Reef beneath the Main Reef.

SRK considers that the appropriate classification for the Sub Nigel Mineral Resources, in a manner
consistent with the treatment of the New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge area is that of Inferred Mineral
Resources. Although previous estimates of Mineral Resources for Spaarwater Gold Mine have been
classified as Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources, the data that form the basis of these
estimates cannot be verified, neither are details of data quality available. SRK consider that these
estimates are also most appropriately classified as Inferred Mineral Resources.

4.6 Ventersburg Project — Mineral Resource Estimation Methodology

With respect to the Ventersburg project, SRK does not consider that Mineral Resources may be estimated.
The continuity of geological features that control gold distribution is poorly known from the widely spaced
drilling data. Quality indicators for the drilling, including survey and collar location check data, as well
as analytical quality control data are not available. The average grade of the mineralisation appears to be of
the order of 3g/t at a depth of approximately 800m below surface. It is unlikely that this material, assuming
it could be estimated with some level of confidence, would even fulfil the definition of a Mineral Resource.

4.7 SRK Mineral Resource Statements

Tables 4.1 to 4.4 reflect the SRK Audited Mineral Resources for the Share Swap Assets. No resources are
declared for the Ventersburg Project.

Table 4.1: Modder East Project — Audited Mineral Resource Statement

Mineral resources Channel Au Contained

Tonnage width grade gold
(kt) (cm) (g/t) (koz)

Indicated

Black Reef (BPLZ) 3556 57 9.5 1080

Blanket Facies Reef 3573 60 0.4 47

Channel Facies Reef 9 885 307 1.7 537

Kimberley UK9a Reef

Total indicated resources 17 014 203 3.0 1665

Inferred

Black Reef (BPLZ)

Blanket Facies Reef
Channel Facies Reef
Kimberley UK9a Reef 4922 100 5.2 829

Total inferred 4922 100 5.2 829
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Table 4.2: Kleinfontein & Turnbridge — Audited Mineral Resource Statement

Mineral resources Channel Au Contained
Tonnage width grade gold
(kt) (em) (g/t) (koz)
Indicated
Turnbridge — Main Reef
Total indicated resources
Inferred
Kleinfontein — Main Reef 2 466 n/a 6.9 549
Turnbridge — Main Reef 1800 n/a 48 280
Total inferred 4 266 n/a 6.0 829
Table 4.3: Sub Nigel — Audited Mineral Resource Statement
Mineral resources Channel Au Contained
Tonnage width grade gold
(kt) (em) (g/t) (koz)
Indicated
Sub-Nigel
Total indicated resources
Inferred
Sub Nigel - Nigel Reef 1040 n/a 5.37 180
Sub Nigel - Erosion Channel 828 n/a 5.72 152
Total inferred 1868 n/a 5.53 332
Table 4.4: Spaarwater — Audited Mineral Resource Statement
Mineral resources Channel Au Contained
Tonnage width grade gold
(kt) (em) (g/t) (koz)
Indicated
Spaarwater — Main Reef
Total indicated resources
Inferred
Spaarwater — Main Reef 1258 n/a 4.08 165
Spaarwater — Erosion Channel 473 n/a 5.70 87
Total inferred 1732 n/a 4,52 252
SRK Comments

4.8.1 Modder East Project

SRK is satisfied that the Mineral Resources for Modder East are appropriately estimated and classified,
providing that the provision for highly selective extraction is excluded from the Resource statement.
SRK has increased the tonnages by 6% and has decreased the grade by 5% in order to express the
Mineral Resource in terms of blocks of approximately 90m x 80m, which SRK considers would more

appropriately depict the likely scale of selectivity.

SRK considers that the Datamine modelling methodology described for the UK9a is sound, however,
the error that can occur in defining the position and extent of the Channel Facies from a few borehole
intersections and factoring in 70% as being pay tonnes, support the classification of an Inferred

Mineral Resource.
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Densities are based on a sub-set of drill hole samples; the values applied appear to be reasonable for
the various rock types. SRK recommends that Aflease should continue to monitor density, especially
within the highly pyritic BPLZ unit.

Kleinfontein and Turnbridge

Kleinfontein is a mature operation that comprised mining of remnants and pillars, and vamping.
There are no standard procedures for sampling and evaluation of the material mined and the drill hole
data are insufficient to calculate a robust in situ grade estimate using geostatistics or similar
techniques.

Turnbridge similarly has a lack of verifiable sampling data, but lies adjacent to Kleinfontein, and
is considered an extension to that orebody. No additional work has been undertaken on the
Turnbridge property since the original documentation of this Mineral Resource.

Given the long lead time that would be required to undertake any additional verification work, SRK
considered it prudent to classify all Mineral Resources on these projects as Inferred.

Spaarwater Project

The Mineral Resources for the Spaarwater Project used terms that are inconsistent with the
definitions and guidelines of the SAMREC Code. From the perspective of the data available and
in particular the lack of quality indicators attached to sample data, SRK considers that the appropriate
classification for the Sub Nigel Mineral Resources, in a manner consistent with the treatment of the
New Kleinfontein and Turnbridge area, is that of Inferred Mineral Resources.

Although previous estimates of Mineral Resources for Spaarwater Gold Mine have been classified
as Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources, data verification is not possible and details of data

quality are not available. SRK considers that these estimates are also most appropriately classified
as Inferred Mineral Resources.

Ventersburg Project

SRK does not consider that Mineral Resources may be estimated for the Ventersburg Project, due
to the poor knowledge of controlling features on gold distribution, the quality of available data and
an average grade of around 3g/t at a depth of 800m below surface.

General

SRK is satisfied that the classification of Mineral Resources reported in this CPR reflects the
appropriate confidence in the tonnage/grade calculations, geology continuity and distribution
of data.

5. SHARE SWAP RATIO

5.1

5.2

Introduction

Aflease has completed a mine development study on its Modder East project. This study was subjected

to comprehensive review by SRK during preparation of listing documentation for Aflease for the JSE and TSX.

The salient aspects from this study are summarised here.

SNGM has completed scoping studies on the Spaarwater and Ventersburg Projects. The salient aspects from
these studies are summarised here but have not been reviewed by SRK for reasonableness.

The basis for the share swap ratio and assumptions made are also presented.

Modder East

5.2.1 Project Description

Aflease’s mine design considers a short life with accelerated development and the application
of second hand capital equipment and minimal operating and capital investment.

The Modder East project proposal is to exploit a Witwatersrand-type orebody on the shailow
dipping Black Reef at depths of between 250m and 300m. The Study showed that 6.1Mt RoM ore
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at an average grade of 5.2g/t could be mined during a period of about 10 years. The Black Reef and
Blanket Facies ores will be taken out simultaneously. Additional drilling identified the presence of the
Channel Facies immediately below the Blanket Facies that can be mined in one area. Aflease plans
to extract this ore using the room and pillar mining method.

Access will be by trackless decline with a footwall haulage layout providing access to the reef.

Rock Engineering

No fatal flaws were found during the desktop study. Certain data used in the support designs are
based on limited geotechnical information or industry norms, which will need to be validated using
accepted geotechnical engineering techniques in the next phase of the project.

Production Planning

Production is generated from 45 stope panels, 9 being ledged on a monthly basis. Replacement
development of 230m waste and 122m on the ore horizon is part of the monthly work pattern.
The planned mining and development rate is the generation of ore tonnage at 60ktpm and 11ktpm
of waste, respectively.

The development schedule is considered to be achievable considering the forecast rock conditions
and trackless ground handling system.

Manpower

The production complement is 357 total on mine, of which 100 are plant personnel. This excludes any
leave or relief provision.

Ventilation

The trucking operation and all logistics services are in intake airways. This is considered a moderate
risk. It is noted that a separate intake airway for the stoping operations is provided by an auxiliary
intake airway.

Process Description

The Modder East project envisages the construction of a new carbon in leach (“CIL") plant on the East
Rand to process Black Reef ore. The Modder East plant will comprise a single stage semi autogenous
(SAQ) mill, operating in closed circuit, with hydrocyclones, gravity concentration, CIL adsorption,
elution, electrowinning and smelting. The plant will have a design capacity of 60ktpm to match LoM
requirements,

Metallurgical Recovery

Considering both the test results and experience on samples extracted from operating Black Reef
stopes on the adjacent Grootvlei No. 8 Shaft operated by Petrex (Proprietary) Limited, the use of a
90% recovery for evaluation purposes was reasonable.

Tailings Management

The re-commissioning of an abandoned dam around the project area is a viable alternative to the
construction of a new tailings dam facility ("TDF"). However, the primary area considered for a TDF
lies within the boundaries of the mineral rights area that NKGM owns presently.

The conceptual engineering for the TDF corresponds to a typical arrangement for gold tailings
disposal and meets the actual regulations of safety and stability, in terms of slope geometry,
decanting facilities, under-drainage, and rate of raise.

Operating Costs

The operating costs were prepared using zero-based costing techniques, assuming reasonable
consumable consumption levels. The ratio of development to stoping is roughly in line with industry
norms. The manpower complement and cost budget appears reasonable for the level of operation.

In the absence of comprehensive metallurgical test results and detailed design, typical Witwatersrand
operating parameters have been assumed where necessary for the operating costs for the Modder
East Plant.



5.2.10 Capital Cost estimates

Capital costs were estimated at the appropriate level with the back up of budget quotes from
major equipment suppliers, The estimate is comparable with similar industry costs but is an order
of magnitude estimate only and is subject to the availability of a second hand SAG mill.

5.2.11 Cashflows

A nominal term cashflow model was developed from which a project valuation using discounted
cashflows was determined.

5.3 Spaarwater Project

5.3.1

532

533

534

535

5.3.6

537

Project Description

The Scoping Study for the Spaarwater project investigated a number of alternative exploitation
strategies. The selected option involved use of the existing mine shafts, refurbishment of existing
access and underground infrastructure and construction of a new CIL processing plant to treat
40ktpm RoM ore.

The Scoping Study was confined to the Nigel Reef and the underlying Erosion Channel, the two main
reef packages on the Spaarwater Project. The Study assumed a conventional up-dip scraper mining
method from reef drives, with stacking of waste underground. The Study showed that 4.6Mt RoM ore
at an average grade of 5.1g/t could be mined during a period of 10 years.

Process Description

The Scoping Study assumed the construction of a new carbon in leach CIL plant. The plant would
comprise a single ball mill, operating in closed circuit, with hydrocyclones, CIL adsorption, elution,
electrowinning and smelting. The plant would have a design capacity of 40ktpm to match
LoM requirements,

Metallurgical Recovery

The Scoping Study assumed a metallurgical recovery of 92%, which was claimed to be in line with
other mining operations in the area.

Manpower

The study indicated that 706 people would be employed at full production.

Operating Costs

Operating costs were derived for six different options. There is considerable variability in the unit
costs derived for the plant and administration within these six options. There is insufficient
information in the study to enable SRK to assess these estimates for reasonableness.

Capital Cost

In compiling the capital cost estimates for the Scoping Study, MDM Ferroman (Proprietary) Limited
("MDM") used quantities and costs from its database and recent project experience. There is
insufficient information in the study to enable SRK to assess these estimates for reasonableness.

SRK Comments

The Scoping Study was premised on Mineral Resources that were not reported according to the
requirements of the SAMREC Code. A programme of work to improve the resource classification
is required. The mine design is only at a conceptual stage and would require rock engineering and
ventilation input.

There is insufficient information in the study to enable SRK to assess the capital and operating cost
estimates for reasonableness.

The use of discounted cashflows is acceptable at this level of study to choose between a number
of options.
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5.4 Ventersburg Project

5.4.1

542

543

544

5.45

546

5.4.7

Project Description

The Scoping Study for the Ventersburg project investigated a number of alternative exploitation
strategies for the northern portion of the project area where a “zone of higher gold content” had been
identified. The selected option requires the development of a vertical shaft and the construction
of a new CIL plant capable of handling 90ktpm RoM ore, due to the limited resource size.

The Scoping Study was confined to the A Reef at mining depths between 700m and 950m below
surface. The study assumed a conventional up-dip scraper mining method from footwall haulages and
crosscuts to reef.

The Scoping Study showed that 5.3Mt RoM ore at an average grade of 5.8g/t could be mined during
a period of 6 years.

Process Description

The Scoping Study assumed the construction of a new CiL plant. The plant would comprise a single
SAG mill, operating in closed circuit, with hydrocyclones, CIL adsorption, elution, electrowinning and
smelting. The plant would have a design capacity of 90ktpm to match LoM requirements.

Metallurgical Recovery

The Scoping Study assumed a metallurgical recovery of 92%, which was claimed to be in line with
other mining operations in the area.

Manpower

The study indicated that 600 people would be employed at full production.

Operating Costs

Operating costs were derived for three different options. There is insufficient information in the study
to enable SRK to assess these estimates for reasonableness.

Capital Cost

In compiling the capital cost estimates for the Scoping Study, MDM used quantities and costs from
its database and recent project experience. The estimates assumed the use of refurbished second
hand mills and crushers, There is insufficient detail in the study to enable SRK to assess these
estimates for reasonableness.

SRK Comments

The Scoping Study was premised on geological information that is insufficient to support the
classification of Mineral Resources according to the requirements of the SAMREC Code. A programme
of work to improve the resource classification is required. The mine design is only at a conceptual
stage and would require rock engineering and ventilation input.

There is insufficient detail in the study to enable SRK to assess the capital and operating cost
estimates for reasonableness.

5.5 Share Swap Ratio Methodology

To avoid the pitfalls of valuing the respective mining and prospecting assets owned by the Companies
on a comparable basis, due to the differences in the quality and detail of available information, the
Companies agreed that the share swap ratio would be based on total mineral resources that satisfy
the reporting and classification requirements of the SAMREC Code.

5.5.1

Total Mineral Resources

The Total Mineral Resources for the Aflease Assets and SNGM Assets as described in Section 4 have
been added together, irrespective of their classifications, and summarised in Tabie 5.1.



Table 5.1: Summary of Total Mineral Resources for Aflease and SNGM

Resource base Tonnage Tonnage Au Contained Gold content
ratio grade gold ratio
(kt) (%) (g/t) (koz) (%)
Total mineral resources - Aflease 26 202 879 3.91 3323 85.1
Total mineral resources — SNGM 3600 12.1 5.04 584 14.9
Total resources 29 802 100.0 4.05 3906 100.0
Ratio — SNGM : Aflease 13.7 17.6

On a resource tonnage basis, the ratio of SNGM tonnes to Aflease tonnes is 13.7%. On a contained
gold basis, the ratio of SNGM gold content to Aflease gold content is 17.6%.

5.5.2 Upside potential

As mentioned in Section 5 of the report there is upside potential in the Companies. In the case
of SNGM, the Ventersburg Project has not been included for the purposes of determining a ratio
between the two companies. In the same way, the additional resources of 232 0000z identified by the
further drilling of 11 diamond drill holes since December 2004 to May 2005 at Modder East was not
taken into account. ‘

If the additional Modder East Mineral Resources were considered in the determination of the ratio for
the Companies, the ratio of SNGM gold content to Aflease gold content would reduce to 16.4%.

5.5.3 Sensitivity to Modder East Project

On a purely resource level, there is no effective way of differentiating between the different
classifications of Mineral Resource. Application of some factor to artificially reflect the relative
confidence of Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources would be too subjective.

SRK has examined the sensitivity of the Share Swap ratio to the value of the Modder East Project
by applying a range of factors to the indicated Resources (Table 5.2). The factors increase the number
of Indicated ounces relative to the Inferred ounces.

Table 5.2: Sensitivity of Gold Content Ratio to Modder East Project Value

Resaurces Units Adjustment Factor for Indicated Resources
1.0 1.1 1.2 13 1.4
Indicated (koz) 1665 1832 1998 2 165 2 331
Inferred (koz) 1658 1658 1658 1658 1658
Total Aflease (factored) (koz) 3323 3450 3656 3823 3989
Total SNGM (koz) 584 584 584 584 584
Ratio — SNGM : Aflease 17.6 16.7 16.0 15.3 14.6

It can be seen from Table 5.2 that with a 40% increase in the weighting of the gold content in the
Indicated Resources (a factor of 1.4), the ratio of SNGM gold content to Aflease gold content reduces
to 14.6%. This represents a relatively small reduction in the share swap ratio, which indicates that the
additional value that could be attached to the Modder East feasibility work is not material to the
outcome.

5.6 SRK Comments

Based on the reviews done for the Aflease Assets and the SNGM Assets, SRK is of the opinion that the ratio
that should be considered for a share exchange/ Reverse Take-over in a New Gold Company should be based
on the ratio of the gold contained in the Total Mineral Resources of the Companies. On this basis, SNGM
should have a 17.6% interest and Aflease (Modder East) an 82.4% interest in the New Gold Company.

If the additional resources at Modder East are included in the ratio, the ratio of SNGM to Aflease reduces
from 17.6% to 16.4%.
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Application of subjective weighting factors to differentiate between the different resource categories
indicates that this is not material to the final share swap ratio.

The above re-affirms the notion that the ratio is only indicative of a merger ratio that should be considered
by the Companies when they consider establishing a New Gold Company. In the opinion of SRK, a range
of between 16% to 18% should be considered to establish a final ratio.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

SRK has conducted a comprehensive review and assessment of all material issues that may influence the resource
estimates of the Share Swap Assets. Where material differences were found, these were discussed with the
Companies and adjusted where considered appropriate. SRK considers that the audited Mineral Resource estimates
satisfy the reporting requirements as laid down by the SAMREC Code.

A share swap ratio between the Companies was determined. Based on the gold content of the Total Mineral
Resources held by the Companies, SRK believes that a range of between 16% to 18 % should be considered
to establish a final ratio of shares to be held by SNGM in the New Gold Company.

Mr H G Waldeck, PrEng, Dr M Harley, PrSciNat,
Partner and Competent Person for the CPR, Partner and Competent Person for Mineral Resources,

SRK

Consulting SRK Consulting

Mr A J McDonald, CEng
Principal Engineer

SRK
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GLOSSARY, ABBREVIATIONS AND UNITS

GLOSSARY
Anticline

Arenaceous

Arenite

Assay
Dip

Dyke

Fire Assay
Footwall
Hangingwall

Indicated Mineral Resource

Inferred Mineral Resource

Kaapvaal Craton

Kriging

Measured Mineral Resource

Mesozoic

Mineral Resource

a fold with strata sloping downward on both sides from a common crest.

sandy or consisting largely of sand; of the nature of sand; easily disintegrating into sand;
friable; as, arenaceous limestone.

a general name for sedimentary rocks composed of sand-sized fragments irrespective
of composition; e.g., sandstone, graywacke, arkose, and calcarenite.

the chemical analysis of ore samples to determine their metal content.
inclination of geological features from the horizontal.

thick, tabular vertical or near-vertical bodies of igneous rock formed by magmatic
injection into planar zones of weakness such as faults or fractures.

the assaying of metallic ores by methods requiring the use of furnace heat.
the underlying side of a stope or orebody.
the overlying side of an orebody or stope.

that portion of a Mineral Resource for which quantity and quality are estimated with
a lower degree of certainty than for a Measured Mineral Resource. The sites used
for inspection, sampling, and measurement are too widely or inappropriately spaced
to enable the material or its continuity to be defined or its grade throughout to be
established.

that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, grade and mineral content can be
estimated with a low level of confidence. It is inferred from geological evidence and
assumed but not verified geological and/or grade continuity. It is based on information
gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits,
workings and drill holes that may be limited, or of uncertain quality and reliability.

the ancient proto-continental crystalline basement of South Africa.

an interpolation method that minimises the estimation error in the determination of
a mineral resource.

that portion of a Mineral Resource for which the tonnage or volume is calculated from
dimensions revealed in outcrops, pits, trenches, drill-holes, or mine workings, supported
where appropriate by other exploration techniques. The sites used for inspection,
sampling and measurement are so spaced that the geological character, continuity, grades
and nature of the material are so well defines that the physical character, size, shape,
quality and mineral content are established with a high degree of certainty.

of, belonging to, or designating the era of geologic time that includes the Triassic, Jurassic,
and Cretaceous periods and is characterized by the development of flying reptiles, birds,
and flowering plants and by the appearance and extinction of dinosaurs.

a concentration [or occurrence] of material of economic interest in or on the Earth's crust
in such a form, quality, and quantity that there are reasonable and realistic prospects for
eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity and other
geological characteristics of a Mineral Resource are known, estimated from specific
geological knowledge, or interpreted from a well constrained and portrayed geological
model. ‘
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Proterozoic

Pyrite
Reef

Resource

RoM

SAMREC Code
sill

Tailings

Unconformities

Variogram
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of or relating to the later of the two divisions of Precambrian time, from approximately
2.5 billion to 570 million years ago, marked by the buildup of oxygen and the appearance
of the first multicellular eukaryotic life forms.

common iron sulphide mineral.
a precious metal bearing stratiform tabular orebody.

a tonnage or volume of rock or mineralisation or other material of intrinsic economic
interest, the grades, limits and other appropriate characteristics of which are known with
a specified degree of knowledge.

Run-of-Mine.
South African Code for reporting of Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves.
an approximately horizontal sheet of igneous rock intruded between older rock beds.

Refuse or dross remaining after ore has been processed.

-a surface between successive strata representing a missing interval in the geologic record

of time and produced either by an interruption in deposition or by the erosion of
depositionally continuous strata followed by renewed deposition.

a measure of the average variance between sample locations as a function of sample
separation. ‘



ABBREVIATIONS

AARL
Au

BEE
BPLZ
CiL
CPR
DME
DWAF
ECSA
EIA
EMP
EMPR
HDSA
IAPs
JSE
LoM
ML
MPRDA
MW?P
NKGC
NKGM
RC
RoM
SACNASP
SANAS
SARS
SGS-L
SHE
SLP
SNGM
SRK
SRK Group
TDF
TSX
uce
WUL

Anglo American Research Laboratories.

chemical symbol for gold.

Black Economic Empowerment,

Buckshot Pyrite Leader Zone.

Carbon in Leach.

Competent Persons’ Report.

Department of Minerals and Energy.

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry.
Engineering Council of South Africa.

Environmental Impact Assessment.

Environmental Management Programme.
Environmental Management Programme Report.
Historically Disadvantaged South Africans.
Interested and Affected Parties.

JSE Securities Exchange South Africa.

Life-of-Mine.

Mining licence, issued in terms of the old minerals legislation.
Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act.
Mining Work Programme.

New Kleinfontein Gold Claims (Proprietary) Limited.
New Kleinfontein Gold Mine (Proprietary) Limited.
Reverse Circulation Drilling.

Run of Mine.

South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions.
South African National Accreditation System.

South African Revenue Services. |

SGS Lakefield Laboratories.

Safety Health and Environment.

Social and Labour Plan,

Sub Nigel Gold Mine Limited.

SRK Consulting (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited.
SRK Global Limited.

Tailings disposal facility.

Toronto Stock Exchange,

UC Prospect, a project adjoining Modder East.

Water Use Licence.
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UNITS

cm a centimetre.

g grammes.

gt grammes per metric tonne — metal concentration.
ha a hectare.

kg a thousand grammes.

kg/t kilogremmes per metric tonne — metal concentration.
km a kilometre.

koz a thousand ounces.

kt a thousand metric tonnes.

ktpm thousand tonnes per month.

m a metre.

Moz a million ounces.

Mt a million metric tonnes.

oz a fine troy ounce equalling 31.10348 grammes.

t a metric tonne.

tm™ density measured as metric tonnes per cubic metre.
R South African Rand.

Rm million Rand.

° degrees.

! minutes.

% percentage.
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AFLEASE GOLD LIMITED

(Formerly Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1984/006175/06)

Share code: AFO ISIN: ZAE 000075867

REVISED LISTING PARTICULARS

Prepared in terms of the Listings Requirements

These revised listing particulars are not an invitation to the public to subscribe for Sub Nigel ordinary shares
but are issued for the purpose of giving information about Aflease Gold to shareholders.

The Sub Nigel directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 5 on page 123 of these revised listing
particulars forming part of the circular, accept, collectively and individually, full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information given herein and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, no facts
have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that they have made all
reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts and that these revised listing particulars forming part of the
circular contain all information required by law and the Listings Requirements.

These revised listing particulars have been prepared on the assumption that the resolutions proposed in the
notice of general meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders forming part of the circular to which these
revised listing particulars are attached, are duly passed at the general meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary
shareholders to be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 10 january 2006 and, where applicable, registered by the
Registrar of Companies and that the acquisition has been implemented.

Investment bank and Independent Independent professional expert
transaction adviser reporting accountants and sponsor
L f
NE NK R
C ITL
Legal adviser Independent technical adviser Transaction sponsor

enevs| emz == I

Date of issue: 19 December 2005
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

For details of Sub Nigel's company's secretary and registered address, the transfer secretaries, names and addresses of
the investment bank and transaction adviser, transaction sponsor, independent reporting accountants, independent
professional expert, legal advisers, independent technical adviser, principal banker and independent reporting
accountants to New Kleinfontein, refer to the inside front cover of the circular to which these revised listing particulars
are attached.
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DEFINITIONS

In these revised listing particulars, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, the words in the first
column shall have the meanings stated opposite them in the second column and words in the singular shall include the
plural and vice versa. Words importing natural persons shall include corporations and associations of persons and an
expression denoting any gender shall include the other genders:

“acquisition”

“Aflease”

"Aflease directors”
“Aflease Gold”

“Aflease Gold directors” or
" Aflease Gold board"”

“Aflease Gold ordinary shares”
“Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders”
“Aflease ordinary shares”

"business day”

“certificated Sub Nige! ordinary
shareholders”

“certificated Sub Nigel
ordinary shares”

“circular”

“Code”

“commaon monetary area”

“Companies Act”

“conversion”

"Csop”

“dematerialised Sub Nigel
ordinary shareholders”

“dematerialised Sub Nigel
ordinary shares”

the acquisition, with effect from the effective date, by Sub Nigel from Aflease of
the New Kleinfontein shares and the New Kleinfontein loan and, in consideration
therefor, the issue by Sub Nigel of the subscription shares to Aflease at the
subscription price, in terms of the sale and subscription agreement;

Aflease Gold and Uranium Resources Limited (formerly The Afrikander Lease
Limited) (Registration number 1921/006955/06), a public company
incorporated in South Africa, the ordinary shares of which are listed on the JSE;

the board of directors of Aflease;

Aflease Gold Limited (formerly Sub Nigel) (Registration number 1984/006179/06),
a public company incorporated in South Africa, the ordinary shares of which are
listed on the JSE;

the board of directors of Aflease Gold, the members of which are listed in
paragraph 5.1 of the revised listing particulars on page 123 of this circular;

ordinary shares in the issued ordinary share capital of Aflease Gold;

registered holders of Aflease Gold ordinary shares from time to time;

ordinary shares in the issued ordinary share capital of Aflease;

any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or official public holiday in South Africa;

Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders represented by a share certificate or other
documents of title, which have not been surrendered for dematerialisation in
terms of STRATE;

Sub Nigel ordinary shares held as a share certificate or other documents of title;

this bound document dated 19 December 2005, including the revised listing
particulars, all annexures, the notice of general meeting and the forms of proxy
(pink) and surrender (green) attached hereto;

the SRP Code on Takeovers and Mergers, established in terms of section 440 of
the Companies Act;

collectively, South Africa, the Republic of Namibia and the Kingdoms of Lesotho
and Swaziland;

Companies Act, 1973 (Act 61 of 1973), as amended;

the conversion of Sub Nigel's authorised ordinary share capital and stated
capital from Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value to Sub Nigel ordinary
shares with a par value of 57 cents each;

a Central Securities Depository Participant appointed by shareholders for
purposes of and in regard to dematerialisation in terms of the Custody and
Administration of Securities Act, 1992 (Act 85 of 1992), as amended;

holders of Sub Nigel ordinary shares which have been incorporated into STRATE
and which are no longer evidenced by documents of title;

those Sub Nigel ordinary shares that have been incorporated into STRATE and
which are held on the Company’s sub-register in electronic form in terms of the
Securities Services Act, 2004 (Act 36 of 2004), as amended;
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"documents of title”

"effective date”

“general meeting”

“Grant Thornton” or
“independent reporting accountants”

“JSE"

“last practicable date”
“Listings Requirements”
“Nedbank Capital”

“New Kleinfontein”

“New Kleinfontein loan”

"New Kleinfontein shares”

“New Order Rights”
“Old Order Rights”

“own-name dematerialised
Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder”

“PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.”
“record date”
“revised listing particulars”

“sale and subscription agreement”

“Sasfin” or "the independent
professional expert”

“SENS"

“signature date”
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share certificates, certificated transfer deeds, balance receipts or any other
physical documents of title in respect of Sub Nigel ordinary shares which are
acceptable to Sub Nigel;

the first business day following fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out in
paragraph 8 on page 12 of this circular;

the general meeting of Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders to be held at Room 20,
GCround Floor, Nedbank, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown at 10:00 on Tuesday,
10 January 2006;

Crant Thornton, Registered Accountants and Auditors Chartered Accountants
{S.A), South African member of Grant Thornton;

JSE Limited (Registration number 2005/022939/06), a public company
incorporated in South Africa and licensed as an exchange in terms of the
Securities Services Act, 2004 (Act 36 of 2004), as amended;

Monday, 12 December 2005, being the last practicable date prior to the
finalisation of this circulan;

the Listings Requirements of the JSE, as amended from time to time;

Nedbank Capital, a division of Nedbank Limited (Registration number
1951/000009/06), a public company incorporated in South Africa, the ordinary
shares of which are listed on the JSE;

New Kleinfontein Mining Company Limited (Registration number
1996/002710/06), a public company incorporated in South Africa, the entire
issued share capital of which is owned by Aflease;

an amount of RS 231 161.66 due on loan account by New Kleinfontein to
Aflease on the signature date;

all the issued shares in the capital of New Kleinfontein, comprising 188 028 148
ordinary shares of 1 cent each, all of which were on the signature date and are
beneficially owned by Aflease;

rights in terms of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, 2002
(Act 28 of 2002), as amended;

rights in terms of the Minerals Act, 1991{Act 50 of 1991), as amended;

dematerialised shareholders who have dematerialised their Sub Nigel ordinary
shares through a CSDP and have instructed the CSDP to hold their Sub Nigel
ordinary shares in their own-name in the sub-register (the list of shareholders
maintained by the CSDP and forming part of the Sub Nigel share register);

independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein;

the date on which Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders must be recorded on the
register to receive new Sub Nigel ordinary share certificates reflecting the new
name and par value of Sub Nigel ordinary shares, being 27 January 2006;

the revised listing particulars of Sub Nigel issued in terms of the Listings
Requirements which are attached to and form part of this circular;

the sale and subscription agreement entered into between Aflease and Sub Nigel
on the signature date, setting out the terms and conditions of the acquisition
and which agreement is effective from the effective date;

Sasfin Corporate Finance, a division of Sasfin Bank Limited (Registration number
1995/012890/07), a public company incorporated in South Africa;

the Securities Exchange News Service of the JSE;

3 November 2005, being the date of signature of the sale and subscription
agreement;



“South Africa”

“SRK" or
“the independent technical adviser”

“SRPH
"STRATE"

“Sub Nigel board” or
"Sub Nigel directors”

“Sub Nigel or "the Company”

“Sub Nigel ordinary shares”

“Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders”

“Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme”

“Sub Nigel Share Incentive Trust”
“Sub Nigel stated capital”

“subscription price”

“subscription shares”

“transfer secretaries”

"Trinity”

the Republic of South Africa;

SRK Consulting South Africa (Pty) Limited (Registration number 1995/012890/07),
a private company incorporated in South Africa;

Securities Regulation Panel;

STRATE Limited (Registration number 1998/022242/06), a public company
incorporated in South Africa, which provides the electronic clearing and share
settlement system, of the same name, used by the JSE;

the board of directors of Sub Nigel, the members of which are listed in
paragraph 5.3 of the revised listing particulars on page 124 of this circular;

Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited (Registration number
1984/006179/06), a public company incorporated in South Africa, the ordinary
shares of which are listed on the JSE;

before the conversion, ordinary shares with no par value in the stated capital of
Sub Nigel and after the conversion, ordinary shares in the issued ordinary share
capital of Sub Nigel;

registered holders of Sub Nigel ordinary shares from time to time;

the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme established to incentivise Sub Nigel
directors, which was approved by Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 22 December 2004;

the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Trust, constituted under the deed establishing the
Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme;

the stated capital of Sub Nigel as at the last practicable date, being R48 988 414
and comprising 85 152 920 Sub Nigel ordinary shares with no par value;

R325 451 212.80, being the aggregate of the agreed value of the New
Kleinfontein shares and the face value of the New Kleinfontein loan and
representing the agreed value of the subscription shares;

Sub Nigel ordinary shares, being 339 011 680 in number, to be subscribed for by
Aflease in terms of the sale and subscription agreement, and to be issued at an
issue price of 96 cents each;

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited (Registration
number 2004/003647/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa and
the transfer secretaries to Sub Nigel; and

Trinity Holdings (Proprietary) Limited (Registration number 2000/005029/07),
a private company incorporated in South Africa.
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AFLEASE GOLD LIMITED

(Formerly Sub Nigel Gold Mining Company Limited)
(Incorperated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1984/006179/06)

Share code: AFO ISIN: ZAE 000075867

REVISED LISTING PARTICULARS
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INTRODUCTION

These revised listing particulars are issued to provide Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders with additional
information on Aflease Gold to enable them to assess the impact of the acquisition.

Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders are referred to the circular to which these revised listing particulars are
attached containing the rationale for the acquisition and the details thereof.

INCORPORATION, HISTORY AND PROSPECTS

2.1

2.2

2.3

Incorporation and history of Aflease Gold

Sub Nigel was incorporated as a public company in South Africa on 18 June 1984 and listed on the JSE in
1984. The Company has been in operation for approximately 21 years. Sub Nigel has not changed its main
business or its main object since its incorporation. Currently Sub Nigel has no controlling shareholder.
However, Leslie Gordon Holmes directly and indirectly owned an effective 31,37% interest in the stated
capital of Sub Nigel in 2003 and an effective 22,81% interest in the stated capital of Sub Nigel in 2004, when
he sold a portion of his shareholding to Kabusha Mining and Finance (Proprietary) Limited. The new
controlling Aflease Gold ordinary shareholder of Aflease Gold is Aflease, which holds approximately 80% of
its issued ordinary share capital of Aflease Gold. As a result of the change in control, Sub Nigel has changed
its name to Aflease Gold, reflecting its status as the primary gold mining vehicle of Aflease.

Annexure (vi) of the revised listing particulars forming part of the circular sets out the alteration to the share
capital of Aflease Gold during the three years preceding the issue of these revised listing particulars.

Nature of Aflease Gold's business

Sub Nigel is a junior mining company currently committed to developing the Spaarwater, the Ventersburg
and the Modder East gold mining projects. The Modder East project has Black Reef channels that carry erratic
gold mineralisation in deposits of varying width, depth and extent. Gold mineralisation is nuggety and locally
concentrated.

Prospects

The acquisition of New Kleinfontein will establish a gold mining company with critical mass within the junior
mining field as a result of the consolidations of Aflease’s East Rand gold asset, which includes the Modder
East project, and Sub Nigel's East Rand and Free State gold assets. Aflease Gold will focus on growth and
development of its gold assets and realising value for its Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to the acquisition, Aflease is the controlling Aflease Gold ordinary shareholder of Aflease Gold. Before the
acquisition, there was no controlling Sub Nigel ordinary shareholder of Sub Nigel.



4. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders, other than the Sub Nigel directors, who directly and indirectly beneficially held
5% or more of the Aflease Cold ordinary shares, before the acquisition, are set out in the following table:

Number of

Aflease Gold Percentage
Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders ordinary shares held
GFL Mining Services Limited 12 500 000 14.7
Board of Executors Noms No. 1 11 167 161 13.1
Justpoint Nominees (Proprietary) Limited 8776 212 10.3
Falcon Investments (Proprietary) Limited 7 499 700 8.8
Total 39 943 073 46.9

Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders, other than the Aflease Gold directors, who directly and indirectly beneficially
hold 5% or more of the Aflease Gold ordinary shares, after the acquisition, are set out in the following table:

Number of
Aflease Gold Percentage
Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders , ordinary shares held
Aflease | 339 011 680 79.9

5. INFORMATION RELATING TO DIRECTORS

5.1 Details of directors and senior management

The full names, ages, nationalities, occupations and addresses of the Aflease Gold directors appointed and/or
whose appointment will be confirmed pursuant to the acquisition are set out below:

Full name Age Occupation Physical address
FRONEMAN, Neal John 46 Chief executive director Empire Park, Block A
(South African) 55 Empire Road
Parktown, Johannesburg
2193
NORTIER, Daniel Jean 36 Chief financial officer 55 Weltevreden Avenue
{South African) Rondebosch
7700
VAN NIEKERK, Robert 40 Chief operating officer Empire Park, Block A
(South African) 55 Empire Road
Parktown, johannesburg
2193
SWANA, Sandile 37 Independent non-executive director 20 Georgian Crescent,
(South African) Hampton Office Park
Bryanston
2152

It is anticipated that the Aflease Gold board will invite the following people to join the Aflease Gold board as
non-executive directors, soon after the listing of the subscription shares:

— Mr Sandile Zungy;

- Mr Pierre Kruger;

— Mr Kenneth Dicks; and

— Ms Savannah Maziya.

Changes to the Aflease Gold board will be communicated to the ordinary shareholders of Aflease Gold when
they are finalised.
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5.2 Experience of directors and senior management

53

5.2.1 Mr Neal John Froneman (Chief Executive Officer) PR. Eng. B.Sc. Mech. Eng, (Ind. Opt.), B.Compt.

Neal was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Aflease in April 2003. He has given 23 years of
service, including at executive director level, to some of the leading companies in the gold mining
sector in South Africa. These include Gold Fields of South Africa Limited and Harmony Gold Mining
Company Limited. He has a proven track record of achievement in the area of turnarounds and
implementation of “best practices” approach.

5.2.2 Daniel Jean Nortier (Chief Financial Officer) B.Comm. (Hons), CA(SA)

Jean was appointed as non-executive director of Aflease in May 2002. In April 2003, he was appointed
as Chairman of Aflease. He was appointed Chief Financial Officer of Aflease in September 2004. Jean
has been involved in corporate finance since 1998, initially as Group Financial Executive of the
TBB Holdings Group and then as CEO of the Sovereign Group, a division of TBB Holdings. During the
first quarter of March 2000, Jean launched Reitron (Proprietary) Limited and started a corporate
finance and private equity venture, Reitron (Proprietary} Limited has been involved in greenfield start-
ups, management buy-outs and acquisitions. Throughout his career, Jean has been involved in
transactions and capital raising both in South Africa and internationally, including Germany,
Swaziland, the United Kingdom, Japan, Guernsey and Mauritius.

5.2.3 Robert van Niekerk (Chief Operating Officer) B.Sc Mining Eng, National Higher Diploma in
Metaliferous Mining

Robert has in the past worked for Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited, and most recently was
Mine Manager at Anglo Platinum Limited’s Rustenburg Platinum Mines in Rustenburg. Robert is also
a former member of the Association of Mine Managers and Canadian Association of Mines.

5.2.4 Sandile Swana (Non-executive) B.Comm (Hons), MBA (Pretoria)

Sandile is the Chairman of Kabusha Mining & Finance (Proprietary) Limited. He spent seven years in
the retail sector of Caltex Oil (SA) (Proprietary) Limited and Zenex Oil (Proprietary) Limited where he
gained experience in business planning, oil retail and general management. He has also worked as
Croup Operations Manager for the JSE listed company, The Don Group Limited, before joining the
PTC-Group (Proprietary) Limited as a partner. He is former non-executive Chairman of Sub Nigel and
a member of the Institute of Directors.

A declaration in respect of each of the above Aflease Gold directors, in accordance with Schedule 21 of the
Listings Requirements will be submitted to the JSE after the conclusion of the acquisition.

The above Aflease Gold directors have no conflict of interest between their duties to Aflease Gold and their
private interests.

Directors’ interests in Aflease Gold

Details of the Sub Nigel directors’ interests in Aflease Gold were as follows:

Beneficial Percentage
Directors Direct Indirect Total held
A C Reynolds - 750 000 750 000 0.9
P St G Glyn 100 375 000 375 100 0.4
H G Veldsman 362 600 750 000 1112 600 1.3
S Swana - - - -
Total 362 700 1 875 000 2237 700 2.6

None of the above Sub Nigel directors held any direct or indirect non-beneficial shareholdings in Aflease
Gold.

The Aflease Gold directors have no beneficial or non-beneficial shareholdings in Aflease Gold.

No Aflease Gold ordinary share options have been granted to the Aflease Gold directors.
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5.4

5.5

5.6
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Directors’ interests in transactions

The Sub Nigel directors and the Aflease Gold directors have no direct or indirect interest in any transaction
that Aflease Gold and its subsidiaries have entered into during the current or immediately preceding year, or
in an earlier financial year and which remain in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

Appointment, borrowing powers and remuneration of directors

The extracts from the Articles of Association relating to directors’ appointment, remuneration, qualification
and borrowing powers are set out in Annexure (i).

Directors’emoluments

The Aflease Gold directors’ remuneration will be determined after the general meeting and ratified at the
following Annual General Meeting of Aflease Gold.

Directors’service agreements
None of the Aflease Gold directors have service agreements with Aflease Gold.

Directors’'term of office

The Aflease Gold directors have no fixed term of office as none of them have service agreements with
Aflease Gold.

Directors’ declaration in accordance with Schedule 21 of the Listings Requirements before the
acquisition

All of the Sub Nigel directors have submitted duly completed directors’ declarations to the JSE in compliance
with Schedule 21 of the Listings Requirements, in terms of which those Sub Nigel directors confirm that they
have not been:

~ disqualified by any court or in terms of the Companies Act from acting as a director of a company or from
acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company or been the subject of any public
criticisms by statutory or regulatory authorities (including recognised professional bodies);

- convicted of any offence resulting from dishonesty or embezzlement or any offence under legislation
relating to the Companies Act;

~ been sequestrated in any jurisdiction or been a director of any company at the time or within the twelve
months preceding any of the following events taking place: receiverships, compulsory liquidations,
creditors voluntary liquidations, administrations, company voluntary arrangements or any compromise or
arrangement with creditors generally or any class of creditors; or

~ barred from entry into any profession or occupation.

Other directorships held by the Aflease Gold directors

Annexure (iv) sets out the names of all companies of which the Aflease Gold directors are directors.

SHARE CAPITAL AND INFORMATION RELATING TO THE AFLEASE GOLD ORDINARY SHARES

6.1

Authorised and issued share capital of Aflease Gold after the acquisition, conversion and increase in
authorised share capital:

(R'000)
Authorised ordinary share capital
475 000 000 Aflease Gold ordinary shares of 57 cents each 270 750
Issued ordinary share capital
424 164 600 Aflease Gold ordinary shares of 57 cents each 241774
Share premium 132 215
Non Distributable Reserve 451
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6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

All of the Aflease Gold ordinary shares in issue are of the same class, rank pari passu in every respect and are
fully paid up. Aflease Gold has no preferred or deferred shares in issue.

As at the last practicable date, the authorised but unissued ordinary share capital of Aflease Gold were placed
at the disposal and under the control of the Sub Nigel directors. The Sub Nigel directors were authorised to
allot and issue such shares to such person or persons and on such terms and conditions as they deem fit,
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements.

As at the last practicable date, in terms of a general authority granted by Sub Nigel ordinary shareholders,
the Sub Nigel directors were also authorised to issue for cash up to a maximum of 15% of the Sub Nigel
ordinary shares in issue.

Resolutions renewing the above authorities will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of Aflease Gold
to be held on 5 January 2006,

None of the Aflease Gold ordinary shares are listed on any stock exchange other than the ]SE.

Share issues, consolidation and sub-division of Aflease Gold ordinary shares

The subscription shares will be issued by Sub Nigel in terms of the acquisition as detailed in paragraph 3 of
the circular to which these revised listing particulars are attached.

There has been no subdivision or consolidation of Aflease Gold ordinary shares during the three years
preceding the date of issue of these revised listing particulars.

34 121 428 Aflease Gold ordinary shares have been issued by Aflease Gold during the three years preceding
the date of these revised listing particulars, the details of which are included in Annexure {vi).

Aflease Gold has no outstanding loan capital.

Rights attaching to the Aflease Gold ordinary shares

All the Aflease Gold ordinary shares in issue are of the same class, rank pari passu with each other and are
fully paid. Accordingly, no Aflease Gold ordinary share has any special right to any dividends, capital or profits
of the Company.

The holders of Aflease Gold ordinary shares are entitled to one vote for each ordinary share held on all
matters to be voted on by such Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders.

Variation of rights attaching to the Aflease Gold ordinary shares

The rights attaching to the Aflease Gold ordinary shares may be amended, modified, varied or cancelled in a
general meeting, provided that no such amendment, modification, variation or cancellation which directly or
indirectly adversely affects those rights shall be effected without:

- the written consent or ratification of the holders of at least three-quarters of the Aflease Gold ordinary
shares in question; or

- the approval of or ratification by a resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of the
Aflease Gold ordinary shares in question in the same manner, mutatis mutandis, as a special resolution.

Options and preferential rights

There are no contracts or arrangements in place giving options or preferential rights to any person to

subscribe for any securities in Aflease Gold.

Aflease Gold’s share price history

A table setting out the share price history of Aflease Gold ordinary shares on the JSE has been included in

Annexure 6 of this circular to which these revised listing particulars are attached.

Dividends

The dividend policy of Aflease Gold is to declare 20% of its attributable profit as a dividend, provided that
Aflease Gold has acceptable cash flow levels.



7.

6.11

In accordance with the Articles of Association of Aflease Gold, dividends retained and unclaimed for a period
of not less than 12 years from the date on which such dividends became payable may be forfeited, in which
case they will revert to Aflease Gold or its assigns and may be dealt with by the directors or such assigns as
they deem fit. As at the last practicable date, no dividends had been declared by Aflease Gold.

Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme

The salient features of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme are set out in Annexure (ii).

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

7.1

7.2

73

Historical financial information

The historical financial information relating to Aflease Gold for the three years ended 30 June 2005, 30 June
2004 and 30 June 2003 are set out in Annexure 1 of the circular to which these revised listing particulars are
attached.

The historical financial information relating to New Kleinfontein for the three years ended 31 December
2004, 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002 and the six months ended 30 June 2005 are set out
in Annexure (ii). The reporting accountants’ report on this historical financial information is set out in
Annexure 3 of the circular to which these revised listing particulars are attached.

Material changes

As at the last practicable date, there were no material changes in the financial or trading position of Aflease
Gold and its subsidiaries since the publication of the audited results for the year ended 30 June 2005, other than
as a result of the acquisition contemplated in the circular to which these revised listing particulars are attached.

Working capital statement

Pursuant to the implementation of the acquisition, the Sub Nigel board, save for S Swana, will resign and
Aflease, as the new controlling shareholder of Aflease Gold, will appoint a new board in its stead. Aflease Gold
ordinary shareholders are accordingly advised of two separate opinions concerning the adequacy of Aflease
Gold's working capital, which opinions pertain to two separate periods, namely:

- the approximately one month period following the date of issue of these revised listing particulars, on the
assumption that Sub Nigel board will, during this period, continue to maintain its existing business, assets
and operational expenditure as they have been doing in the recent past and as forecast in the monthly
budgets; and

— the subsequent period of approximately 17 months, under the Aflease Gold board, on the assumption that
Aflease Gold may adopt a more expansive strategy in terms of which it may develop a number of its gold
assets. Given that the new Aflease Gold board has as yet not been appointed and cannot take up office
prior to the fulfilment of all the conditions precedent to the acquisition, the opinion has been secured
from all of the proposed new directors of the Aflease Gold board, including S Swana.

Aflease Gold’s working capital over the approximately one month period following the date of issue of these
revised listing particulars

After considering the effects of the acquisition, the Sub Nigel directors are of the opinion that for the
approximately one month period following the date of issue of these revised listing particulars:

— Sub Nigel and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course of
business;

- the assets of Sub Nigel and its subsidiaries will exceed the liabilities of Sub Nigel and its subsidiaries, as
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies of Sub Nigel and its subsidiaries for
the financial year ended 30 June 2005; and

— Sub Nigel and its subsidiaries’ issued ordinary share capital and reserves and working capital will be
adequate to meet their requirements.

The above opinion:

- has been given after due and careful enquiry and is based upon the knowledge that Aflease Gold currently
has current cash resources of approximately R12.5 million (or at worst R8.3 million) net of:
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7.4

7.5

7.6

- all Aflease Gold's estimated expenses of the acquisition, which are expected to total approximately
R2.4 million; and

~ the payment to Matumi Corporate Advisers (Proprietary) Limited of R1.8 million in terms of
paragraph 18 of the circular;

- while its ongoing operating expenses are approximately RO.5 million per month.

These facts have been confirmed to the transactional sponsor for purposes of Schedule 25 of the Listings
Requirements and accordingly it follows that if, for any reason, the acquisition is not implemented, Sub Nigel
would nevertheless have sufficient cash resources for at least twelve months following the date of issue of
these revised listing particulars.

Aflease Gold working capital over the subsequent period of approximately 11 months

Aflease Gold is essentially a mining development company, which, assuming the acquisition is implemented,
may proceed with developing one or more of its gold projects over the coming years. In order to develop
these gold projects, Aflease Gold would need to raise sufficient capital, by way of debt and/or equity funding
after the acquisition.

Since the Sub Nigel directors, save for S Swana, will resign pursuant to the implementation of the acquisition,
and it is anticipated that the Aflease Gold directors may proceed with the development of a number of
Aflease Gold's gold projects, the Sub Nigel directors are unable to express an opinion on the adequacy of
Aflease Gold's working capital for the entire twelve month period following the date of issue of these revised
listing particulars (as is required in terms of the Listings Requirements). Accordingly, the individuals proposed
by Aflease as the Aflease Gold directors, who are predominantly key executives within Aflease and are thus
aware of Aflease’s future development objectives for Aflease Gold and whose appointment will be ratified by
Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders in general meeting following the acquisition, and S Swana have expressed
the necessary opinion as to the adequacy of Aflease Gold’s working capital.

Under the circumstances described above, Aflease has confirmed that it will procure that the Aflease Gold
board will only pursue the development of any of Aflease Gold's gold projects, subject to Aflease Gold raising
sufficient debt and/or equity capital, during the subsequent period of approximately 11 months following
the date of issue of these revised listings particulars.

After considering the effects of the acquisition, the Aflease Gold board are of the opinion that for the
approximate period of 11 months following the date of issue of these revised listing particulars:

— Aflease Gold and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course
of business;

— the assets of Aflease Gold and its subsidiaries will exceed the liabilities of Aflease Gold and its subsidiaries,
as recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies of Aflease Gold and its
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2005; and

~ Aflease Gold's and its subsidiaries’ issued ordinary share capital and reserves and working capital will be
adequate to meet their requirements.

Material capital commitments, lease commitments and contingent liabilities

There have been no material capital commitments, lease commitments and contingent liabilities as at the

last practicable date.

Loans and borrowings

Aflease Gold has no loans or borrowings as at the last practicable date and, after the acquisition, will have
no loans or borrowings.

The borrowing powers of Aflease Gold exercisable by the Aflease Gold directors are set out in Annexure (i).

The borrowing powers of Aflease Gold have not been exceeded in the last three financial years.

Material inter-company loans

Aflease Gold has no material inter company loans as at the last practicable date and, after the acquisition,
will have no material inter-company loans other than the New Kleinfontein loan.
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Loans receivable

As at the last practicable date, Aflease Gold had no loans receivable and, after the acquisition, will have no
no loans receivable other than the New Kleinfontein loan.

GENERAL

8.1

8.2
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8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

Details of principal immovable property owned or leased

Details of Aflease Gold’s principal immovable properties, owned and leased, are set out in Annexure (jii).

Acquisitions and disposals

Save for as contemplated in the circular to which these revised listing particulars are attached, there have
been no material acquisitions or disposals of businesses, companies and properties or proposed acquisitions
or disposals of businesses, companies and properties by Aflease Gold during the three years preceding the
date of issue of these revised listing particulars.

Information on subsidiaries

The names, places of incorporation, registration numbers and issued ordinary share capital of Aflease Gold'’s
subsidiaries are set out in Annexure {iii).

Material contracts and special arrangements
8.4.1 Aflease Gold has entered into the sale and subscription agreement.

8.4.2 Save as set out in paragraph 8.4.7 above, no material contracts have been entered into by Aflease
Gold, other than in the ordinary course of business, during the two-year period preceding the date of
issue of these revised listing particulars.

8.4.3 Aflease Gold is not subject to any material management or royalty agreements.

8.4.4 Aflease Gold has not paid any material technical or secretarial fees during the three years preceding
the date of issue of these revised listing particulars, which are not in the ordinary course of
business.

Litigation statement

At the last practicable date, there were no legal or arbitration proceedings, including proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which Aflease Gold is aware, which may have, or have during the 12 months
preceding the date of issue of these revised listing particulars, had a material effect on the financial position
of Aflease Gold or its subsidiary.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The Sub Nigel directors, whose names are set out in paragraph 5.3 of these revised listing particulars,
collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify
that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make
any statement false or misleading and that they have made all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts
and that these revised listing particulars contains all the information required by the Listings Requirements
and by South African law.

Code of corporate practice and conduct

The Sub Nigel directors are of the opinion that Aflease Gold substantially complies with the significant
principles incorporated within the King Il Report on Corporate Governance, but have identified areas of
improvement. The Aflease Gold directors and management endorse the objective of conducting the affairs of
Aflease Gold with honesty, integrity, astuteness and prudence. Details of Aflease Gold's practices and conduct
are set out in Annexure (v).
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9. CONSENTS

Each of the investment bank and transaction adviser, transactional sponsor, legal adviser, independent reporting
accountants, independent reporting accountants to New Kleinfontein, independent professional expert and
independent technical advisers have consented in writing to act in the capacities stated and to their names
appearing in the revised listing particulars and have not withdrawn their consent prior to the publication of these
revised listing particulars.

10. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Details of the documents available for inspection are set out in paragraph 33 on page 19 of the circular to which
these revised listing particulars are attached.

For and behalf of the directors of

SUB NIGEL GOLD MINING COMPANY LIMITED
Mr S Swana

Mr A C Reynolds

Mr P St G Glyn

Mr H G Veldsman

Johannesburg
19 December 2005
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Annexure (i)

APPOINTMENT, QUALIFICATION, REMUNERATION AND BORROWING
POWERS OF DIRECTORS

The following is an extract from the Articles of Association of Aflease Gold:

“Directors

33

34.

35.

36.
37.

38.

43.

44,

52.

53.

Subject to the provisions of the Act, unless otherwise determined by a general meeting, the number of directors
shall be not less than four nor more than twenty.

A general meeting of the directors shall have the power, from time to time, to appoint anyone as a director, either
to fill a vacancy in the directors or as an additional director, provided that the total number of directors shall not
at any time exceed the maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles and the appointment of
any director so appointed shall cease at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

The continuing directors may act, notwithstanding any vacancy in their number, but if and for so long as their
number is reduced below the minimum number of directors required to act as such for the time being, the
continuing directors may act only to:

35.1 increase the number of directors to the required minimum,
or

35.2 summon a general meeting for that purpose, provided that if there is no director able or willing to act then
any member may convene a general meeting for that purpose.

Neither a director nor an alternate director shall be obliged to hold any qualification shares.

The remuneration of the directors for their services as such shalt be determined from time to time by a general
meeting.

The directors shall be paid all travelling, subsistence, and other expenses properly incurred by them in the execution
of their duties in or about the business of the company and which are authorised or ratified by the directors.
Borrowing powers

The directors may exercise all the powers of the company to borrow money and to mortgage or encumber its
undertaking and property or any part thereof and to issue debentures or debenture stock (whether secured or
unsecured), whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third party.

For the purpose of the provisions of 43, the borrowing powers of the directors shall be unlimited.

Executive Directors

The directors may appoint from time to time one or more of the directors as executive directors or as managing
directors of the company, on such terms and conditions, as to remuneration and otherwise, (but for a maximum
of five years in the case of any one appointment) as may be determined from time to time by a disinterested
quorum of the directors, provided that the appointment of any executive director or managing director shall,
without prejudice to any claim of any nature whatever which any such director may have against the company,
cease if for any reason he ceases to be a director.

Rotation of directors

The directors shall retire from office in the following manner.

53.1 at each annual general meeting of the company one-third of the directors (excluding the managing director
and any director referred to in 53.3) or, if their number is not three or a multiple thereof, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from office;

53.2 the directors who retire in terms of 53.1 shall be those who have been longest in office since their last
election, provided that:
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533

534

535

536

53.2.1 if more than one of them were elected directors on the same day, those to retire shall be determined
by lot unless those directors agree otherwise between themselves;

53.2.2 if at any annual general meeting any director will have held office for three years since his last
election, he shall also retire at such annual general meeting;

any director appointed as such after the conclusion of the company's preceding annual general meeting shall
retire from office at the conclusion of the annual general meeting held immediately after his appointment;

a retiring director shall be eligible for re-election, and, if re-elected, shall be deemed not to have vacated his
office;

the annual general meeting at which a director retires may elect another person to fill the vacated office, and
if it is not so filled the retiring director shall, if he has offered himself for re-election, be deemed to have been
re-elected unless the annual general meeting expressly resolves not to fill such vacated office or to re-elect
such retiring director;

no person other than the retiring director shall be eligible for election as a director at any annual general
meeting unless the directors recommend otherwise, or unless not less than three nor more than twenty-one
days before the date appointed for the annual general meeting a member who is entitled to attend and vote
at such annual general meeting shall have lodged written notice proposing such person as a director, together
with the consent of that person to be elected as a director.”



Annexure (ii)

SALIENT FEATURES OF THE SUB NIGEL SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The following is a summary of the Sub Nigel Share Incentive Scheme (hereinafter referred to as “the scheme") as
approved by the Aflease Gold ordinary shareholders:

1. NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The scheme is introduced to provide employees of Aflease Gold and/or its subsidiaries with the opportunity to
acquire shares ("scheme shares”) in the capital of the Company either directly or through the grant of options in
respect of Aflease Gold ordinary shares (“options”) as a means of giving such employees an incentive to advance
the interests of the Company for the ultimate benefit of all stakeholders in the Company.

2. OPERATION OF THE SCHEME

The Aflease Gold board may from time to time instruct the trustees of the scheme to offer to an employee selected
by the Aflease Gold board to receive an offer in terms of the scheme ("offeree") the number of scheme shares or
options stipulated by the board. The offer shall remain open for acceptance for a period of at least 14 days.

Upon acceptance of the offer, the offeree will be bound by the offer terms set out below.

3. EXTENT OF THE SCHEME

The aggregate maximum number of scheme shares subject to the scheme shall not exceed 14 246 984 Aflease
Gold ordinary shares (representing 20% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company).

4. PARTICIPANTS

Only persons involved in the business of the Company and/or its subsidiaries, excluding non-executive directors
but including persons who may have accepted offers of employment from the Company and/or its subsidiaries, or
the trustees nomine officio of any family trust or company or close corporation which the board is satisfied has
been established primarily for the benefit directly or indirectly of any such person shall be eligible for participation
in the scheme. ‘

Only employees selected by the Aflease Gold board shall be eligible for participation in the scheme.

No offeree may acquire, in aggregate more than 7% of the company'’s issued share capital in terms of either
scheme<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>